
FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING 

AGENDA 

TUESDAY, JULY 26, 2022 COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
7:00 P.M. FIRCREST CITY HALL, 115 RAMSDELL STREET 

1. CALL TO ORDER
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
3. ROLL CALL
4. PRESIDING OFFICER'S REPORT

A. Proclamation: National Night Out
5. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS
6. DEPARTMENT HEAD COMMENTS
7. COUNCILMEMBER COMMENTS
8. PUBLIC COMMENTS FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (If you would like to make a public comment, you may 

speak at the appropriate time using the raise your hand feature or by pressing *9 on your phone.)

9. COMMITTEE, COMMISSION & LIAISON REPORTS
A. Parks & Recreation
B. Pierce County Regional Council
C. Public Safety, Courts
D. Street, Water, Sewer, and Storm Drain
E. Other Liaison Reports

10. CONSENT CALENDAR
A. Approval of vouchers/payroll checks
B. Setting a public hearing on August 9th at 7:15 p.m. or thereafter to receive comments on the Water 

System Plan’s Water Use Efficiency
C. Approval of Minutes: July 12, 2022,  Regular Meeting 

11. PUBLIC HEARING
12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
13. NEW BUSINESS

A. Resolution: 2023-2028 Transportation Improvement Plan Approval
B. Resolution: Approval of the National Night Out Fireworks Agreement
C. Resolution: Approval of WAWARN Agreement
D. Resolution: Approval of the Flag Policy
E. Ordinance: Approving an ILA with Tacoma Wastewater and Adding a Chapter to FMC Title 20

14. CALL FOR FINAL COMMENTS
15. EXECUTIVE SESSION

A. Executive Session per RCW 42.30.140 (4)(b) To Discuss Labor Negotiations
16. ADJOURNMENT

Join the Zoom Dial-in Information: 1-253-215-8782  Webinar ID: 873 9102 3810 Password: 312044 



 
 
 
 
 
 

  THE CITY OF FIRCREST  
 

PROCLAMATION OF THE FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL 

WHEREAS, the National Association of Town Watch is sponsoring a unique, nationwide 
crime, drug, and violence prevention program on August 2, 2022, called National Night Out; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the 35th annual National Night Out provides a unique opportunity for the City 
of Fircrest to join forces with thousands of other communities across the country in 
promoting cooperative, police-community crime-fighting efforts; and 

 
WHEREAS, Fircrest is unique in its ambiance, the closeness of neighbors, awareness of 
community, cooperation and concern for each other; and 

 
WHEREAS, the citizens of Fircrest play a vital role in assisting the Fircrest Police 
Department through joint crime and drug prevention programs; and 

 
WHEREAS, all citizens of Fircrest must be aware of the importance of crime prevention 
programs and the impact their participation can have on reducing crime, illegal drugs, and 
violence in Fircrest; and 

 
WHEREAS, the police-community partnerships and neighborhood safety and awareness 
and cooperation are important themes of the National Night Out Program. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FIRCREST does hereby proclaim 
August 2, 2022, as; 

 
National Night Out in the City of Fircrest, Washington, and urge all citizens to join 

the Fircrest Police Department and the National Association of Town Watch in 
participating in this important event. 

 
 

Passed this 26th day of July 2022 
 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Brett L. Wittner, Mayor 



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 1
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

27329 07/26/202207/26/20224298 AWC Employee Benefit Trust 742.50 Aug 2022 Retired Medical

521 22 20 01 LEOFF I Medical Premiums 001 000 521 General Fund 742.50 Aug 2022 Retired Medical

27330 07/26/202207/26/20223647 Agrishop, Inc 48.52 Weed Eater String

542 30 31 02 Oper Supplies - Street Reg 101 000 542 City Street Fund 48.52 Weed Eater String

27365 07/20/202207/26/20227547 Aranda, Roberto L 130.00 07-00280.2 - 129 SPRUCE ST

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Fees & Charges 415 000 340 Storm Drain -28.82
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -31.52
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -69.66

27331 07/26/202207/26/20224141 Axon Enterprise 514.80 Pro License Bundle (For BodyCams)

521 22 41 00 Prof. Services/Consulting 001 000 521 General Fund 514.80 Pro License Bundle (For BodyCams)

27328 07/19/202207/26/20221025 Baker, Jeremiah 266.56 01-00200.1 - 301 HARVARD AVE

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Fees & Charges 415 000 340 Storm Drain -67.03
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -72.52
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -127.01

27332 07/26/202207/26/20224280 Builders' Hardware & Supply Co. 402.74 P#64 - Key Cores (Backordered from Factory) - 7 
Doors

594 76 62 03 Buildings & Structures 301 000 594 Park Bond Capita 402.74 P#64 - Key Cores (Backordered from Factory) - 7 
Doors

27333 07/26/202207/26/20224293 CDW Government Inc 212.74 Office 365 License - Salvador Marez

518 81 49 01 Software Licenses 001 000 518 General Fund 212.74 Office 365 License - Salvador Marez

27413 07/26/202207/26/20225805 CenturyLink (Lumen LD) 13.34 Long Distance Access & Usage - July 2022

518 10 42 00 Communication - Non Dept 001 000 518 General Fund 13.34 Long Distance Access & Usage - July 2022

27334 07/26/202207/26/20223994 CenturyLink 1,283.43 Telecommunications - July 2022

518 10 42 00 Communication - Non Dept 001 000 518 General Fund 145.85 DID - July 2022
518 10 42 00 Communication - Non Dept 001 000 518 General Fund 449.18 Circuit Line/PRI - July 2022
518 10 42 00 Communication - Non Dept 001 000 518 General Fund 76.88 City Hall Alarm - July 2022
518 10 42 00 Communication - Non Dept 001 000 518 General Fund 76.88 City Hall Message Line - July 2022
518 10 42 00 Communication - Non Dept 001 000 518 General Fund 76.88 City Hall Prim 911 - July 2022
521 22 42 00 Communication - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 162.14 Police BA/Modem - July 2022
531 50 42 00 Communication - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 19.22 PW Fax - July 2022
531 50 42 00 Communication - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 38.44 PW Alarm/Prim 911 - July 2022



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 2
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

534 10 42 00 Communication - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 19.22 PW Fax - July 2022
534 10 42 00 Communication - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 32.50 PW DSL/Telemetry July 2022
534 10 42 00 Communication - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 38.44 PW Alarm/Prim 911 - July 2022
535 10 42 01 Communication - Sewer 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 19.22 PW Fax - July 2022
535 10 42 01 Communication - Sewer 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 32.50 PW DSL/Telemetry July 2022
535 10 42 01 Communication - Sewer 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 38.44 PW Alarm/Prim 911 - July 2022
542 30 42 00 Communication - Street 101 000 542 City Street Fund 19.20 PW Fax - July 2022
542 30 42 00 Communication - Street 101 000 542 City Street Fund 38.44 PW Alarm/Prim 911 - July 2022

27335 07/26/202207/26/20225774 Cheng, Shelae 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

27336 07/26/202207/26/20224324 City Treasurer-Tacoma 60,493.80 Fire/EMS - Aug 2022

522 20 40 00 Tacoma Contract - Fire 001 000 522 General Fund 14,268.80 Fire - Aug 2022
522 20 41 00 Tacoma Contract - EMS 001 000 522 General Fund 46,225.00 EMS - Aug 2022

27402 07/26/202207/26/20224324 City Treasurer-Tacoma 2,203.97 Semi Annual Billing for Streetlight Attachments 
7/1/22 - 12/31/22

542 63 48 02 Pole Attachment Charge 101 000 542 City Street Fund 2,203.97 Semi Annual Billing for Streetlight Attachments 7/1/22
- 12/31/22

Total City Treasurer-Tacoma 62,697.77

27327 07/19/202207/26/20221937 Coffel, Kenneth 347.39 04-00010.0 - 417 SPRING ST

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Fees & Charges 415 000 340 Storm Drain -86.11
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -93.80
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -167.48

27337 07/26/202207/26/20223565 Comfort Davies & Smith 18.00 Legal Services Ruston - June 2022

515 41 41 03 City Prosecutor 001 000 515 General Fund 18.00 Legal Services Ruston - June 2022

27338 07/26/202207/26/20223573 Copiers Northwest Inc 44.53 Police Usage  - 6/14-7/13/22

521 22 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Polic 001 000 521 General Fund 44.53 Police Usage  - 6/14-7/13/22

27339 07/26/202207/26/20223573 Copiers Northwest Inc 25.82 Printer Usage Police - 5/28/22-6/28/22

521 22 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Polic 001 000 521 General Fund 25.82 Printer Usage Police - 5/28/22-6/28/22

Total Copiers Northwest Inc 70.35



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 3
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

27340 07/26/202207/26/20227227 Correct Equipment Inc 23,243.85 AMI Water Meter Reading System Upgrade

594 34 63 01 Other Improvements Water 426 000 594 Water Improvem 23,243.85 AMI Water Meter Reading System Upgrade

27341 07/26/202207/26/20223589 Databar Inc 2,189.76 June 2022 Statement Production; Town Topics 
Newsletter; Water Quality Report; Postage

518 10 49 01 Town Topics/Citizen Commu 001 000 518 General Fund 63.93 June 2022 Town Topics
531 50 42 01 Postage - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 280.76 June 2022 UB Postage Storm
531 50 49 06 Mailing Service - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 406.54 June 2022 UB Mailing Svc Storm
534 10 42 01 Postage - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 280.76 June 2022 UB Postage Water
534 10 49 04 Printing & Binding - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 63.93 June 2022 Water Quality Brochure
534 10 49 06 Mailing Service - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 406.54 June 2022 UB Mailing Svc Water
535 10 42 02 Postage - Sewer 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 280.76 June 2022 UB Postage Sewer
535 10 49 05 Mailing Service - Sewer 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 406.54 June 2022 UB Mailing Svc Sewer

27342 07/26/202207/26/20223589 Databar Inc 1,270.93 Town Topics W/Insert - June 2022

518 10 49 01 Town Topics/Citizen Commu 001 000 518 General Fund 1,270.93 Town Topics W/Insert - June 2022

27343 07/26/202207/26/20223589 Databar Inc 1,405.13 Annual Water Quality & Water Efficiency Report 
and Brochure

534 10 49 04 Printing & Binding - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 1,405.13 Annual Water Quality & Water Efficiency Report and 
Brochure

Total Databar Inc 4,865.82

27360 07/26/202207/26/2022365 Dept Of Labor & Industries 15.63 2nd Qtr LnI for Chaplain (31 Hrs)

521 22 20 00 Personnel Benefits - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 15.63 2nd Qtr LnI for Chaplain (31 Hrs)

27419 07/26/202207/26/20224310 Dept Of Revenue-EXCISE TAX 21,205.76 June 2022 Excise Taxes

518 20 43 01 Excise Tax Time/Temp Renta 001 000 518 General Fund 3.30 June 2022 Excise Taxes
531 50 44 00 Excise Tax - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 1,468.42 June 2022 Excise Taxes
534 10 44 00 Excise Tax - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 7,483.59 June 2022 Excise Taxes
534 10 44 00 Excise Tax - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 200.61 June 2022 Excise Taxes
534 10 44 00 Excise Tax - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 5.03 June 2022 Excise Taxes
535 10 44 00 Excise Tax - Sewer 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 6,635.57 June 2022 Excise Taxes
535 10 44 00 Excise Tax - Sewer 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 2.84 June 2022 Excise Taxes
542 30 31 02 Oper Supplies - Street Reg 101 000 542 City Street Fund 37.80 June 2022 Excise Taxes
571 20 43 00 Excise Tax - Participation Fee 001 000 571 General Fund 47.12 June 2022 Excise Taxes
571 20 43 00 Excise Tax - Participation Fee 001 000 571 General Fund 17.14 June 2022 Excise Taxes



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 4
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

576 20 43 00 Excise Tax - Pool Revenue 001 000 576 General Fund 5,304.34 June 2022 Excise Taxes

27344 07/26/202207/26/20223611 Drain-Pro Inc 1,883.75 44th St Liftstation Emergency

535 50 48 00 Rep & Maint - Sewer Maint 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 1,883.75 44th St Liftstation Emergency

27325 07/19/202207/26/20221061 Dumont, Derwin 19.76 01-00560.5 - 340 HARVARD AVE

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Fees & Charges 415 000 340 Storm Drain -15.89
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -11.80
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep 7.93

27345 07/26/202207/26/2022366 Employment Security Dept, UI Tax Admin 319.93 Benefit Charge - Q2/2022

517 78 20 00 Unemployment Compensati 001 000 517 General Fund 319.93 Benefit Charge - Q2/2022

27383 07/26/202207/26/20222677 Errigo, Gary 100.00 Rental Security Deposit Refund -  Event Date 
6/16/22

582 10 00 00 Deposit Refunds 001 000 580 General Fund 100.00 Rental Security Deposit Refund -  Event Date 
6/16/22Rental Security Deposit Refund -  Event Date 
6/16/22

27346 07/26/202207/26/20224858 Ewing Irrigation Products Inc 70.19 Irrigation Repair Parts - Parks

576 80 31 02 Oper Supplies - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 70.19 Irrigation Repair Parts - Parks

27347 07/26/202207/26/20227623 Garcia, Madeline R 10.93 Mileage - Pickup Lifeguard Shirts

576 20 49 02 Miscellaneous - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 10.93 Mileage - Pickup Lifeguard Shirts

27351 07/26/202207/26/20221623 GeRoy, Connie 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

27348 07/26/202207/26/20223666 Grainger Inc, Dept 826129041 1,552.36 LED Stop Sign for Intersection of Alameda and 
Claremont

542 30 31 02 Oper Supplies - Street Reg 101 000 542 City Street Fund 1,552.36 LED Stop Sign for Intersection of Alameda and 
Claremont

27349 07/26/202207/26/20223666 Grainger Inc, Dept 826129041 134.13 "Stop Sign Ahead" Traffic Sign

542 30 31 02 Oper Supplies - Street Reg 101 000 542 City Street Fund 134.13 "Stop Sign Ahead" Traffic Sign

Total Grainger Inc, Dept 826129041 1,686.49

27350 07/26/202207/26/20229878 Haren, Michael Paul 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 5
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

27352 07/26/202207/26/20223692 Home Depot Credit Services 11.12 Coil Chain  for High Tank Gate

534 10 35 00 Small Tools & Equip - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 11.12 Coil Chain  for High Tank Gate

27353 07/26/202207/26/20223692 Home Depot Credit Services 7.24 Master Padlock Keys (2) for High Tank Gate

534 10 35 00 Small Tools & Equip - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 7.24 Master Padlock Keys (2) for High Tank Gate

27354 07/26/202207/26/20223692 Home Depot Credit Services 27.02 Spring Links for Fun Days Sign

571 10 31 01 Oper Supplies - Rec 001 000 571 General Fund 27.02 Spring Links for Fun Days Sign

27355 07/26/202207/26/20223692 Home Depot Credit Services 7.69 Super Glue Gel to Fix Table at PSB

518 30 31 02 Oper Sup/PSB Bldg 001 000 518 General Fund 7.69 Super Glue Gel to Fix Table at PSB

27356 07/26/202207/26/20223692 Home Depot Credit Services 10.46 Screws for 44th St Liftstation

535 50 31 01 Oper Supplies - Sewer Maint 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 10.46 Screws for 44th St Liftstation

27357 07/26/202207/26/20223692 Home Depot Credit Services 111.24 Hose, Bucket and Cable Ties for Pool

576 20 31 03 Oper Supplies - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 61.62 Bucket and Cable Ties
576 20 35 00 Small Tools & Equip - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 49.62 100' Hose for Pool

Total Home Depot Credit Services 174.77

27315 07/11/202207/26/202210062 JMCDM LLC 125.51 03-00180.1 - 327 REGENTS BLVD

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Fees & Charges 415 000 340 Storm Drain -27.82
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -30.44
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -67.25

27358 07/26/202207/26/20229817 Kenyon Disend 6,270.00 Attorney Services - June 2022

515 41 41 01 City Attorney 001 000 515 General Fund 6,270.00 Attorney Services - June 2022

27359 07/26/202207/26/20229817 Kenyon Disend 2,128.50 Attorney Services - June 2022 - Land Use

515 41 41 02 Special Legal Counsel 001 000 515 General Fund 2,128.50 Attorney Services - June 2022 - Land Use

Total Kenyon Disend 8,398.50

27324 07/19/202207/26/20228865 Larson, Lindsey 28.21 03-00400.0 - 1221 ARONDALE DR

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Fees & Charges 415 000 340 Storm Drain -17.22



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 6
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -3.25
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -7.74

27361 07/26/202207/26/20229860 Ledger Square Law 3,693.00 City of Ruston - City Prosecutor - June 2022

515 41 41 03 City Prosecutor 001 000 515 General Fund 3,693.00 City of Ruston - City Prosecutor - June 2022

27362 07/26/202207/26/20229860 Ledger Square Law 8,835.00 City of Fircrest - City Prosecutor - June 2022

515 41 41 03 City Prosecutor 001 000 515 General Fund 8,835.00 City of Fircrest - City Prosecutor - June 2022

Total Ledger Square Law 12,528.00

27363 07/26/202207/26/20223791 Lowe's Company-#338954 20.87 5 Gallon Bucket (4)

542 30 31 02 Oper Supplies - Street Reg 101 000 542 City Street Fund 20.87 5 Gallon Bucket (4)

27364 07/26/202207/26/20223791 Lowe's Company-#338954 12.53 Quikrete Concrete

534 50 31 01 Oper Supplies - Water Maint 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 12.53 Quikrete Concrete

Total Lowe's Company-#338954 33.40

27366 07/26/202207/26/2022355 Manley, Kenneth E 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

27388 07/20/202207/26/20229607 McLeod, Elizabeth Van Hoven 159.42 07-00334.7 - 305 BIRCH ST

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Fees & Charges 415 000 340 Storm Drain -35.34
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -38.65
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -85.43

27367 07/26/202207/26/20228885 McPhee, Parisa 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

27368 07/26/202207/26/202210109 Mitchell, Elisabeth 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

27369 07/26/202207/26/20223910 Office Depot 51.60 Pool Office Supplies

576 20 31 00 Office Supplies - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 51.60 Pool Office Supplies

27370 07/26/202207/26/20223910 Office Depot 57.94 Pool Office Supplies

576 20 31 00 Office Supplies - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 57.94 Pool Office Supplies



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 7
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

Total Office Depot 109.54

27371 07/26/202207/26/20223923 Orca Pacific Inc 1,771.00 Pool Chemicals - Hydrochloric Acid (30 Gal); 
Chlorine for Pool (400 Gal)

576 20 31 01 Pool Supplies-Chemicals 001 000 576 General Fund 1,771.00 Pool Chemicals - Hydrochloric Acid (30 Gal); Chlorine 
for Pool (400 Gal)

27372 07/26/202207/26/20223923 Orca Pacific Inc 613.80 Chlorine For All Wells (155 Gal)

534 80 31 03 Oper Supplies - Chlorine 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 613.80 Chlorine For All Wells (155 Gal)

Total Orca Pacific Inc 2,384.80

27373 07/26/202207/26/20224108 Pape Machinery Inc. 13,139.50 Genie ManLift; Platform Laser Light - Sourcewell 
Contract thru Terex/Genie contract #012418TER

594 76 63 03 Other Improvements 301 000 594 Park Bond Capita 13,139.50 Genie ManLift; Platform Laser Light - Sourcewell 
Contract thru Terex/Genie contract #012418TER

27374 07/26/202207/26/20223955 Petrocard Systems Inc 422.78 Gas/Fuel - July 2022

548 65 31 12 Street Gas 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 210.50 Gas/Fuel - July 2022
548 65 31 13 Storm Gas 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 212.28 Gas/Fuel - July 2022

27375 07/26/202207/26/20228464 Power Systems West 2,890.31 Princeton Liftstation Generator Repair

535 50 48 00 Rep & Maint - Sewer Maint 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 2,890.31 Princeton Liftstation Generator Repair

27376 07/26/202207/26/202210161 Print NW 1,763.97 Fircrest Fun Days Banner

573 90 49 01 Community Events 001 000 573 General Fund 1,763.97 Fircrest Fun Days Banner

27405 07/26/202207/26/202210162 Rasputnis, Irina 100.00 Tacomarama Street Band - Fun Days 2022

573 90 49 01 Community Events 001 000 573 General Fund 100.00 Tacomarama Street Band - Fun Days 2022

27377 07/26/202207/26/20224004 Reserve Account 2,000.00 #15690704 Postage Meter Refill - July 2022

518 10 42 01 Postage - Non-Dept 001 000 518 General Fund 2,000.00 #15690704 Postage Meter Refill - July 2022

27378 07/26/202207/26/20228893 Right Systems INC 3,135.00 IT Managed Services - July 2022

518 81 41 01 Prof Svcs - I/S 001 000 518 General Fund 3,135.00 IT Managed Services - July 2022

27379 07/26/202207/26/20225591 Ruzyla, Tonia 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 8
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

27380 07/26/202207/26/20222230 Saalfeld, Jennifer 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

27381 07/26/202207/26/20224035 Sarco Supply 97.43 Janitorial Supplies - Rec Center

571 10 31 04 Janitorial Supplies-Rec Bldg 001 000 571 General Fund 97.43 Janitorial Supplies - Rec Center

27382 07/26/202207/26/20224035 Sarco Supply 252.90 Janitorial Supplies - Pool

576 20 31 02 Janitorial Supplies - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 252.90 Janitorial Supplies - Pool

Total Sarco Supply 350.33

27401 07/26/202207/26/20227151 Seattle, City of 1,900.00 GPS Subscription Renewal June 2022 - May 2023

531 50 49 05 Dues,Member,Sub - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 475.00 GPS Subscription Renewal June 2022 - May 2023
534 10 49 03 Dues,Member,Sub - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 475.00 GPS Subscription Renewal June 2022 - May 2023
535 10 49 02 Dues,Member,Sub - Sewer 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 475.00 GPS Subscription Renewal June 2022 - May 2023
542 30 49 03 Dues,Member,Sub - Street 101 000 542 City Street Fund 475.00 GPS Subscription Renewal June 2022 - May 2023

27415 07/26/202207/26/20227749 Sound Uniform Solutions Inc 60.50 Add Jumpsuit Taser Pocket - K Larson

521 22 49 01 Uniforms/Clothing/Laundry 001 000 521 General Fund 60.50 Add Jumpsuit Taser Pocket - K Larson

27384 07/26/202207/26/20225304 South Sound 911 32,022.50 3rd Qtr 2022 - SouthSound 911 Contract Services

521 22 41 00 Prof. Services/Consulting 001 000 521 General Fund 6,590.00 RMS Services 3rd Qtr 2022
521 22 41 02 Dispatching - Lesa 001 000 521 General Fund 21,685.00 LE Communications Services 3rd Qtr 2022
521 22 41 04 Records 001 000 521 General Fund 2,997.50 Records/Permitting Services 3rd Qtr 2022
521 22 41 05 IT Charges 001 000 521 General Fund 750.00 IT Support Services 3rd Qtr 2022

27385 07/26/202207/26/20224084 Staples Business Advantage 17.36 Central Supplies

518 10 34 01 Central Office Supplies 001 000 518 General Fund 17.36 Central Supplies

27386 07/26/202207/26/20224084 Staples Business Advantage 105.58 Police Office Supplies

521 22 31 00 Office & Oper Sup - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 105.58 Police Office Supplies

Total Staples Business Advantage 122.94

27416 07/26/202207/26/20224087 Star Rentals 542.62 ManLift for Car Show Speakers

573 90 49 01 Community Events 001 000 573 General Fund 542.62 ManLift for Car Show Speakers



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 9
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

27387 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 50.31 Linen Service 6/2/22 Pool

576 20 49 02 Miscellaneous - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 50.31 Linen Service 6/2/22 Pool

27389 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 50.31 Linen Service 6/16/22 Pool

576 20 49 02 Miscellaneous - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 50.31 Linen Service 6/16/22 Pool

27390 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 50.31 Linen Service 6/30/22 Pool

576 20 49 02 Miscellaneous - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 50.31 Linen Service 6/30/22 Pool

27391 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 108.24 Linen Service 6/2/22 Rec Center

518 30 48 01 Rep & Maint - Rec Bldg 001 000 518 General Fund 108.24 Linen Service 6/2/22 Rec Center

27392 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 107.78 Linen Service 6/16/22 Rec Center

518 30 48 01 Rep & Maint - Rec Bldg 001 000 518 General Fund 107.78 Linen Service 6/16/22 Rec Center

27393 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 107.78 Linen Service 6/30/22 Rec Center

518 30 48 01 Rep & Maint - Rec Bldg 001 000 518 General Fund 107.78 Linen Service 6/30/22 Rec Center

27394 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 73.43 Linen Service 6/2/22 City Hall

518 30 48 02 Rep & Maint - City Hall 001 000 518 General Fund 73.43 Linen Service 6/2/22 City Hall

27395 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 73.43 Linen Service 6/16/22 City Hall

518 30 48 02 Rep & Maint - City Hall 001 000 518 General Fund 73.43 Linen Service 6/16/22 City Hall

27396 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 73.43 Linen Service 6/30/22 City Hall

518 30 48 02 Rep & Maint - City Hall 001 000 518 General Fund 73.43 Linen Service 6/30/22 City Hall

27397 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 40.07 Linen Service 6/2/22 Public Works

518 30 48 03 Rep & Maint - PW 001 000 518 General Fund 40.07 Linen Service 6/2/22 Public Works

27398 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 40.07 Linen Service 6/16/22 Public Works

518 30 48 03 Rep & Maint - PW 001 000 518 General Fund 40.07 Linen Service 6/16/22 Public Works

27399 07/26/202207/26/20224110 Superior Linen Service 40.07 Linen Service 6/30/22 Public Works

518 30 48 03 Rep & Maint - PW 001 000 518 General Fund 40.07 Linen Service 6/30/22 Public Works



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 10
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

Total Superior Linen Service 815.23

27417 07/26/202207/26/20224328 Systems for Public Safety Inc 120.62 #66367D 2018 Ford Interceptor LOF, Rotate Tires

548 65 48 08 O & M - Police 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 120.62 #66367D 2018 Ford Interceptor LOF, Rotate Tires

27400 07/26/202207/26/20224120 Tacoma Daily Index 189.07 Public Hearing 6 Yr Trans Plan Ad; RFQ Park 
Athletic Field Ad

542 30 41 01 Advertising - Street 101 000 542 City Street Fund 92.82 Public Hearing 6 Yr Trans Plan Ad
576 80 41 01 Advertising - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 96.25 RFQ Park Athletic Field Ad

27403 07/26/202207/26/20224133 Tacoma Rubber Stamp 162.42 3 Stamps:  Date Stamp; Fircrest Court Stamp; PDF 
Stamp

512 50 35 00 Small Tools & Equip-Court 001 000 512 General Fund 162.42 3 Stamps:  Date Stamp; Fircrest Court Stamp; PDF 
Stamp

27404 07/26/202207/26/20226950 Tacoma Trophy 2,122.45 P#64 - Custom Cast Plaque for Rec Center

594 76 62 03 Buildings & Structures 301 000 594 Park Bond Capita 2,122.45 P#64 - Custom Cast Plaque for Rec Center

27414 07/26/202207/26/20224322 Tacoma, City of - POWER 11,012.22 Power - Various Locations - July 2022

518 30 47 00 Public Utility Services - City H 001 000 518 General Fund 716.53 Time/Temp & City Hall Power 07/2022
531 50 47 02 Public Utility Services/Bldg - 415 000 531 Storm Drain 90.08 PW Power 07/2022
534 10 47 00 Utility Services/Building - Wa 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 90.08 PW Power 07/2022
534 80 47 01 Utility Services/Pumping 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 3,587.90 Well 4, 9/Golf Course Power 07/2022
535 10 47 00 Utility Services/Building - Se 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 90.07 PW Power 07/2022
535 80 47 01 Utility Services/Pumping 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 1,183.81 Pumps/LS Power 07/2022
542 30 47 02 Electricity & Gas/Bldg - Stree 101 000 542 City Street Fund 90.08 PW Power 07/2022
542 30 47 03 Electricity/Traffic Lights 101 000 542 City Street Fund 94.09 Traffic Control 07/2022
542 63 47 00 Electricity/Street Lights 101 000 542 City Street Fund 1,191.83 Street Lights 07/2022
548 65 47 00 Utilities ShopGarage 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 25.76 F&E Garage Power 07/2022
571 10 47 00 Public Utility Services-Rec 001 000 571 General Fund 824.78 Rec Center Power 07/2022
576 20 47 00 Public Utility Services - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 2,339.21 Pool/Bathhouse Power 07/2022
576 80 47 00 Public Utility Services - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 688.00 Parks Power - 07/2022

27418 07/26/202207/26/20224139 Tapco Visa Card 741.81 Visa Purchases through 7/18/22

571 10 31 02 Senior Supplies 001 000 571 General Fund 328.53 Senior Coffee Supplies
573 90 49 01 Community Events 001 000 573 General Fund 38.46 Supplies for Fun Days
573 90 49 01 Community Events 001 000 573 General Fund 12.09 Balloons for Fun Days
573 90 49 01 Community Events 001 000 573 General Fund 298.95 Food for Fun Days



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 11
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

573 90 49 01 Community Events 001 000 573 General Fund 52.79 Food for Fun Days
573 90 49 01 Community Events 001 000 573 General Fund 10.99 Balloons for Fun Days

27326 07/19/202207/26/20222927 Toler, Aaron 39.10 06-02610.1 - 1042 PINEHURST ST

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Fees & Charges 415 000 340 Storm Drain -17.11
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -14.52
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -7.47

27406 07/26/202207/26/20224226 WA St Criminal Justice Training Comm. 100.00 Property & Evidence Officer Training - C Roberts

521 22 49 02 Reg & Tuition - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 100.00 Property & Evidence Officer Training - C Roberts

27303 07/26/202207/26/202210040 WECI 3,210.78 Drake St L/S Pump Repair - Parts, Labor and Travel

535 50 48 00 Rep & Maint - Sewer Maint 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 3,210.78 Drake St L/S Pump Repair - Parts, Labor and Travel

27304 07/26/202207/26/202210040 WECI 1,017.50 Drake St L/S Pump Repair - Labor and Travel

535 50 48 00 Rep & Maint - Sewer Maint 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 1,017.50 Drake St L/S Pump Repair - Labor and Travel

27305 07/26/202207/26/202210040 WECI -1,384.90 Credit for Overpayment 6/28/22 (Revised Invoice 
#95412 - charged for same item on both invoices, 
issued credit)

535 50 48 00 Rep & Maint - Sewer Maint 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep -1,384.90 Credit for Overpayment 6/28/22 (Revised Invoice 
#95412 - charged for same item on both invoices, 
issued credit)

Total WECI 2,843.38

27407 07/26/202207/26/20224246 Whistle Workwear 387.12 Work Boots and Pants - S Marez

531 50 20 01 Contract Benefits - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 96.78 Work Boots and Pants - S Marez
534 10 20 01 Contract Benefits - Wtr Adm 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 96.78 Work Boots and Pants - S Marez
535 10 20 01 Contract Benefits - Swr Adm 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 96.78 Work Boots and Pants - S Marez
542 30 20 01 Contract Benefits - Street Re 101 000 542 City Street Fund 96.78 Work Boots and Pants - S Marez

27408 07/26/202207/26/20224256 Winning Seasons 617.10 Lifeguard Shirts (66)

576 20 31 03 Oper Supplies - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 617.10 Lifeguard Shirts (66)

27409 07/26/202207/26/20225286 Winsupply 212.68 Roundup, Yellow Caution Tape, 3 Station Module

576 80 31 02 Oper Supplies - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 212.68 Roundup, Yellow Caution Tape, 3 Station Module

27410 07/26/202207/26/20229558 Zakoian, Zachary 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 16:55:09 Date: 07/21/2022

As Of: 07/26/2022 Page: 12
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 67.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

27411 07/26/202207/26/202210035 Zoom Video Communications 39.60 Zoom Monthly Fees 5/31 - 6/29/22

511 60 35 00 Small Tools & Equip - Legisl 001 000 511 General Fund 39.60 Zoom Monthly Fees 5/31 - 6/29/22

27412 07/26/202207/26/202210035 Zoom Video Communications 1,302.40 Monthly Phone Rental 7/1/22 - 7/30/22

518 10 42 00 Communication - Non Dept 001 000 518 General Fund 1,302.40 Monthly Phone Rental 7/1/22 - 7/30/22

Total Zoom Video Communications 1,342.00

Report Total: 223,871.05
Fund

001 General Fund 142,586.64
101 City Street Fund 6,095.89
301 Park Bond Capital Fund 15,664.69
415 Storm Drain 3,170.58
425 Water Fund (department) 15,126.70
426 Water Improvement Fund 23,243.85
430 Sewer Fund (department) 17,413.54
501 Equipment Rental Fund 569.16

This report has been reviewed by:
                                                     _________________________________         ___________________
REMARKS:                                                    Signature  & Title                                               Date                              



JULY 12, 2022           FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – REGULAR 1 
 

CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, AND ROLL CALL  
Mayor Brett L. Wittner called the regular meeting to order at 7:00 P.M. and led the Pledge of 
Allegiance. Councilmembers David M. Viafore, Shannon Reynolds, Joe Barrentine, Hunter T. 
George, Nikki Bufford, and Jim Andrews were present. City Manager Pingel was absent and 
excused.  
 
PRESIDING OFFICER’S REPORT 
A. Pierce Transit BRT Line Update & Discussion 

Pierce Transit Principal Planner Darin Stavish and Planner Amber Stanley provided an update 
on the Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) System Expansion Study that affects the City. Stavish presented 
the four candidate corridors, emphasized serving priority populations, and highlighted the study 
project objectives. Discussions included the equity analysis results, revenue sourcing, and traffic 
impacts.  

 
B. Bears of Fircrest 

Administrative Services Director Westman reported that Leanne Rolling was unable to attend 
the Council meeting.  

 
C. Selection of the Investment Committee 

Mayor Wittner briefed the Council on the Investment Committee and requested the Council 
appoint Councilmember Viafore and Councilmember Reynolds to fulfill the vacancies on the 
committee. George MOVED to confirm the appointment of Councilmember David M. 
Viafore and Councilmember Shannon Reynolds to the City of Fircrest Investment 
Committee; seconded by Barrentine. Wittner invited councilmember comment. Barrentine 
thanked the members of the committee. Wittner invited public comment; none were provided.  
The Motion Carried (7-0). 
 
Mayor Wittner reported that the Council will be forming the Centennial Committee and the 
Christmas Tree Committee at a later date.  
  

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS 
There were none. 
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD COMMENTS    
· Parks & Recreation Director Grover reported that Fircrest Fun Days is scheduled for July 15th 

and 16th, 2022. Grover reported that the Alice Peers Park Readerboard is operational, and the 
lantern is being repaired. Bufford commented on the status of the garbage bins. Grover stated 
that they are on order. Viafore commented on the finalization of the Community Center. Grover 
stated that Kassel should be done by September 1st, 2022. George commented on the Community 
Center kitchen electrical supply. Grover stated that he is in contact with the contractor for other 
electrical options.  

· Administrative Services Director Westman reported that she is in contact with an American Sign 
Language interpreter to provide services to meeting attendees who are hard of hearing and deaf. 
Westman reported that the contract will be at an upcoming meeting. Discussions included 
facilitating all persons who are disabled, logistics, and scheduling. Nancy Atwood, 1204 
Farallone Ave, expressed her support of contracting with an intrepter.  



JULY 12, 2022           FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – REGULAR 2 
 

· Finance Director Corcoran provided an update on the phone systems and reported that the City 
is waiting for the phone lines to be released. Corcoran also reported that Accountant II, Lindsay 
Chambers received an invitation to the Woman’s Leadership Academy and will graduate in 
March 2023. 
 

COUNCILMEMBER COMMENTS 
· Reynolds reported that 40 children received a COVID vaccine. A return vaccine clinic is 

scheduled for July 30th, 2022.  
 
Councilmember Reynolds left the meeting at 8:15 P.M. and did not return. 
 
· Andrews; no comment.  
· Bufford stated that Fircrest Fun Days needs volunteers. Bufford asked about the City sewer 

extensions. Bemis reported that the City is compiling information on sewer line extensions.  
· George thanked the City for a great car show and thanked the Kiwanis Club. George 

congratulated Lindsay Chambers. Lastly, George asked about the Claremont traffic migration. 
Bemis stated that the street road condition contributes to not feeling the rumble strips and that 
the stop sign was only held by double-sided tape.  

· Barrentine; no comment 
· Viafore stated that the City should look into purchasing the griddle for the Community Center 

stove. Viafore congratulated Public Works Utility Service Person II, Roger Schlosstein, for his 
20 years of service to the City of Fircrest.  

· Wittner reported that the Fircrest Police Department responded quickly to the broken stop sign. 
Wittner thanked the Fircrest Police and the Public Works Department.  
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
Wittner invited public comment. The following individuals provided public comment: 
 

· Tom Chontofalsky, 1306 Farallone Ave, invited Councilmembers and staff to a kickball 
game scheduled at Fircrest Park on July 23rd, 2022 at 3 P.M.  

· Vince Navarre, 1205 Del Monte Ave, thanked staff and expressed concern about various 
topics.  

 
COMMITTEE, COMMISSION, AND LIAISON REPORTS 
A. Administration 

Bufford reported that the City staff needs Councilmember's feedback on the flag policy. Bufford 
reported that City Manager Pingel provided an update on the interlocal wastewater treatment 
agreement to Council and is seeking feedback. Lastly, Bufford reminded the Council that they 
need to cancel the study session and set a new date.   
 

B. Environmental, Planning, and Building 
Andrews reported that the planning commission has scheduled two special meetings on July 19th 
and August 3rd, 2022 at 6 P.M. to study the application for the Mildred property. City staff 
continues to look at RFQs for building officials and plans to present a contract to the Council on 
the August 9th, 2022 regular meeting. 
 



JULY 12, 2022           FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – REGULAR 3 
 

C. Finance, IT, Facilities 
No report was provided.  

D. Other Liaison Reports 
There were none. 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
Wittner requested the City Clerk read the Consent Calendar: approval of Voucher No. 218200 
through Voucher Check No. 218275 in the amount of $118,942.14; approval of Payroll Check No. 
14171 through Payroll Check No. 14173 in the amount of $8,670.65; approval of Payroll Check No. 
14174 through Payroll Check No. 14178 in the amount of $64,019.60; approval of Payroll electronic 
funds transfer in the amount of $146,295.76; approval of June 21, 2022, Study Session Meeting 
minutes; and approval of June 28, 2022, Regular Meeting minutes; George MOVED to approve 
the Consent Calendar as read; seconded by Bufford. The Motion Carried (6-0). 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
A. To receive comments on the 6-Year Transportation Improvement Plan 
At 8:35 P.M., Wittner opened the public hearing. Public Works Director Bemis briefed the 
Council on the 6-Year Transportation Improvement Plan, stating that it is a planning document 
that is used to identify projects and funding.  
 
Councilmember Andrews left the meeting at 8:36 P.M. and returned at 8:37 P.M. 
 
Councilmember Bufford left the meeting at 8:37 P.M. and returned at 8:39 P.M.  
 
Wittner invited councilmember comments. George thanked the staff for sidewalk projects on the 
TIP. Viafore asked if the 2022 projects were completed. Bemis stated that the 2023 – 2028 TIP is 
an extension and carryover of 2022 projects. Viafore requested to add curb/gutter and overlay to 
the Buena Vista Ave: 1300 block project. Viafore requested to have City staff assess the north end 
lane of Claremont street. Bufford commented on TIP public outreach and engagement. Bemis 
stated that grants and City pavement patching needs assign City priorities. Wittner invited public 
testimony; no testimony was provided. At 8:47 P.M., Wittner closed the public hearing. 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
A. Resolution No. 1772: IAA with Department of Enterprises Energy Program 
Public Works Director Bemis briefed the Council on the proposed interagency agreement with the 
Department of Enterprise Services to assist in pursuing an energy efficiency grant through the 
Department of Commerce. George MOVED to adopt Resolution No. 1772, authorizing the 
City Manager to execute an Interagency Agreement with the Department of Enterprise 
Services for an Energy Program Grant for the updating of HVAC Systems in the City’s 
Facilities; seconded by Bufford. Wittner invited councilmember comments. There was a 
discussion on solely seeking HVAC services. Wittner invited public comment; none were provided. 
The Motion Carried (6-0).  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
A. Resolution No. 1773: Approval of Reimbursement Agreements with the Administrative 

Office of the Courts for Fircrest Court 
Court Administrator Olivarez briefed the Council on the proposed interlocal agreement with the State 



JULY 12, 2022           FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – REGULAR 4 
 

of Washington Administrative Office of the Courts for reimbursement purposes. Viafore MOVED 
to adopt Resolution No. 1773, authorizing the City Manager to execute the Interlocal 
Agreement IAA23729 with the State of Washington Administrative Office of the Courts 
reimbursing the City for costs incurred due to the Blake decision; seconded by Bufford. 
Wittner invited councilmember comments; none were provided. Wittner invited public comment; 
none were provided. The Motion Carried (6-0).  
  
B. Resolution No. 1774: Approval of Engineering Consultant Agreement for 44th St W and 

67th Ave W Lift Station Upgrade 
Public Works Director Bemis briefed the Council on the proposed Resolution and reported that 
44th St W and 67th Ave W lift station is the last of the City’s seven lift stations to be upgraded. 
Bufford MOVED to adopt Resolution No. 1774, authorizing the City Manager to execute of 
professional services agreement with Casey Civil PLLC for final design and bid call services 
for the 44th St W and 67th Ave W Lift Station Upgrade Project in the amount of 
$116,676.00; seconded by Viafore. Wittner invited councilmember comments. Viafore asked 
about project management. Bemis stated that City Staff is capable of taking on daily reporting and 
inspections and can be done in-house. Viafore asked about the lift station’s pump insurance 
coverage. Westman stated that she would look into the City’s insurance policy. Finance Director 
Corcoran commented that the project is over budget and highlighted that the project engineering 
line was budgeted at $90,000. Wittner invited public comment; none were provided. The Motion 
Carried (6-0).  

 
C. Resolution No. 1775: Summit Avenue Water Main Bid Award 
Public Works Director Bemis provided an overview of the proposed Resolution and reported that 
the Summit Water Main Replacement project consists of increasing an undersized main to meet 
fire flow requirements and expedite the completion of a project identified in the City’s Water 
System Plan (WSP). Bufford MOVED to adopt Resolution No. 1775, awarding the 
construction contract for the Summit Water Main Replacement Project to Pape & Sons 
Construction Inc. in the amount of $722,062 including tax, and authorizing the City 
Manager to prepare and execute the required documents and to give the “notice to proceed” 
to commence construction of the project; seconded by George. Wittner invited councilmember 
comments. Viafore gave kudos for receiving a project under bid. Finance Director Corcoran 
reported that the project was budgeted for $400,000 and a budget adjustment will be needed. The 
revenue source is ARPA funds. Wittner invited public comment; none were provided. The 
Motion Carried (6-0).  
 
Wittner reported that the July 18th, 2022 Study Session needs to be canceled and rescheduled. 
George MOVED to cancel the July 18th, 2022 Study Session; seconded by Bufford. Wittner 
invited councilmember comments; none were provided. Wittner invited public comment; none were 
provided. The Motion Carried (6-0).  
 
Wittner reported potential dates to host a special meeting to serve as the Council strategic goal 
workshop. There was a consensus to set a special meeting on August 1st, 2022 at 6 P.M. Viafore 
MOVED to set a special meeting for the Fircrest City Council for the purpose of a study 
session on August 1st, 2022 at 6 P.M.; seconded by Bufford. Wittner invited councilmember 
comments. Andrews requested to be excused. Wittner stated that Andrews will be excused. Wittner 
invited public comment; none were provided. The Motion Carried (6-0).  



JULY 12, 2022           FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – REGULAR 5 
 

 
 
 

CALL FOR FINAL COMMENTS 
 
Viafore requested the crack seal report and commented on the Drake Street speed limit stencils. 
Viafore requested the pool report and P1’s weekly. Viafore thanked City Attorney Rob Zimmerman.  
 
Police Chief Cheesman reported that the police will be taking part in a basketball with Special 
Olympics Athletes at Sumner High School on July 13, 2022. Chief Cheesman gave a brief police 
report. 

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
There was none scheduled.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
George MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 9:35 P.M., seconded by Bufford. The Motion 
Carried (6-0). 
 
 
 

 ________________________________ 
 Brett L. Wittner, Mayor 

 
 
 

 ________________________________ 
                                                 Jayne Westman, City Clerk 



FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 
  DATE: 7/26/2022 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
ITEM: 13A 

Resolution approving the City of Fircrest’s Six-year Transportation 
Improvement Program Plan 

 

FROM: Tyler Bemis, Public Works Director 
 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, approving the City 
of Fircrest’s Six-year Transportation Improvement Program for the period of 2023-2028 
 

PROPOSAL: The Council is being asked to approve the updated Six-year TIP. The need to 
leverage local dollars through grant applications is important to the City. This Program is not only 
intended to identify projects for funding, but to establish City Council approval to submit grant 
applications on those projects within the Program.  It should be noted that for a project to obtain 
state or federal funding, it must be included in the City’s Six-year Transportation Improvement 
Program. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: None, however, adoption of the Program results in the projects identified 
being grant-eligible. 
 
ADVANTAGE: The adoption of a Six-year Transportation Improvement Program will ensure 
compliance with the requirements relative to an annual, public participatory transportation 
improvement planning process as dictated by State statute.  This Plan will become a guidance 
document throughout the budgetary planning process and will also serve as the adopted priority 
array of projects to be completed in the future.  This plan will be referenced by other jurisdictions 
and will be included in regional and State planning documents as well.  This Plan will also provide 
staff with a guidance document to apply for grant opportunities and/or loans in the future as 
opportunities arise.  This Plan can be modified at any time during the year as conditions and 
priorities change. 
 
DISADVANTAGES: None. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: None. 
 
HISTORY: Each year, all cities, towns, and other jurisdictions are required to review and update 
their respective transportation improvements plans.  This requirement provides the framework for 
jurisdictional coordination of planning documents as well as the ability to compile individual 
plans into regional plans for the purpose of determining State, regional and local transportation 
needs.  Prior to the adoption of a new TIP, jurisdictions are required to conduct a public hearing 
on this subject in an effort to include the input of the public at large.  This agenda bill is intended 
to assist in the public hearing requirement of the adoption process. 
 
Chapter 35.77.010 of the Revised Code of Washington (RCW) provides that each city shall 
annually update its Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Program and file a copy of the 
adopted Program with the Secretary of the Washington State Department of Transportation 
(WSDOT) each year.  The Program is necessary to allow cities and counties to obtain State and 



Federal funding.  For a project to obtain funding from the State, it must appear in the agency’s 
current Program.  Because the State also disperses federal highway funds, this requirement applies 
to federally funded projects as well. 
 
RCW 35.77.010 also requires each city to specifically set forth those projects and programs of 
regional significance for inclusion in the transportation improvement program for that region.  
There are no projects included in this TIP which are considered regionally significant. 
 
The TIP is based upon anticipated revenues versus desirable projects.  There are always more 
projects than available revenues.  Therefore, a primary objective of the TIP is to integrate the two 
to produce a comprehensive, realistic program for the orderly development and maintenance of 
our street system.  
 
Several important points must be considered during the review of the proposed Program.  The 
early years of the TIP are fairly definite in that it can be assumed that those projects will be 
constructed as scheduled, pending anticipated funding received.  Projects in the later years are 
more flexible and may be accelerated, delayed, or canceled as funding and conditions change. 
 
It is also important to note that the adoption of the TIP does not irreversibly commit the City of 
Fircrest to construct the projects.  A project may be canceled at any time during study or design.  
The usual reasons for canceling a project are that it is environmentally unacceptable or contrary 
to the best interests of the community.  The TIP may at any time be revised by a majority vote of 
the City Council, but only after a public hearing. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: Resolution 

2022 Six-year TIP Final 
 



Page 1 of 2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31

CITY OF FIRCREST 
RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, ADOPTING THE 2023-2028 SIX-
YEAR COMPREHENSIVE TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest, pursuant to RCW 35.77.010 is required to annually        
update its Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvements Program and file a 
copy of the adopted plan with the State Secretary of Transportation; and 

WHEREAS, on July 10th, 2022 a public hearing was held on the proposed Program. 
No comments on the proposed Program were received at the public hearing. The City 
Council has considered the proposed priority array and determined the priorities of 
projects identified in the Program appear to be in the best interest of the City and its 
residents; Now, Therefore,      

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FIRCREST: 

Section 1.  The 2023-2028 Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvements 
Program dated July 26th, 2022 is hereby adopted as the Six-Year Comprehensive 
Transportation Improvement Program for the City of Fircrest from and after January 1, 
2023 and until amended by subsequent action of the City Council.   

Section 2.  The City Clerk or designee is hereby authorized and directed to forward 
copies of the 2023-2028 Comprehensive Transportation Improvement Program to the 
appropriate State, regional and local agencies and to file the same in the official City 
records.   

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 26th day of July 2022.  

APPROVED: 

_____________________________
Brett L. Wittner, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

      _____________________________ 
Jayne Westman, City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_____________________________ 
Hillary J. Evans, City Attorney 



CITY OF FIRCREST 
2023-2028 

Transportation Improvement Program 
FINAL 



City of Fircrest | 2023-2028 Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvement Program 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

Fircrest City Council 
Brett L. Wittner, Mayor 
Joe Barrentine, Mayor Pro Tempore 
David M. Viafore 
Shannon Reynolds 
Hunter T. George 
Nikki Bufford
Jim Andrews

City Manager 
Scott Pingel 

Public Works 
Tyler Bemis, Director 
Jeff Davis, Utility Foreman 
Jim Marzano, Utility Service Person II 
Russ Parsons, Utility Service Person II 
Tim Piercy, Utility Service Person II 
Salvador Marez, Utility Service Person II 
Vicky Walston, Utility Billing Clerk 
Holly Veliz, Utility Billing Assistant 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Preface .......................................................................................................................... 1 

Non-Discrimination ....................................................................................................... 1 

Grant Applications and Leveraging Local Dollars .......................................................... 1 

About The City Of Fircrest ............................................................................................. 2 

Funding Sources ............................................................................................................ 3 

Motor Vehicle Fuel Tax Funds ................................................................................... 3 

Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act (Fast Act) ............................................ 3 

Transportation Improvement Board ......................................................................... 3 

City Funding Sources ................................................................................................. 4 

Real Estate Excise Taxes ............................................................................................ 4 

Washington State Department of Transportation .................................................... 4 

Surface Water Management Program ...................................................................... 4 

Consistency With Land Use Management Plan ............................................................. 4 

Table 1: 2023-2028 Transportation Facility Improvements .......................................... 5 

Figure 1: 2023-2028 Projects Map ................................................................................ 6 



City of Fircrest | 2023-2028 Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvement Program 

July 26, 2022 | Page 1 of 6 

PREFACE 
Chapters 35.77.010 of the Revised Code of Washington (RCW) provide that each city shall annually update its Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Program 
and, after a public hearing thereon, file a copy of the adopted Program with the Secretary of the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) by July 
1 of each year. The Program is necessary to allow cities and counties to obtain State and Federal funding. For a project to obtain funding from the State, it must 
appear in the agency’s current Program. Because the state also disperses federal highway funds, this requirement applies to federally funded projects as well. 

RCW 35.77.010 also requires each city to specifically set forth those projects and programs of regional significance for inclusion in the transportation improvement 
plan for that region. There are no projects included in this Program that are considered regionally significant. 

The Program is based upon anticipated revenues versus desirable projects. There are always more projects than available revenues. Therefore, a primary objective 
of the Program is to integrate the two to produce a comprehensive, realistic program for the orderly development and maintenance of our street system. 

Several important points must be considered during the review of the proposed Program. The early years of the Program are fairly definite; that is, it can be 
assumed that those projects will be constructed as scheduled. Projects in the later years are more flexible and may be accelerated, delayed, or canceled as funding 
and conditions change. 

It is also important to note that the adoption of the Program does not irreversibly commit the City of Fircrest to construct the projects. A project may be canceled 
at any time during study or design. The usual reasons for canceling a project are that it is environmentally unacceptable or contrary to the best interests of the 
community. The Program may be revised at any time by a majority vote of the City Council, but only after a public hearing. 

NON-DISCRIMINATION 
The City of Fircrest assures that no person shall, on the ground of race, color, national origin, handicap, sex, age, or income status as provided by Title VI of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1964 and subsequent authorities, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subject to discrimination under 
any program or activity. 

GRANT APPLICATIONS AND LEVERAGING LOCAL DOLLARS 
The need to leverage local dollars through grant applications is very important to the City, especially considering the decrease in funding available for 
transportation-related capital improvements. The intent of this program is not only to list and program projects for funding but to establish City Council approval 
to submit grant applications on those projects contained in the Program. 



City of Fircrest | 2023-2028 Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvement Program 

July 26, 2022 | Page 2 of 6 

ABOUT THE CITY OF FIRCREST 
The City of Fircrest is a non-charter code city, operating under a Council-Manager 
form of government, with an annual General Fund budget of $7.9 million and a total 
budget of over $26 million. Fircrest is a full-service city, providing a wide range of 
services, including police and fire protection, animal control, emergency medical aid, 
building safety regulation and inspection, street lighting, land use planning, and 
zoning, housing and community development, full range of recreational and cultural 
programs, traffic safety maintenance and improvement, and maintenance and 
improvement of streets, water, sewer, and storm. 

Fircrest is a vibrant community that offers the perks of small suburb town life with 
major urban cities nearby. Incorporated as a town in 1925 and as a city in 1990, 
Fircrest is centrally located just 32 miles south of the City of Seattle and 31 miles 
north of the state capital. Covering 1.58 square miles, Fircrest started as the first 
master-planned community in the state of Washington. With over 30 chain saw 
sculptures, six beautiful parks, an urban forest of Fir trees, and friendly, active 
neighborhoods, Fircrest has earned its title as “The Jewel of Pierce County” and is 
known as a residential oasis nestled between the cities of Tacoma and University 
Place. The City is home to the Fircrest Golf Club, a 160-acre, an 18-hole golf course 
that has stood the test of time for more than 94 years and fits perfectly among the 
premier private golf clubs in the Puget Sound region. 

Home to 6,835 residents, Fircrest has a strong local history and residents who are 
active and passionate in the community. The City operates and maintains 27.1 acres 
of land providing a range of active and passive recreational opportunities and 
community events. The City continues to work hard to keep its reputation as a quiet, 
residential community with attractive, livable neighborhoods and fine recreational 
facilities and setting the standard for community-oriented policing. Fircrest is 
planning for additional growth in the future that will continue to shape the character 
of the community. As growth occurs, there are characteristics that residents would 
like to retain, such as Fircrest’s green character; a safe, friendly, and sustainable 
community; and some physical remnants of the past as reminders of its early history. 



City of Fircrest | 2023-2028 Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvement Program 

July 26, 2022 | Page 3 of 6 

FUNDING SOURCES 

Motor Vehicle Fuel Tax Funds 
By law, each city receives a proportionate share of the total state motor vehicle fuel tax. Money received is a monthly allocation based on population. 
In the City’s 2022 budget it is anticipated that revenue received from the state gas tax for the Street Fund will be $108,000. This is the same that is 
anticipated to be received in 2023 and therefore should be relatively accurate. 

Transportation Improvement Board 
The Washington State Transportation Improvement Board (TIB) funds high-priority transportation projects in communities throughout the state to enhance 
the movement of people, goods, and services. TIB is an independent state agency, created by the Legislature, which distributes and manages street construction 
and maintenance grants to 320 cities and urban counties throughout Washington State. Funding for TIB's grant programs comes from revenue generated by 
three cents of the statewide gas tax. 

The TIB has several statewide competitive programs which use criteria developed by the TIB for the prioritization of projects. The three TIB programs in which the 
City of Fircrest can compete are as follows: 

• Urban Corridor Program (UCP)
This program is for transportation projects with a primary emphasis on public/private cooperation and economic development.

• Urban Arterial Program (UAP)
This program is for arterial street construction with a primary emphasis on safety and mobility. This program is being utilized to apply for funding to Grind
and Overlay southbound So Orchard St from Regents to the City line.

• Active Transportation Program (ATP)
This program is for the improvement of pedestrian safety, and to address pedestrian system continuity and connectivity. The City has applied for grants
from both the SRTS Program and PBP for funding of sidewalk installations on westbound 44th St W from Rainier Dr to 67th Ave W and southbound
Alameda Ave from Emerson to Fircrest Greens across from Cypress Point Ave.



City of Fircrest | 2023-2028 Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvement Program 

July 26, 2022 | Page 4 of 6 

City Funding Sources 
Recent funds from the sale of the City’s power utility have been used to fund capital projects in the City’s Street Fund. There are not sufficient funds in this source 
to fully fund the projects included in the Six-Year Program, however, the City will consistently apply for grant funding in order to use as little of this fund as possible 
to maintain a healthy reserve to get through tough economic times. 

Real Estate Excise Taxes 
The City can also use the Real Estate Excise Tax it receives for funding, in whole or in part, any capital project associated with the work identified in this plan. 

Washington State Department of Transportation 
Safe Routes to School / Pedestrian Bicyclist Program
• Traffic Safety Near Schools Program – This program is for the improvement of safety for children traveling to and from school.

Surface Water Management Program 
The City’s Stormwater Management Program (SWMP) pays for all drainage facilities constructed in conjunction with street improvements. The revenue from SWM 
is directly related to the number of capital improvement projects constructed. Because there will be little impact to storm drainage facilities resulting from the 
projects proposed in the Six-Year Transportation Improvement Program, only a minor amount of funding is expected from this source. 

CONSISTENCY WITH LAND USE MANAGEMENT PLAN 
The State’s Growth Management Act (GMA) requires local governments to develop and adopt comprehensive plans covering land use, housing, capital facilities, 
utilities, and transportation. These comprehensive plans must balance the demands of growth with the provision of public facilities and services and transportation 
facilities and services. The City of Fircrest was required to develop and adopt a comprehensive plan that is in conformance with the requirements of the GMA. 

The City of Fircrest has, as part of its Comprehensive Plan, Transportation Goals and Policies. The projects in the Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation 
Improvement Program are intended to conform to the goals and policies within the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 



City of Fircrest | 2023-2028 Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvement Program

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 TOTAL

1 Major Pavement Patching: Citywide 100,000$      100,000$      100,000$      100,000$      100,000$      100,000$      600,000.00$      

2 Regents Blvd: Arondale Dr to 67th Ave 82,000$        760,000$      842,000.00$      

3 1/2 Street Orchard St/Regents Blvd to end of Right-of Way 250,000$      250,000.00$      

4 1/2 Street Orchard St/Stanford to Regents Blvd 180,000$      180,000.00$      

5 Buena Vista Ave: 1300 block 75,000$        75,000.00$        

Berkeley Ave: 1300 block
(curb/gutter and overlay)

Alameda Ave: Emerson St to Cypress Point Ave 
(curb/gutter, sidewalk - west side)
44th St: 67th Ave to 60th Ave
(curb/gutter, sidewalk - north side)
Alameda Ave: Emerson St to Rosewood Ln
(curb/gutter, sidewalk - east side)
Emerson St: Woodside Dr to 67th St
(sidewalks, retaining walls)

Total Capital Appropriations 1,619,000$  1,260,000$  350,000$      280,000$      250,000$      600,000$      3,759,000.00$   

July 26, 2022| Page 5 of 6

75,000.00$        75,000$        6

453,000.00$      

500,000.00$      

1,129,000.00$   

255,000.00$      

500,000$      

TABLE 1: 2023-2028 TRANSPORTATION FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS

City of Fircrest Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvement Program (2023 to 2028)

Grind and Overlays

Roadway Improvements

Pedestrian, Non-Motorized / Active Transportation Program

Capital Appropriations

Transportation Facility Improvements

400,000$      53,000$        10

9

8

7

1,129,000$   

255,000$      



City of Fircrest | 2023-2028 Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvement Program 

July 26, 2022 | Page 6 of 6 

2023-2028 
Transportation Facility 

Improvements 
Grind and Overlays 
Roadway Improvements 
Pedestrian, Non-Motorized 

*Citywide major pavement patching 
and LED streetlight replacement 

projects not mapped. 

Map is for graphical and information purposes 
only. It does not represent a legal survey. 

Produced by the City of Fircrest, July 2021. 

FIGURE 1: 2023-2028 PROJECTS MAP 
As listed in Table 1, Map 1 illustrates the transportation facility improvements for 
the 2023-2028 Six-Year Transportation Improvement Program planned for the City 
of Fircrest. Below is a brief description of the work for these projects. 

Grind and Overlay 
A grind and overlay project consists of grinding the existing pavement down a few 
inches and overlaying the roadway with a new wearing surface. This is a way to 
preserve the existing roadway and provide a new wearing surface and seal the 
roadbed. 

Roadway Improvements 
This is a reconstruction of the existing roadway. The roadbed is removed and 
replaced with new material and a new pavement section. This work also includes 
replacing or adding curb and gutters and sidewalks along both sides of the 
roadway or where they do not exist.   

Pedestrian, Non-Motorized 
This improvement is typically the construction of a new curb and gutter and 
sidewalk improvement. This will add new sidewalks where there presently is no 
sidewalk and complete gaps in sidewalks. This also potentially provides for bike 
lanes along designated routes. 



 
FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 

 
COUNCIL MEETING DATE:         July 26, 2022 
 
SUBJECT:  13B                                Resolution To Execute An Agreement For A 

Communications Maintenance Program                                       
 
FROM:  John Cheesman, Police Chief 
 
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________                             
 

RECOMMENDED MOTION:  I move to adopt Resolution No.___, authorizing 
the City Manager to execute an agreement with Alpha Pyrotechnics to provide a 
fireworks display on August 2, 2022. 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
PROPOSAL:  Council is being asked to adopt a resolution allowing the City Manager to 
execute an agreement with Alpha Pyrotechnics to provide a firework display for the 
City’s August 2, 2022, National Night Out event.  We have received donations to cover 
the cost of having Alpha Pyrotechnics put on a fireworks show. We have had a lot of 
support for NNO, and the fireworks show.  We have contacted many citizens who have 
volunteered and helped raise money for this program to ensure we can support this 
program each year during our National Night Out event.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  The cost of the firework display is $8,000 this year.  We will use 
donated funds to pay for this display.  
 
ADVANTAGE:  This is a great event and brings our community together. 
 
DISADVANTAGES:  The success of a fireworks display can be contingent upon 
weather conditions. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:  Not authorize the agreement and not provide a firework show. 
 
HISTORY:  Support of this program and cooperation with other cities and counties 
shows the solidarity of citizens standing against crime, illegal drugs, and violence.  
National Night Out sends out a message that illegal activity will not be tolerated in the 
City of Fircrest.  National Night Out also enhances awareness of emergency services 
available to our citizens. Over the past twenty-two years, our event has been judged and 
recognized nationally as one of the best events in the nation.  We feel the firework show 
enhances our event. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   Resolution 
                       Fireworks Display Agreement 
 



Page 1 of 1 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

CITY OF FIRCREST 
RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH 
ALPHA PYROTECHNICS FOR A FIREWORKS DISPLAY ON 
AUGUST 2, 2022. 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest has received donations to pay for a fireworks display at 
National Night Out; and 

WHEREAS, the City wishes to contract with Alpha Pyrotechnics to perform the display 
on August 2, 2022 for an amount not to exceed $8,000 as outlined in their proposal; and 

WHEREAS, Alpha Pyrotechnics has performed the fireworks display for National 
Night Out and Fircrest Fun Days since 2016. Now Therefore, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FIRCREST: 

Section 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute an agreement 
with Alpha Pyrotechnics for a fireworks display on August 2, 2022. 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 26th day of July 2022. 

APPROVED: 

____________________________             
Brett L. Wittner, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________ 
Jayne Westman, City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_____________________________ 
City Attorney 















FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 
  DATE:                              7/26/2022 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
ITEM: 13C                    

Washington State Water/Wastewater Agency Response Network 
(WAWARN) intrastate mutual aid and assistance agreement 
 

 

FROM: Tyler Bemis, Public Works Director 
 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, authorizing the 
City manager to execute an agreement with the Washington State Water/Wastewater 
Agency Response Network (WARN) for intrastate mutual aid and assistance coordination 
during emergencies. 
 

PROPOSAL: The Council is being asked to authorize the City Manager to execute an agreement 
with the Washington State Water/Wastewater Agency Response Network. If approved, the City 
will have an authorized official, the Public Works Director, that can; 1. Request assistance 2. 
Offer assistance 3. Decline to offer assistance 4. Decline to accept offers of assistance, and 5. 
Withdraw assistance under the signed agreement. Mutual aid agreements like the WARN are 
requested by FEMA prior to reimbursing a municipality following an emergency event.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: None 
 
ADVANTAGE: Approval of this agreement joins the City of Fircrest Public Works Department 
to its neighboring municipalities and entire State to coordinate and provide support during and/or 
after an emergency event. The ability to utilize the resources of neighboring municipalities can 
be of great benefit to a small City. Additionally, an understanding of the City’s core capabilities 
and its neighbors can drastically improve response time and mitigate risk during an event. 
 
DISADVANTAGES: None at this time 
 
ALTERNATIVES: None known 
 
HISTORY: The topic of joining the WAWARN came to light as a Department of Health 
recommendation during the City’s current Water System Plan update 
 
ATTACHMENTS: Resolution 

Exhibit “A” Agreement 
 



 

Page 1 of 2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 
RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH THE 
WASHINGTON STATE WATER/WASTEWATER AGENCY 
RESPONSE NETWORK (WAWARN) FOR INTRASTATE 
MUTUAL AID AND ASSISTANCE COORDINATION DURING 
EMERGENCIES. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest owns and operates its public water system; and 
  
WHEREAS, the Washington State Department of Health made the recommendation to 
enter an agreement with the WAWARN; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest has determined it is in the best interest of its residents 
and staff to enter into the agreement in an effort to mitigate risk and support its 
neighbors; Now, Therefore, 
 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FIRCREST: 
 
Section 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute the agreement, 
attached hereto, and made hereby made a part hereof, with the Washington State 
Water/Wastewater Agency Response Network. 
 
Section 2. This resolution shall become effective immediately upon adoption. 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 26th day of July 2022.   

 
APPROVED: 

 
 

_____________________________                 
                                                                     Brett L. Wittner, Mayor  
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________  
Jayne Westman, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_____________________________  
Hillary J. Evans, City Attorney 



Page 1 of 10 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement for Washington State WARN 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement for Washington State for Intrastate 
Water/Wastewater Agency Response Network (WARN) 

As of: 04/13/09 
  

This Agreement ("Agreement") is made and entered into by public water and 
wastewater utilities that have executed this Agreement.  
 

ARTICLE I 
PURPOSE 

 
Recognizing that emergencies may require aid or assistance in the form of personnel, 
equipment, and supplies from outside the area of impact, the signatories hereby 
establish an Intrastate Network for Mutual Aid and Assistance (the "Network").  
Through the Network, Members (as further defined in this Agreement) may coordinate 
response activities and share resources during emergencies.  
 

ARTICLE II 
DEFINITIONS 

 
A. Authorized Official – An employee or officer of a Member agency that is 

authorized to:  
1.   Request assistance;  
2.   Offer assistance;  
3.   Decline to offer assistance;  
4.   Decline to accept offers of assistance, and  
5.   Withdraw assistance under this Agreement.  
 
B. Emergency – A natural or human-caused event or circumstance causing, or 

imminently threatening to cause, loss of life, injury to person or property, human 
suffering, significant financial loss, or damage to environment.  For example, 
Emergencies may include fire, explosion, flood, severe weather, drought, earthquake, 
volcanic activity, spills or releases of oil or hazardous material, contamination, utility or 
transportation emergencies, disease, blight, infestation, civil disturbance, riot, 
intentional acts, sabotage and war that are, or could reasonably be beyond the 
capability of the services, personnel, equipment, and facilities of a Member to fully 
manage and mitigate by itself.  
  

C. Member – Any public agency which provides supply, transmission or 
distribution of water; or collection, conveyance or treatment services of storm water or 
waste water that executes this Agreement (individually a "Member" and collectively the 
"Members"). The Members are further classified as follows:   

1.   Requesting Member – A Member who requests aid or assistance under the 
Network.    
2.   Responding Member – A Member that responds to a request for aid or 
assistance under the Network.  
  
D. Period of Assistance – The period of time when a Responding Member 



Page 2 of 10 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement for Washington State WARN 

assists a Requesting Member in response to a Request for Assistance.  The Period of 
Assistance commences when personnel, equipment, or supplies depart from 
Responding Member’s facility and ends when all of the resources return to the 
Responding Member's facility (i.e., portal to portal).  

 
E. National Incident Management System (NIMS): The national, standardized 

system for incident management and response that sets uniform processes and 
procedures for emergency response operations.   

 
F.  Associate – Any non-utility participant approved by the Statewide Committee 

that provides a support role for the Network (such as the State Department of Health).  
An Associate does not execute this Agreement.  
 

ARTICLE III 
ADMINISTRATION 

 
The Network is administered through Regional Committees and a Statewide 
Committee.  

 
A.  Regional Committees.  The State is divided into regions that are 

geographically the same as the existing Department of Health Office of Drinking Water 
regions of the state, with the exception that the eastern region is divided to create a 
central region.  Each region has a Regional Committee. Each Member within a region 
may appoint one person to be a member of its Regional Committee.  Only those 
Regional Committee members appointed by Members are entitled to vote on matters 
before the Regional Committee.  An Associate may be a non-voting member of a 
Regional Committee.  Each Regional Committee shall elect a Chair by majority vote of 
the voting members of that Regional Committee and shall meet annually to review the 
operations and procedures of the Network.   

 
B.  Statewide Committee.  The Chairs of the Regional Committees are the 

voting members of the Statewide Committee.   An Associate may be a non-voting 
member of the Statewide Committee.  Further, the Statewide Committee also may 
include as non-voting members representatives from the Washington State 
Department of Health Office of Drinking Water, Washington State Department of 
Ecology, Washington State Emergency Management Division, Rural Community 
Assistance Corporation, Evergreen Rural Water of Washington, Washington State 
Public Health Laboratory, EPA Region 10, Washington Association of Sewer and 
Water Districts, and the Washington PUD Association.  Under the leadership of a 
Statewide Committee Chair elected by majority vote of the voting members of the 
Statewide Committee, the Statewide Committee shall plan and coordinate emergency 
planning and response activities for the Network.   

 
C.  Members’ administrative activities shall be voluntary and members shall not 

be required to finance the administration of the Network, nor shall the Network hold 
real or personal property.  
 



Page 3 of 10 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement for Washington State WARN 

ARTICLE IV 
PROCEDURES 

 
In coordination with the Regional Committees, and emergency management and 
public health systems of the State, the Statewide Committee shall develop and adopt 
operational and planning procedures for the Network that are consistent with this 
Agreement.  The Statewide Committee shall review these procedures at least annually 
and shall update them as needed.  
 

ARTICLE V 
REQUESTS FOR ASSISTANCE 

 
A.  Member Information:  Promptly after executing this Agreement, the 

signatory Member shall deliver the following to the Statewide Committee: (1) a 
certified copy of the action of Member’s governing body that authorized the signing of 
this Agreement and (2) an original signed Agreement.  Each Member shall identify an 
Authorized Official and one alternate Authorized Official.  Each Member shall provide 
current 24-hour contact information for its Authorized Officials to the Statewide 
Committee, which shall maintain a current list of all Members and the contact 
information for their Authorized Officials.  The Statewide Committee shall provide to all 
Members an updated version of this list annually and whenever there is an addition or 
withdrawal of a Member and whenever there is a change of Authorized Officials’ 
contact information.   

 
B.  Request for Assistance.  In the event of an Emergency, a Member’s 

Authorized Official may request mutual aid and assistance from Members (“Request 
for Assistance”).  Requests for Assistance may be made orally or in writing, provided 
that when a Request for Assistance is made orally, the Requesting Member shall, as 
soon as practicable, identify and transmit in writing the personnel, equipment and 
supplies requested.  Requesting Members shall direct Requests for Assistance to 
Authorized Officials.  The Statewide Committee shall provide specific protocols for 
Requests for Assistance as part of the procedures created pursuant to Article IV of this 
Agreement.   

 
C. Response to a Request for Assistance – Members are not obligated to 

respond to a Request for Assistance.  After a Member receives a Request for 
Assistance, the receiving Member’s Authorized Official shall evaluate whether to 
respond to the Request for Assistance, whether resources are available to respond, or 
if other circumstances would hinder response.  Following the evaluation, the 
Authorized Official shall inform, as soon as possible, the Requesting Member whether 
the Member will respond to the Request for Assistance.  If the Member is willing and 
able to provide assistance, the Member shall inform the Requesting Member of the 
type of available resources and the approximate arrival time of such assistance.   

 
D. Discretion of Responding Member’s Authorized Official – No Member has 

any duty to respond to a Request for Assistance.  When a Member receives a 
Request for Assistance, the Authorized Official shall have sole and absolute discretion 



Page 4 of 10 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement for Washington State WARN 

as to whether or not to respond to the Request for Assistance, and if responding in the 
affirmative, to determine the availability of resources to be made available to the 
Requesting Member.  The response of a Member’s Authorized Official regarding the 
availability of resources to a Requesting Member shall be final.   

 
E. No Liability for Failure to Respond – No Member will be liable to any other 

Member for deciding not to respond to a Request for Assistance or otherwise failing to 
respond to a Request for Assistance.  All Members hereby waive all claims against all 
other Members arising from or relating to any Member’s decision to not respond to a 
Request for Assistance or to any Member’s failure to respond to a Request for 
Assistance.  
 

ARTICLE VI 
RESPONDING MEMBER PERSONNEL 

 
A.  National Incident Management System-When providing assistance under this 

Agreement, the Requesting Member and Responding Member are encouraged (but are 
not obligated) to be organized and function under NIMS. 
 

B.  Coordination and Records – Employees of the Responding Member will 
remain under the direction and control of the Responding Member to the fullest extent 
possible.  The Responding Member is an independent contractor at all times.  The 
Requesting Member’s Authorized Official shall coordinate response activities with the 
designated supervisor(s) of the Responding Member(s). The Responding Member’s 
designated supervisor(s) shall keep accurate records of work performed by personnel 
during the Period of Assistance and for the equipment and supplies provided during 
work.  

 
C.  Food and Shelter – Whenever practical, Responding Member personnel 

must be self sufficient for up to seventy-two (72) hours.  Whenever practical, the 
Requesting Member shall supply adequate food and shelter for Responding Member 
personnel.  If the Requesting Member is unable to provide food and shelter for 
Responding Member personnel, the Responding Member’s designated supervisor is 
authorized to secure the food and shelter necessary to meet the needs of its 
personnel.  
 
 D.  Communication   –   The Requesting Member shall provide Responding 
Member personnel with communications equipment as available, radio frequency 
information to program existing radios if appropriate, or telephone contact numbers, in 
order to facilitate communications with local responders and utility personnel.   Each 
Requesting   Member   shall   provide   contact information for an individual with whom 
Responding Member’s personnel may coordinate while en-route for access, staging 
instructions and other logistical requirements.  
  
 E.  Status - Unless otherwise provided by law, the Responding Member’s 
officers and employees shall have the same powers, duties, rights, privileges, and 
immunities as if they were performing their duties in the jurisdiction in which they are 



Page 5 of 10 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement for Washington State WARN 

normally employed.   
 
F.  Licenses and Permits – To the extent permitted by law, Responding 

Member personnel that hold licenses, certificates, or permits evidencing professional, 
mechanical, or other skills shall be allowed to carry out activities and tasks relevant 
and related to their respective credentials during a Period of Assistance.  
 

ARTICLE VII 
RIGHT TO WITHDRAW RESOURCES 

 
A.   Right to Withdraw - A Responding Member may withdraw some or all of its 
resources at any time for any reason, as determined in the Responding Member’s sole 
and absolute discretion.  The Responding Member shall communicate written or oral 
notice of intention to withdraw all or some of a Responding Member's resources to the 
Requesting Member’s Authorized Official as soon as practicable under the 
circumstances.  To the greatest extent possible, but without limiting in any way a 
Responding Member’s sole and absolute discretion, a Responding Member's 
determination to withdraw some or all of its resources provided to a Requesting 
Member should consider the status of the incident and incident stability, to minimize 
any adverse impacts from the withdrawal of resources by a Responding Member.  

 
B.   No Liability for Withdrawal - No Member will be liable to any other Member 

for first responding to a Request for Assistance by providing resources (such as 
personnel, materials, and equipment) and later withdrawing or refusing to continue to 
provide some or all of those resources.  All Members hereby waive all claims against 
all Members arising from or relating to such a withdrawal or refusal. 

  
ARTICLE VIII 

COST- REIMBURSEMENT 
 
The Requesting Member shall reimburse the Responding Member for all costs 
incurred by the Responding Member during a Period of Assistance, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by both Members.   

 
A. Personnel – The Requesting Member shall reimburse the Responding 

Member for personnel costs incurred for work performed during a Period of 
Assistance. Responding Member personnel costs will be calculated according to the 
terms provided in their employment contracts, hourly rate schedules or other 
conditions of employment.  The Responding Member’s designated supervisor(s) shall 
keep accurate records of work performed by personnel during a Period of Assistance.  
The Requesting Member shall include in its reimbursement of the Responding 
Member all personnel costs, including salaries or hourly wages, costs for fringe 
benefits, and indirect costs.  
 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the Requesting Member shall reimburse the 
Responding Member for all reasonable and necessary costs associated with providing 
food and shelter for the Responding Member's personnel, if the food and shelter are 



Page 6 of 10 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement for Washington State WARN 

not provided by the Requesting Member.  The Requesting Member is not required to 
reimburse the Responding Member for food and shelter costs in excess of State per 
diem rates unless the Responding Member demonstrates in writing that the excess 
costs were reasonable and necessary under the circumstances.   
 
 B.  Equipment – The Requesting Member shall reimburse the Responding 
Member for the use of equipment during a Period of Assistance, including, but not 
limited to, reasonable rental rates, all fuel, lubrication, maintenance, transportation, 
and loading/unloading of loaned equipment.  The Requesting Member shall return all 
equipment to the Responding Member in good working order as soon as is practicable 
and reasonable under the circumstances.  If equipment cannot be returned in good 
working order, then Requesting Member shall either provide in-kind replacement 
equipment to Responding Member at no cost to Responding Member or pay to 
Responding Member the actual replacement cost of the equipment.  Reimbursement 
rates for equipment use will be no less than the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency’s (FEMA) Schedule of Equipment Rates.  If a Responding Member uses rates 
different from those in the FEMA Schedule of Equipment Rates, the Responding 
Member shall provide such rates orally or in writing to the Requesting Member prior to 
supplying the equipment.  If reimbursement rates are to be different than those in the 
FEMA Schedule of Equipment rates, Responding Member and Requesting Member 
shall agree in writing on which rates will be used prior to dispatch of the equipment to 
the Requesting Member.  Requesting Member shall reimburse for equipment not 
referenced on the FEMA Schedule of Equipment Rates based on actual recovery of 
costs.  If a Responding Member is required to lease equipment while its equipment is 
being repaired because of damage due to use during a Period of Assistance, 
Requesting Member shall reimburse Responding Member for such rental costs.  

 
C.  Materials and Supplies – The Requesting Member shall reimburse the 

Responding Member in kind or at actual replacement cost, plus handling charges, for 
use of expendable or non-returnable supplies by the Responding Member during a 
Period of Assistance.  The Responding Member shall not charge direct fees or rental 
charges to the Requesting Member for other supplies and reusable items that are 
returned to the Responding Member in a clean, damage-free condition.  Reusable 
supplies that are returned to the Responding Member with damage will be treated as 
expendable supplies for purposes of cost reimbursement.   

 
D.  Payment Period – In order to be reimbursed, the Responding Member shall 

provide an itemized bill to the Requesting Member no later than ninety (90) days 
following the end of the Period of Assistance for all expenses incurred by the 
Responding Member while providing assistance to a Requesting Member under this 
Agreement.  The Responding Member may request additional time to submit the 
itemized bill, and Requesting Member shall not unreasonably withhold consent to such 
a request.  The Requesting Member shall pay the itemized bill in full on or before the 
forty-fifth (45th) day following the billing date.  The Requesting Member may request 
additional time to pay the itemized bill, and Responding Member shall not 
unreasonably withhold consent to such a request, but in no event will payment in full 
occur later than one year after the date a final itemized bill is submitted to the 



Page 7 of 10 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement for Washington State WARN 

Requesting Member. If a Responding Member disputes a portion of an itemized bill, 
the Requesting Member shall promptly pay those portions of the bill not under dispute, 
pending the resolution of the payment of the disputed portion of the bill.   
 

E.  Records - Where a Responding Member provides assistance to a 
Requesting Member under this Agreement, both Members shall provide the other 
Member access to the books, documents, notes, reports, papers and other records 
relevant to this Agreement for the purposes of reviewing the accuracy of a cost bill or 
making or undergoing a financial, maintenance or regulatory audit.  Both Members 
shall maintain these records for at least three (3) years or longer where required by 
law.  
  

ARTICLE IX 
DISPUTES 

NEGOTIATION 
  

Members shall first attempt to resolve any controversy, claim or other dispute arising 
out of or relating to this Agreement by direct negotiation.   
 

MEDIATION 
 
To the extent not resolved by direct negotiation, Members shall mediate any 
controversy, claim or other dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement. 
Mediation is a condition precedent to arbitration.  Unless the disputing Members agree 
otherwise, the mediation will be administered by the American Arbitration Association 
(AAA) under its Construction Industry Mediation Procedures.  The disputing Members 
shall pay in equal shares the mediator’s fee and any filing fees.  Unless otherwise 
agreed by the disputing Members, the disputing Members shall (1) hold the mediation 
no later than thirty (30) days after a disputing Member delivers a request for mediation 
to the other disputing Members and (2) hold the mediation at the location of the 
Requesting Member. Agreements reached in mediation will be enforceable as 
settlement agreements.  
  

ARBITRATION 
 

To the extent not resolved by mediation, Members shall arbitrate all controversies, 
claims and other disputes arising out of or relating to this Agreement.  Unless the 
disputing Members agree otherwise, the arbitration will be administered by the AAA in 
accordance with its Construction Industry Arbitration Rules in effect on the date a 
disputing Member makes a demand for arbitration. A disputing Member may make a 
demand for arbitration before negotiation or mediation if it appears that a claim might 
be barred by a statute of limitations if the demand were made after the negotiation or 
mediation.  However, in such a case the arbitration will be stayed until the conclusion 
of negotiation and mediation. The decision and award rendered by the arbitrator(s) 
shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with applicable law 
in any court having jurisdiction thereof.  
 



Page 8 of 10 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement for Washington State WARN 

ARTICLE X 
DUTY TO INDEMNIFY 

 
To the extent of its fault, a Member shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless all 
other Members, their elected officials, Authorized Officials, officers, employees and 
agents from any and all costs, claims, judgments, losses, awards of damage, injury, 
death and liability of every kind, nature and description, including the reasonable cost 
of defense and attorneys' fees, directly or indirectly arising from or relating to this 
Agreement (collectively, “Indemnified Claims”). This indemnity obligation extends to all 
Indemnified Claims against a Member by an employee or former employee of another 
Member, and for this purpose, by mutual negotiation, each Member hereby expressly 
waives, with respect to each other Member only, all immunity and limitation under any 
applicable industrial insurance act, including Title 51 of the Revised Code of 
Washington, other worker compensation acts, disability benefit acts or other employee 
benefit act of any jurisdiction which would otherwise be applicable in the case of 
Indemnified Claims.  

 
ARTICLE XI 

WORKER’S COMPENSATION AND SITE CONDITIONS 
 

The Responding Member is responsible for providing worker’s compensation benefits 
and administering worker’s compensation for its employees. The Requesting Member is 
responsible for providing worker’s compensation benefits and administering worker’s 
compensation for its employees. 
   
Each Member shall promptly identify to the other Members concerns about site safety, 
environmental concerns, and other working conditions.  The Safety Officer appointed 
within the Incident Command System during the Period of Assistance shall address 
specific safety conditions and mitigations.  

 
ARTICLE XII 

NOTICE 
 

Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, all notices must be in writing. Notice to a 
Member must be delivered to the Member’s Authorized Official.  
 

ARTICLE XIII 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
This Agreement shall be effective with respect to each Member when that  
Member’s authorized representative executes the Agreement.  The Statewide  
Committee shall maintain a master list of all Members.  
 

ARTICLE XIV 
WITHDRAWAL 

 
 



Page 9 of 10 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement for Washington State WARN 

A Member may withdraw from this Agreement at any time by providing to the 
Statewide Committee Chair written notice of withdrawal signed by the withdrawing 
Member’s Authorized Official or other person authorized by the withdrawing Member’s 
governing body.  Any withdrawal will be effective upon receipt by the Statewide 
Committee Chair of the notice of intent to withdraw.  If there is no Statewide 
Committee Chair, the withdrawing Member shall provide written notice to each 
Member in its region, and the withdrawal will be effective upon delivery of those 
notices.  Once withdrawal from this Agreement is effective, the withdrawing Member 
will have no further obligations under this Agreement, except that withdrawal from this 
Agreement will not affect any indemnification or reimbursement obligation under this 
Agreement that arises prior to the effective date of the withdrawal.  
 

ARTICLE XV 
TERMINATION 

 
This Agreement shall terminate in its entirety when there are less than two Members.  
Termination of this Agreement will not affect any indemnification or reimbursement 
obligation under this Agreement arising prior to the termination. The Statewide 
Committee Chair shall provide written notice of termination to all remaining Members 
of the Agreement.   
 

ARTICLE XVI 
AMENDMENT 

 
This Agreement may be amended if, after written notice of a proposed amendment to 
all Members, the proposed amendment is approved by a majority of Members in each 
region.  The Statewide Committee Chair shall provide written notice to all Members of 
approved amendments.  Approved amendments will take effect sixty (60) days after 
the date the notice is sent to the Members.  
 

ARTICLE XVII 
SEVERABILITY 

 
The parties agree that if any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court 
of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the 
remaining terms and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of 
the parties shall be construed and enforced as if the Agreement did not contain the 
particular term or provision held to be invalid.  
 

ARTICLE XVIII 
PROHIBITION ON THIRD PARTIES AND ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS/DUTIES 

 
Notwithstanding rights of subrogation asserted by a Member’s insurance provider, this 
Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Members and no other person or entity shall 
have any rights under this Agreement as a third party beneficiary nor shall any 
Member owe duty to a third party not a signatory of this Agreement by virtue of this 
Agreement.  Assignments of benefits and delegations of duties created by this 



Page 10 of 10 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement for Washington State WARN

Agreement are prohibited and of no effect.  

ARTICLE XIX 
GOVERNING LAW 

This Agreement is governed by the law of the State of Washington, specifically RCW 
39.34, Interlocal Cooperation Act.  

ARTICLE XX 
EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different 
parties in separate counterparts. Each counterpart when so executed shall be deemed 
to be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same 
Agreement.  

The water and wastewater utility listed below executed this Agreement on this  
___________ day of __________ 202 .  

Water/Wastewater Utility: 

By: By: 

Title:            Title 

 Please Print Name Please Print Name 

Approved as to form  

By: 
Attorney for Member 

Please Print Name 



FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

DATE:          7/26/2022 
NEW BUSINESS: 
ITEM 13D 

Approval of Flag Policy   

 
FROM: Scott Pingel, City Manager 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, approving the 
policy governing the display of flags on city-owned or maintained property. 
 

PROPOSAL: City staff are proposing a policy to govern the display of commemorative flags on 
city-owned or maintained property.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: There is no fiscal impact to approving this policy. 

 
ADVANTAGE: By approving the resolution, there would be a policy in place to guide the 
display of commemorative flags.  
 
DISADVANTAGES: None identified. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Do not approve the resolution as presented. 
 
HISTORY: At the May 24, 2022, City Council meeting, there was a Council consensus directing 
City Staff to develop a policy governing the display of commemorative flags on City-owned or 
maintained property. It was asked that City staff have the draft policy ready for adoption at the 
next regular meeting. The draft resolution was sent to the Council for comment in the May 27th 
and June 3rd City Manager updates. The City Council discussed the Flag Policy at the June 20th 
City Council Study Session.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: Resolution 

    



 

Page 1 of 2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 
RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, GOVERNING THE DISPLAY OF 
FLAGS ON CITY PROPERTY 

 
WHEREAS, the city council desires to establish clear guidelines regarding the display 
of all flags flown on city-owned or city-maintained properties; and 
  
WHEREAS, in adopting this resolution, the city council declares that flagpoles owned 
or maintained by the City of Fircrest are not intended to serve as a forum for free 
expression by the public, but rather as a non-public forum for the display of any 
governmental and non-governmental flag authorized by the City Council either required 
by law or as an expression of the City Council’s official government speech. 
 
WHEREAS, in times where the Governor of Washington State or the President of the 
United States declares that the United States Flag be flown at half-staff, only the United 
States flag shall be displayed and flown at half-staff as declared. 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FIRCREST: 
 
Section 1.  Flags shall be displayed in accordance with Federal and State statutes and 
regulations, including but not limited to, United States Code, Title 4, Chapter 1, and RCW 
Chapter 1.20.010 – 1.20.017. 
 
Section 2.  Commemorative Flag.  

1. As an expression of the City’s official government speech, the City Council may 
authorize the display of a commemorative flag to fly at city-owned or city-
maintained properties. 
2. The City Council shall only consider a request to display a commemorative flag 
if the request is made by a member of the City Council. Requests to fly a 
commemorative flag by members of the public or a third party will not be 
considered. 
3. The decision to approve or deny a request to display a commemorative flag shall 
be made at a publicly noticed city council meeting. 
4. Commemorative flags shall be displayed for a period of time that is reasonable 
or customary for the subject that is to be commemorated. 
5. Commemorative flags must be either purchased by the City or temporarily 
donated for the City’s use and must be clean, without holes and tears, and be made 
of an all-weather fabric. Commemorative flags must be smaller than the United 
States flag that is flown, and may be the same size as the Washington State flag 
that is flown.  
6. A “commemorative flag” as defined in this Policy shall mean a flag that 
identifies with a specific historical event, cause, nation, or group of people that the 
City Council chooses to honor or commemorate consistent with the City’s mission 
and priorities.  



Page 2 of 2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31

Section 3: This Resolution is effective immediately upon passage. 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 26th day of July 2022.  

APPROVED: 

_____________________________
Brett L. Wittner, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

_____________________________ 
Jayne Westman, City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_____________________________ 
Hillary J. Evans, City Attorney 



FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 
  DATE: 7/26/2022 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
ITEM: 13E 

Tacoma Wastewater Pretreatment Interlocal Agreement 
 

 

FROM: Tyler Bemis, Public Works Director 
 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Ordinance No. _____, an ordinance 
relating to industrial wastewater pretreatment; authorizing the City Manager to execute an 
Interlocal Agreement with the City of Tacoma; adopting a new chapter to Title 20 of the 
Fircrest Municipal Code to be known as Chapter 20.30 “Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program”; establishing the Industrial Wastewater Pretreatment Program; 
providing for enforcement and severability; and establishing an effective date.   
 

PROPOSAL: The Council is being asked to authorize the City Manager to execute an Interlocal 
Agreement (ILA) with the City of Tacoma and adopt a new chapter of the Fircrest Municipal 
Code in line with the ILA. This ILA for Industrial Pretreatment identifies Tacoma Wastewater as 
the preparer and facilitator of the plan. The City of Fircrest Public Works Department will 
recognize Tacoma Wastewater as such and maintain compliance with the Department of Ecology 
and Health Department by doing so.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT: None 
 
ADVANTAGE: This comprehensive document falls in line with up-to-date regulations put forth 
by the agencies that have oversight and jurisdiction over proper operations of the City’s sewer 
system. 
 
DISADVANTAGES: None 
 
ALTERNATIVES: None that are feasible.  
 
HISTORY: Tacoma Wastewater owns and operates the facilities that treat, process, and dispose 
of the wastewater produced by the City of Fircrest. The City of Fircrest wastewater system 
consists of lateral and trunk sewers for the benefit of our citizens, but the City of Fircrest does not 
own or operate any treatment facilities. All wastewater produced by Fircrest residents is pumped 
to Tacoma’s system via the Contra Costa Lift Station and Princeton Lift Station. This ILA consists 
of necessary language for the City to abide by under the industrial wastewater discharge permit 
of Tacoma to maintain compliance with the Department of Ecology and Health Department. By 
approving this agreement, Tacoma will act as the lead agency on behalf of the City. This will 
establish rolls and responsibilities of Tacoma and Fircrest.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: Ordinance 

Exhibit A (FMC Chapter 20.30) 
Pretreatment Interlocal Agreement 

 



 

Page 1 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

 
CITY OF FIRCREST 

ORDINANCE NO. 1685 
 

AN ORDINANCE RELATING TO INDUSTRIAL 
WASTEWATER PRETREATMENT AUTHORIZING THE 
CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE PRETREATMENT 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF 
TACOMA; ADOPTING FIRCREST MUNICIPAL CODE 

CHAPTER 20.30 “INDUSTRIAL WASTEWATER 
PRETREATMENT PROGRAM”; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest (“City”), under authority of RCW 35A.11.020, 

35A.21.150, 35.67.020 and Article XI, § 11 of the Washington State Constitution, owns 
and operates a municipal wastewater system but does not own or operate a wastewater 
treatment facility; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Tacoma (“Tacoma”) owns and operates a publicly 

owned treatment works (“POTW”), inclusive two wastewater treatment plants, under 
authority of RCW 35.21.210, 35.21.215, 35.67.020, and 35.92.020, Article XI, § 11 of 
the Washington State Constitution, and Section 4.1 of the Tacoma City Charter; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City and Tacoma, under authority of RCW 35.67.300, have 

contracted for the treatment and disposal of wastewater generated in the City and 
conveyed to Tacoma POTW through a connection(s) to Tacoma’s POTW; and 

 
WHEREAS, Federal and State laws and implementing regulations regulate the 

collection and conveyance of wastewater to a POTW that discharges into the navigable 
waters of the United States and the public waters of the state of Washington, under 
authority of the Federal Clean Water Act, codified at 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq. (the 
“CWA”), RCW Ch. 90.48, and implementing regulations; and 

 
WHEREAS, Tacoma is required to implement and enforce a POTW pretreatment 

program to regulate and control wastewater discharges from commercial/industrial 
sources, users, and facilities that discharge directly or indirectly to such POTW, pursuant 
to the requirements of the CWA and the regulations promulgated thereunder (40 CFR 
Part 403) and Chapter 90.48 RCW and the regulations promulgated thereunder; and 

 
WHEREAS, under these requirements, Tacoma is required to ensure that its 

pretreatment standards and requirements govern industrial discharges in all jurisdictions 
contributing wastewater to the Tacoma POTW; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City and Tacoma have agreed to enter into a Pretreatment 

Interlocal Agreement governing the conditions upon which Tacoma will accept 
wastewater from the City, and providing for the implementation of Pretreatment 
standards and requirements in the City; and 

 



 

Page 2 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

WHEREAS, the City desires to adopt an ordinance (“Wastewater Ordinance”) 
establishing and implementing wastewater standards and requirements that are no less 
stringent and are as broad in scope as Tacoma’s applicable standards and requirements and 
shall include provisions for enforcement of the requirements of the Wastewater Ordinance; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that it is in the best interest of the public health, 

safety and welfare to authorize execution of the Pretreatment Interlocal Agreement with the 
City of Tacoma in substantially the form of the agreement on file with the City Clerk, and 
adopt the Industrial Pretreatment Program as set forth in Exhibit “A” attached hereto.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF FIRCREST 

DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

 Section 1.  Authorizing Execution of Pretreatment Interlocal Agreement.  
The City Manager of the City of Fircrest is hereby authorized to execute the Pretreatment 
Interlocal Agreement for and on behalf of the City, such agreement being in substantially 
the form of the Pretreatment Interlocal Agreement on file with the City Clerk. 
 
 Section 2. Posting.  That the City Clerk shall cause a copy of the Pretreatment 
Interlocal Agreement to be posted on the City website pursuant to RCW 39.34.040.  
 
 Section 3.  Adopting Chapter 20.30 FMC.  Chapter 20.30 “Industrial 
Wastewater Pretreatment Program” is hereby adopted to read as set forth in Exhibit A 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as if fully set forth herein. 
 
 Section 4.  Severability. If any section, sentence, clause or phrase of this 
Ordinance should be held to be unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, 
such invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of 
any other section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance.  
 

Section 5.  Corrections. Upon the approval of the city attorney, the city clerk, 
and/or the code publisher is authorized to make any necessary technical corrections to 
this ordinance, including but not limited to the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, 
references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection numbers, and any reference thereto. 

 
Section 6.  Summary, Publication, and Effective Date.  This Ordinance or a 

summary thereof consisting of the title, shall be published in the official newspaper of 
the City, and shall take effect and be in full force five (5) days after its adoption and 
publication as required by law. 
 
 
PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FIRCREST, 
WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 26th day of July 2022. 
   

                                                                      APPROVED: 
 
 



 

Page 3 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

________________________________                                                                                
Brett L. Wittner, Mayor  

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________   
Jayne Westman, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
___________________________________ 
Hillary J. Evans, City Attorney 



Exhibit A 

CHAPTER 20.30 
INDUSTRIAL WASTEWATER PRETREATMENT PROGRAM  

 
Sections: 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
20.30.010  Purpose and application. 
20.30.020  Administration. 
20.30.030  Abbreviations. 
20.30.040  Definitions. 
GENERAL SEWER USE REQUIREMENTS 
20.30.100  Prohibited discharge standards. 
20.30.110  Categorical pretreatment standards.  
20.30.120  State requirements. 
20.30.130  AKART.  
20.30.140  Industrial user survey form. 
20.30.150  Payment of rates and fees. 
PRETREATMENT AND MONITORING FACILITIES 
20.30.200  Treatment required. 
20.30.210  Proper operation and maintenance. 
20.30.220  Monitoring facilities. 
20.30.230  Operating pretreatment facilities. 
20.30.240  Wastewater discharge control. 
20.30.250   Flow equalization. 
20.30.260   Multi-tenant buildings. 
20.30.270  Flow, pH, LEL and other meters and equipment. 
20.30.280  Tampering with water metering devices prohibited. 
INDUSTRIAL WASTEWATER DISCHARGE PERMITTING 
20.30.300  Permits required. 
20.30.310   Industrial wastewater discharge permitting – Existing industrial users. 
20.30.320   Industrial wastewater discharge permitting – New sources and new industrial 

users. 
20.30.330   Industrial users. 
20.30.340  Industrial wastewater discharge permitting – Application contents. 
20.30.350  Certification requirements. 
20.30.360  Special approved discharge authorization. 
INDUSTRIAL WASTEWATER DISCHARGE PERMIT ISSUANCE 
20.30.400  Industrial wastewater discharge permit duration. 
20.30.410  Industrial wastewater discharge permit contents. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 2 
031522 v2 

20.30.420  Industrial wastewater discharge permit modification. 
20.30.430  Industrial wastewater discharge permit transfer. 
20.30.440  Industrial wastewater discharge permit revocation. 
20.30.450  Industrial wastewater discharge permit reissuance. 
20.30.460  Industrial wastewater discharge permitting – Extra jurisdictional industrial users. 
20.30.470  Public notice. 
REQUIRMENTS FOR FOOD SERVICE ESTABLISHMENTS, HAULED WASTE AND 
DENTAL FACILITIES 
20.30.500  Requirements for food service establishments. 
20.30.510  Requirements for hauled waste. 
20.30.520  Requirements for dental facilities. 
REPORTING AND NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS 
20.30.600  Baseline monitoring reports. 
20.30.610  Compliance schedules. 
20.30.620  Reports on compliance with categorical pretreatment standard deadline. 
20.30.630  Periodic self-monitoring reports. 
20.30.640  Notification of change in discharge or operations. 
20.30.650  Notification and reports of potential problems. 
20.30.660  Slug discharge – Notification and plan development. 
20.30.670  Reports for industrial users. 
20.30.680  Notice of noncompliance. 
20.30.690  Notification of the discharge of hazardous waste. 
20.30.700  Requests for information. 
COMPLIANCE MONITORING AND RECORDKEEPING 
20.30.800  Analytical and sampling requirements. 
20.30.810  Specific sampling requirements for industrial users. 
20.30.820  Monitoring – Recordkeeping. 
RIGHT OF ENTRY AND CONFIDENTIALITY 
20.30.900  Right of entry – Inspection and sampling. 
20.30.910  Public disclosure and confidentiality. 
PUBLICATION OF INDUSTRIAL USERS IN SIGNIFICANT NONCOMPLIANCE 
20.30.1000  Publication of industrial users in significant noncompliance. 
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES TO DISCHARGE VIOLATIONS 
20.30.1100  Upsets. 
20.30.1110  Bypass. 
ENFORCEMENT AND REMEDIES 
20.30.1200  Violations, enforcement and penalties. 
20.30.1210  Methods of Service 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 3 
031522 v2 

20.30.1220  Civil violations 
20.30.1230  Compliance orders 
20.30.1240  Expedited informal review 
20.30.1250  Liability for supplemental fees 
20.30.1260  Corporate and personal liability 
20.30.1270  Suspension of service 
20.30.1280  Appeal – Request for hearing 
20.30.1290  Remedies non-exclusive. 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
20.30.1300  Severability.  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 4 
031522 v2 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
20.30.010 Purpose and application. 
The City owns and operates a municipal wastewater system that collects, conveys and discharges 
wastewater to the City of Tacoma publicly owned treatment works (POTW) for treatment and 
disposal.  All wastewater discharged to the municipal wastewater system through a side sewer or 
other connection to the municipal wastewater system is discharged to the POTW.  This chapter 
sets forth uniform requirements for industrial users of the POTW to comply with all applicable 
state and federal laws, including Chapter 90.48 RCW, Chapter 173-216 WAC, Chapter 90.48 
RCW, the Federal Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C., Section 1251 et seq.), the General Pretreatment 
Regulations (40 CFR Part 403), and this chapter. This chapter shall apply to all industrial users 
of the POTW and all other persons responsible for compliance with any requirement of this 
chapter. The purpose of this chapter is: 

A. To protect the municipal wastewater system and POTW by preventing the 
introduction of pollutants into the POTW through the municipal wastewater system that may 
interfere with  operation of the POTW, or be incompatible with, or otherwise cause damage to, 
the POTW; 

B. To prevent the introduction of pollutants into the POTW that will pass through if 
inadequately treated prior to discharge into receiving waters; 

C. To protect personnel who may be affected by wastewater and biosolids in the course 
of their employment and to protect the general public; 

D. To require persons regulated by this chapter to pay applicable fees; and  
E. To enable City to comply with its wastewater pretreatment obligations set forth in the 

Wastewater Treatment and Disposal Agreement and Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement with the 
City of Tacoma. 

 
20.30.020 Administration. 

A. Administration. The City will administer this chapter in accordance with the purposes 
set forth herein and in accordance with the authority set forth in Chapter 35.67 RCW, and other 
applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations, the state pretreatment delegation to the 
City of Tacoma and the City’s pretreatment program policies and procedures. In the event there 
is a conflict between a requirement of this chapter and: (a) a provision contained within it; (b) a 
provision of a permit issued under this chapter; or (c) a provision of an applicable federal or state 
law or regulation, the requirement(s) that are more protective of the environment shall apply. 

B. Responsibility for Compliance. It is the intent of this chapter to place the responsibility 
for complying with its requirements, and any policies, regulations, manuals, procedures, and 
guidance adopted pursuant to this chapter, and any permit, authorization or approval granted 
pursuant to this chapter, upon the permittee, the person granted an authorization or approval, the 
facility operator, the facility manager, the facility owner, the owner and operator of any food 
service establishment or other business subject to regulation under this chapter, and any other 
person when that person’s action or failure to take action causes or contributes to a violation of 
this chapter or any permit, authorization, or approval made or given pursuant to this chapter. It is 
further the intent of this chapter that, whenever a facility constitutes an industrial user, the 
permittee, facility operator, facility manager, and facility owner shall be responsible for 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 5 
031522 v2 

compliance with all requirements, obligations, limitations, and prohibitions made applicable to 
an industrial user pursuant to this chapter. It is further the intent of this chapter that the permittee, 
operator, facility manager, and owner of a facility that constitutes a new source or existing 
source shall be responsible for compliance with all requirements, obligations, limitations, and 
prohibitions made applicable to a new source or existing source pursuant to this chapter.   

C.  Appeals of Decisions and Determinations. Appeals of discretionary decisions or 
determinations made by the Control Authority pursuant to this chapter are governed by FMC 
20.30.020.D; provided that, appeals of enforcement actions taken pursuant to this chapter are 
governed by FMC 20.30.1200 et seq.   
 D. Appeals of discretionary decisions or determinations. 

  1. The term decision or determination as used in this section shall mean and refer 
to a discretionary decision made by the control authority under authority of this chapter, but 
shall not mean or refer to, (1) the promulgation or publication of policies, procedures, 
guidelines, requirements, or manuals intended to implement, supplement, interpret or guide 
compliance with the requirements of this chapter, or (2) enforcement actions taken pursuant 
to this chapter.  Appeals of enforcement actions are governed by FMC 20.30.1200 et seq. 

 E. Appeals of decisions or determinations made by the Control Authority pursuant to this 
chapter are governed by the following provisions.  

1. Any person aggrieved or adversely affected by a decision or determination 
made by the Control Authority under authority of this chapter who wants to contest such 
decision or determination, shall file a written appeal with the Hearing Examiner setting 
forth the errors of law or fact alleged to have been made, and request a hearing within 
thirty (30) days of receipt of such final decision or determination.  

2. The Hearing Examiner shall conduct a hearing in the appeal of a decision or 
determination by the control authority pursuant to the Hearing Examiner Rules of 
Procedure for Hearing.  

3. The burden of proof shall be on the appellant to demonstrate by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the Control Authority committed an error or law or 
fact or that the decision or determination was arbitrary or capricious.  

4. In exercising such powers of review, the Hearing Examiner may, in conformity 
with the applicable provisions of this chapter, reverse or affirm the control authority’s 
decision or determination in whole or in part, or may modify the decision or 
determination and make such order as appears just to the Hearing Examiner.  

5. A person is aggrieved or adversely affected within the meaning of this section 
only when all three of the following conditions are present:  

 a. The decision or determination of the control authority has 
prejudiced or is likely to prejudice that person; 

b. That person’s asserted interests are among those that the control 
authority was required to consider when it engaged in the decision or 
determination challenged; and 

c. A judgment in favor of that person would substantially eliminate 
or redress the prejudice to that person caused or likely to be caused by the 
decision or determination of the control authority. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 6 
031522 v2 

F.  Liberal Construction. The provisions of this chapter shall be held to be minimum 
requirements in their interpretation and application and shall be liberally construed to serve the 
purposes of this chapter. 

 
20.30.030 Abbreviations. 
The following abbreviations, when used in this chapter, shall have the designated meanings:  
AWWA American Water Works Association 
BMPs Best Management Practices  
BOD5 5-Day Biochemical Oxygen Demand 
BTEX Benzene, Toluene, Ethylbenzene, Xylene 
ºC degrees Celsius 
COD Chemical Oxygen Demand 
CFR Code of Federal Regulations  
EPA U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
ERP Enforcement Response Plan 
ºF degrees Fahrenheit 
FMC City of Fircrest Municipal Code 
FOG Fats, Oil and Grease 
gpd gallons per day 
GGI Gravity Grease Interceptor 
HMGI Hydromechanical Grease Interceptor 
LEL Lower Explosive Limit 
MAIL Maximum Allowable Industrial Loading 
mgd million gallons per day 
mg/L milligrams per liter  
MIU Minor Industrial User 
NAICS North American Industry Classification System  
NPDES National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
O&M Operation and Maintenance 
POTW Publicly Owned Treatment Works 
RCRA Resource Conservation and Recovery Act  
RCW Revised Code of Washington 
SDCP Slug Discharge Control Plan 
SIC Standard Industrial Classification 
SNC Significant Noncompliance 
TMC Tacoma Municipal Code 
TRC Technical Review Criteria 
TSS Total Suspended Solids 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 7 
031522 v2 

UPC Uniform Plumbing Code 
U.S.C. United States Code 
WAC Washington Administrative Code 
 
20.30.040 Definitions. 
For the purposes of this chapter, the following terms, phrases, words and their derivations shall 
have the meanings given herein unless a different meaning is otherwise plainly required. Words 
not otherwise defined in this chapter shall have the meaning given in such federal and state 
statutes, rules, or regulations that apply to the activity being regulated. Words not otherwise 
defined, shall be given their common and ordinary meaning. When not inconsistent with the 
context, words used in the present tense include the future, words in the plural include the 
singular, and words in the singular include the plural. The words “shall” and “will” are always 
mandatory and not merely directory and the word “may” is permissive. References to 
governmental entities (whether persons or entities) refer to those entities or their successors in 
authority.  
 “Abate” or “correct” or “remedy,” or any derivation thereof, means to act to stop an 
activity, and/or to repair, replace, remove, restore, rehabilitate, or otherwise remedy a condition, 
where such activity or condition constitutes a violation; provided that, the actions taken must not 
endanger the general health, safety, and welfare of the community and must resolve the violation 
by bringing the activity or condition into compliance with the regulation alleged to have been 
violated, and into compliance with any standards or requirements applicable to the actions taken 
to repair, replace, remove, restore, rehabilitate, or otherwise remedy the condition.  
 “Amalgam process wastewater.” Any wastewater generated and discharged by a 
dental discharge facility through the practice of dentistry that may contain dental amalgam. 
 “Amalgam separator.” A collection device designed to capture and remove dental 
amalgam from the amalgam process wastewater of a dental discharge facility. 
 “Amalgam waste.” Any non-contact and contact scrap amalgam waste or wastestream 
containing mercury or residues from the preparation, use or removal of amalgam. This includes, 
but is not limited to, any mercury waste generated or collected by chair-side traps, screens, 
filters, vacuum systems filters, amalgam separators, elemental mercury, amalgam capsules and 
autoclaves or other equipment that comes in contact with mercury. 
 “Applicable pretreatment standard.” The most restrictive federal or state pretreatment 
limit or prohibitive standard, or local limit, contained in or referenced by this chapter with which 
an industrial user is required to comply. 
 “Authorized representative” or “duly authorized representative of the industrial user.” 
 A. If the industrial user is a corporation: 
  1. The president, secretary, treasurer, or vice president of the corporation in 
charge of a principal business function, or any other person who performs similar policy or 
decision-making functions for the corporation; or 
  2. The manager of one or more manufacturing, production, or operating facilities, 
provided the manager is authorized to make management decisions that govern the operation of 
the regulated facility including: having the explicit or implicit duty of making major capital 
investment recommendations; initiating and directing comprehensive measures to assure long-



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 8 
031522 v2 

term environmental compliance with environmental laws and regulations; ensuring that the 
necessary systems are established or actions are taken to gather complete and accurate 
information for reporting requirements established by the Control Authority, if authority to sign 
documents has been assigned or delegated to the manager in accordance with corporate 
procedures; 
 B. If the industrial user is a partnership or sole proprietorship: a general partner or 
proprietor, respectively; 
 C. If the industrial user is a limited liability company, the managing member(s) of the 
limited liability company; 
 D. If the industrial user is a federal, state, or local governmental facility: a director or 
the highest official appointed or designated to oversee the operation and performance of the 
activities of the government facility, or the designee of such official; and 
 E. The individuals described in paragraphs A through D above may designate another 
duly authorized representative if the authorization is in writing, the authorization specifies the 
individual or position responsible for the overall operation of the facility from which the 
discharge originates or having overall responsibility for environmental matters for the company, 
and the written authorization is submitted to the Control Authority. 

“Batch discharge.” A special method of discharging wastewater defined in and 
authorized by an industrial wastewater discharge permit, special approved discharge 
authorization or other control mechanism. 

“Best Management Practices” or “BMPs.” A schedule(s) of activities, treatment 
practices, prohibitions of practices, maintenance procedures, and other management practices 
based on applicable Pretreatment Standards in 40 CFR Part 403, federal categorical effluent 
standards and applicable state and local pretreatment requirements including local limits which 
are implemented by an industrial user to prevent or reduce pollutants from entering a facility’s 
waste stream and causing “interference” and/or “pass through” and/or damage to biosolids. 

“Biochemical Oxygen Demand, 5-Day” or “BOD5.” The quantity of oxygen used in the 
biochemical oxidation of organic matter under standard laboratory procedure in five (5) days at 
20 degrees (20º) Celsius, expressed in parts per million or milligrams per liter (mg/L) by weight, 
using methods approved under 40 CFR Part 136. 

“Business day” shall mean Monday through Friday, excluding all state and national 
holidays and days that City Administrative Offices are closed due to inclement weather 
conditions, war, riots, or natural disaster.  

“Bypass.” The intentional diversion of a wastestream from any portion of an industrial 
user’s treatment facility prior to being discharged to the POTW. 

“Categorical Industrial User.” An industrial user subject to national categorical 
pretreatment standards. 

“Categorical pretreatment standard” or “categorical standard.” Any regulation containing 
pollutant discharge limits promulgated by the EPA in accordance with 33 U.S.C. Section 1317 
that apply to a specific category of industrial users and that appear in 40 CFR Chapter I, 
Subchapter N, Parts 405-471. 

“City.” Unless a different meaning is otherwise plainly required, the City of Fircrest, a 
municipal corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the state of 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 9 
031522 v2 

Washington. The phrase “within the City” means within the City boundaries as now or hereafter 
constituted. 

“Civil infraction” shall mean any act or omission that constitutes a violation of any 
regulation and which violation is designated in the City code as a civil infraction.  

“Complete written instrument” means an instrument which is fully drawn with respect to 
every essential feature thereof; “incomplete written instrument” means an instrument which 
contains some matter by way of content or authentication but which requires additional matter in 
order to render it a complete written instrument. 

“Compliance order” shall mean an order or directive that is subject to enforcement under 
this chapter and issued by a control authority directing the responsible person to take corrective 
action or to cease certain action identified in the order. Compliance orders include, by way of 
example only and not limitation, an order to take corrective action; a stop-work order; a stop-use 
order; an emergency order; and an order to vacate, repair, or demolish a non-compliant structure. 

“Color.” The optical density at the visual wavelength of maximum absorption, relative to 
distilled water.  

“Composite sample.” Multiple grab samples collected over time, either by continuous 
sampling or by mixing discrete samples and are reported as the average wastewater characteristic 
concentration for the period of time during which the composite sample was collected.  

“Control Authority.” The City of Tacoma, acting as the City’s agent pursuant to a 
Pretreatment Interlocal Agreement, as lead agency for implementation and enforcement of 
pretreatment regulations set forth in this chapter and as control authority for issuance of 
industrial wastewater discharge permits, within the corporate boundaries of the City; provided 
that, nothing herein shall be construed or operate to waive or abdicate the City’s authority to 
enforce the requirements of this chapter.   

“Control mechanism.” An industrial wastewater discharge permit, a special approved 
discharge authorization, a letter, an authorization to discharge, or any other written notice of 
discharge requirements issued by the Control Authority. 

“Cooling water.” Cooling water shall mean contact cooling water or noncontact cooling 
water which have the following meanings: 

A. Contact: Water used for cooling purposes which comes in contact with any raw 
material, intermediate product, waste product or finished product; and 

B.  Noncontact: Water used for cooling purposes which does not comes in contact with 
any raw material, intermediate product, waste product or finished product and the only pollutant 
added is heat. 

“Corporation” means any firm, business, association, partnership, limited liability 
company, corporation, or other legal entity, public or private, however organized. 

“Correction notice” means a verbal or written statement, made or issued by a control 
authority, notifying a responsible person that a violation(s) has occurred or may occur, informing 
such person of the legal and factual basis for the determination that a violation has occurred or 
may occur, and informing such person that the violation(s) must be abated or mitigated or that 
certain action must be taken to prevent a violation(s) from occurring. A correction notice is 
intended to be a warning and is not the equivalent of a compliance order and is not subject to 
appeal. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 10 
031522 v2 

“Corrective action” means action to abate, mitigate, or remediate.  
“Costs of abatement” or “costs of remediation” or “costs of mitigation” shall mean the 

costs of any abatement, remediation, or mitigation action taken by the City to abate, remediate, 
or mitigate the violation using lawful means in the event that the responsible person fails so to 
do. The term includes incidental expenses including, but not limited to, personnel costs, both 
direct and indirect and including attorneys’ fees; costs incurred in documenting the violation; 
hauling, storage, and disposal expenses; and actual costs and expenses of the City in preparing 
notices, specifications, and contracts, and in accomplishing and/or contracting and inspecting the 
work; the costs of any required printing and mailing; and other administrative costs. 

“Daily maximum discharge limit.” The maximum allowable discharge limit of a pollutant 
that may be discharged during a twenty-four (24) hour period or as specified in an industrial 
user’s industrial wastewater discharge permit. Where daily maximum limits are expressed in 
units of mass, the daily discharge is the total mass discharged over the sampling period. Where 
daily maximum limits are expressed in terms of a concentration, the daily discharge is the 
arithmetic average measurement of the pollutant concentration derived from all measurements 
taken during that sampling period. 

“Days.” Unless otherwise indicated, “days” means calendar days. 
“Dental amalgam.” An alloy of elemental mercury and other metal(s) that is used in the 

practice of dentistry. 
“Dental discharge facility.” A facility where the practice of dentistry is performed and 

wastewater is discharged to the POTW. 
“Dilute.” A waste stream that has been reduced in strength by the addition of water or 

another solution. 
“Domestic wastewater.” Water carrying human wastes, including kitchen, bath, and 

laundry wastes from residences, buildings, industrial establishments, and other places, which is 
similar in volume or chemical composition to wastewater discharged from a residential dwelling 
unit.  

“Emergency” means a situation that requires immediate action to prevent or eliminate an 
imminent threat to the health, welfare, or safety of persons or property.  

“Enforcement Response Plan”.  The procedures adopted by the control authority as 
required pursuant 40 CFR 403.8(f)(5) for investigating and responding to instances of industrial 
user non-compliance with federal, state, and local wastewater discharge regulations. 

 “Environmental permit.” An authorization, order or equivalent control mechanism issued 
by a federal or state agency, or local jurisdiction to implement the requirements of an 
environmental law, regulation, or ordinance. 

“Exempt dental discharge facility.” Any dental facility in which amalgam is not placed, 
removed, or used at any time in the dental practice or a dental facility that does not discharge 
amalgam process wastewater to the POTW. 

“Existing source.” Any industrial user that is not a new source. 
 “Facility.” A building, structure, equipment, installation, land, or any combination 

thereof, that is a source or potential source of an indirect discharge of wastewater to the POTW. 
This term shall not mean or include pretreatment facilities, wastewater pretreatment facilities, or 
food service establishment facilities, as those terms are used in this chapter. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 11 
031522 v2 

“Facility manager.”  The person in the position of the most senior corporate officer, 
executive, leader or administrator in charge of the daily supervision and operation of a facility. 
The facility manager may or may not be a duly authorized representative of the industrial user.  

“Falsely alter.” To falsely alter a written instrument means to change, without 
authorization by anyone entitled to grant it, a written instrument, whether complete or 
incomplete, by means of erasure, obliteration, deletion, insertion of new matter, transposition of 
matter, or in any other manner.  

“Falsely complete.” To falsely complete a written instrument means to transform an 
incomplete written instrument into a complete one by adding or inserting matter, without the 
authority of anyone entitled to grant it. 

“Falsely make.”  To falsely make a written instrument means to make or draw a complete 
or incomplete written instrument which purports to be authentic, but which is not authentic either 
because the ostensible maker is fictitious or because, if real, the maker did not authorize the 
making or drawing thereof. 

“Federal Clean Water Act.” The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended and 
codified at 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq. 

 “Food service establishment.” Any non-mobile facility, which serves, prepares, 
processes, manufactures, or packages food for consumption such as a restaurant, commercial 
kitchen, caterer, hotel, school, hospital, detention facility, food caterer, convenience store, 
grocery store, manufacturing facility, or care institution. 

“Grab sample.” A sample which is taken from a waste stream on a one-time basis with no 
regard to the flow in the waste stream over a period of time not to exceed fifteen (15) minutes. 

“Hauled waste.” Any domestic or non-domestic wastes delivered by tanker truck for 
discharge to the POTW. 

“Hauler.” Any person that delivers domestic or non-domestic waste by tanker truck for 
discharge to the POTW.  

“Hazardous waste.” Any waste designated as hazardous under the provisions of 40 CFR 
Part 261 or a dangerous waste under Chapter 173-303 WAC. 

“Hazardous waste pharmaceuticals.” Pharmaceuticals that are considered RCRA 
hazardous by the EPA. Excluded are non-prescription pharmaceuticals that have a reasonable 
expectation of being used/reused or reclaimed. 

“Healthcare facility.” Any person that is lawfully authorized to: 
A. Provide preventative, diagnostic, therapeutic, rehabilitative, maintenance or palliative 

care, and counseling, service, assessment, or procedure with respect to the physical or mental 
condition, or functional status, of a human or animal or that affects the structure or function of 
the human or animal body; or 

B. Distribute, sell, or dispense pharmaceuticals, including over-the-counter 
pharmaceuticals, dietary supplements, homeopathic drugs, or prescription pharmaceuticals. 

“Holding tank waste.” Sewage, including typically associated solids, from domestic 
activities pumped from a septic tank serving one or more private residences or a chemical toilet, 
or tanks within recreational vehicles, campers, trailers, and vessels. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 12 
031522 v2 

“Hearing Examiner” means the Tacoma Hearing Examiner, and the office thereof 
established pursuant to Tacoma Municipal Code (“TMC”) 1.23 to hear appeals of civil violations 
and compliance orders.  

“Indirect discharge.” The discharge or the introduction of pollutants into the POTW from 
any source regulated under Section 307(b), (c) or (d) of the Federal Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 
1317), or this chapter, including holding tank waste discharged by a non-domestic industrial user 
to the POTW. 

“Industrial waste” or “Non-domestic waste.” A liquid or solid waste from industrial 
manufacturing processes, or trade or business activities distinct from domestic wastewater. 

“Industrial user.” A non-domestic source of an indirect discharge or any other industrial 
or commercial facility or business that has a sewer connection to the municipal wastewater 
system, whether or not the industrial user discharges non-domestic wastewater. 

“Industrial wastewater discharge permit.” A control mechanism issued by the Control 
Authority to an industrial user that allows, limits and/or prohibits the discharge of pollutants or 
flow to the POTW.  

“Interference.” A discharge which alone or in combination with other discharges: 
A. Inhibits or disrupts the POTW, its treatment processes or operations or its sludge 

processes, use or disposal; and 
B. Causes a violation of the NPDES permit (including an increase in the magnitude or 

duration of a violation) or the prevention of sewage sludge use or disposal in compliance with 
any of the following statutory or regulatory provisions or permits issued thereunder, or any more 
stringent state or local regulations: Section 405 of the Federal Clean Water Act; the Solid Waste 
Disposal Act (SWDA), including Title II commonly referred to as the Resource Conservation 
and Recovery Act (RCRA); any state regulations contained in any state sludge management plan 
prepared pursuant to Subtitle D of the Solid Waste Disposal Act; the Clean Air Act; the Toxic 
Substances Control Act; and the Marine Protection, Research, and Sanctuaries Act. 

“Interlocal agreement.” An agreement entered into pursuant to the Interlocal Cooperation 
Act, Chapter 39.34 RCW. 

“Instantaneous discharge limit.” The maximum or minimum concentration of a pollutant 
or a pollutant property based on a grab sample or direct measurement allowed to be discharged at 
any time. 

“Local limits.” Discharge limits developed by the Control Authority in accordance with 
40 CFR Section 403.5(c) and (d) which are set forth in this chapter.  

“New source.” Shall be defined as set forth in 40 CFR Section 403.3(m). 
“New source dental discharge facility.” A dental discharge facility that discharges to the 

POTW for the first time on or after July 15, 2017, or a dental discharge facility that transfers 
ownership on or after July 15, 2017. 

“Mailing” or “service by mail” shall mean sending the document by regular, first-class 
mail, postage prepaid and properly addressed, to the last known address of the person subject to 
the document. The last known address shall be an address provided to the City by the person to 
whom the document is directed; if an address has not been provided to the City, the last known 
address shall be any of the following as they appear at the time the document is mailed: the 
address of the property where the violation is occurring, or the taxpayer address appearing for the 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 13 
031522 v2 

property on the official property tax information website for Pierce County; the address used for 
the payment of utilities for the property at which the violations are occurring; or the address 
appearing on the project permit application. Where service of the notice of violation is by mail, 
service shall be deemed complete upon the third day following the day upon which the notice is 
placed in the mail, unless the third day falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal legal holiday, in 
which event service shall be deemed complete on the first day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or 
legal holiday following the third day. 

“Mitigate” means to take measures, subject to City approval, to minimize the harmful 
effects of the violation where abatement is either impossible or unreasonably burdensome. 

“Municipal wastewater system.”  Any sewer or appurtenant facility other than a side 
sewer, either owned or operated by the City. 

“Normal domestic strength wastewater.” Wastewater, when analyzed in accordance with 
procedures established in 40 CFR Part 136, as amended, that contains no more than two hundred 
(200) mg/L of 5-Day Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD5) or two hundred and twenty-five 
hundred (225) mg/L of Total Suspended Solids.  

“North American Industry Classification System Code” or “NAICS Code.” An industrial 
classification system developed by the United States Office of Management and Budget to 
classify business establishments for the collection, tabulation, presentation, and analysis of 
statistical data describing the U.S. economy. Also, see Standard Industrial Classification Code. 

“Notice of violation” or “notice of civil violation” means a written statement, issued by a 
Control Authority, which contains the information required under TMC 1.82.050.B, and which 
notifies a person that the person is responsible for one or more violations. 

“Notice of infraction” or “notice of civil infraction” means a written statement compliant 
with the rules of the Washington Supreme Court, representing a determination that a civil 
infraction has been committed, and issued under authority of Chapter 7.80 RCW or a civil 
infraction system approved by ordinance adopting a civil infraction system under authority of 
Chapter 7.80 RCW.  

“NPDES Permit.” Waste discharge permits issued by the Washington State Department 
of Ecology to the City of Tacoma pursuant to Chapter 90.48 RCW and Section 402 of the 
Federal Clean Water Act that establish special and general conditions for discharging effluent 
from the City’s Central and North End treatment plant into waters of the state.  

“Operator” Any person or group of persons, other than a facility manager, in control of or 
otherwise responsible for, through any arrangement, the management and operation of a facility 
or an entity or business enterprise subject to regulation under this chapter. 

“Owner.” Any person holding title to, or an ownership interest in, a facility. It shall be 
presumed that the person identified in records of the Pierce County Assessor as the taxpayer is 
the owner of any such real property that constitutes a facility or upon which a facility is located.  

“Pass through.” A discharge which exits the POTW into waters of the United States or 
the state in quantities or in concentrations which, alone or in conjunction with a discharge or 
discharges from other sources, causes a violation of any requirement of the NPDES Permit, 
including an increase in the magnitude or duration of a violation. 

“Permittee.” Any person to whom an industrial wastewater discharge permit has been 
issued pursuant to this chapter. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 14 
031522 v2 

“Person.” Any individual, partnership, co-partnership, firm, company, association, joint 
stock company, trust, estate, society, corporation, group, government, governmental agency or 
other legal entity, and their legal representatives, agents, or assigns. The definition includes all 
federal, state and local government entities. 

“Personal service” shall mean handing the document to the person subject to the 
document or leaving it at the person’s dwelling or usual place of abode with some person of 
suitable age and discretion then residing therein, or leaving it at the person’s office or place of 
employment with a person in charge thereof. 

“Posting” shall mean affixing a copy of the document in a conspicuous place on the 
property(ies) where the violation occurred, with at least one copy of such document placed at an 
entryway to the property or structure if an entryway exists. Service by posting shall be 
accomplished on the date of the posting in compliance with this section.  

“pH.” The negative logarithm of the effective hydrogen-ion concentration or hydrogen 
activity in gram equivalents per liter used in expressing both acidity and alkalinity on a scale 
with values from 0 to 14, with 7 representing neutrality. Values lower than 7 are more acidic, and 
higher values are more alkaline.  

“Pharmaceutical.” Any drug or dietary supplement for use by humans or other animals; 
any electronic nicotine delivery system (e.g., electronic cigarette or vaping pen), or any liquid 
nicotine (e-liquid) packaged for retail for use in electronic nicotine delivery systems (e.g., pre-
filled cartridges or vials). This definition includes, but is not limited to dietary supplements, as 
defined by the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act; prescription drugs, as defined by 21 CFR 
203.3(y); OTC drugs; homeopathic drugs; compounded drugs; investigational new drugs; 
pharmaceuticals remaining in nonempty containers; personal protective equipment contaminated 
with pharmaceuticals; and clean-up material from spills of pharmaceuticals. This definition does 
not include dental amalgam or sharps. 

“Pollutant.” Any dredged spoil, solid waste, incinerator residue, filter backwash, sewage, 
garbage, sewage sludge, explosives, munitions, medical waste, chemical wastes, corrosive 
substance, biological material, biological nutrient, toxic substance, radioactive materials, 
malodorous substance, wrecked or discharged equipment, rock, sand, slurry, cellar dirt, 
untreatable waste, or industrial, domestic, or agricultural wastes and certain characteristics of 
wastewater (e.g. pH, temperature, TSS turbidity, color, BOD5, COD, toxicity or odor).  

“POTW or “publicly owned treatment works.” Means a treatment works, as defined by 
33 U.S.C. Section 1292 (2), which is owned and operated by the City of Tacoma. The term 
generally refers to any devices and systems used in the conveyance, storage, treatment, recycling 
and reclamation of municipal sewage and industrial wastes of a liquid nature. A reference to the 
POTW means and refers to the POTW owned or operated by the City, unless a different meaning 
is otherwise plainly required. 

“POTW Treatment Plant.” That portion of the POTW known as the City of Tacoma’s 
North-End treatment plant that provides treatment of municipal wastewater. 

“Pretreatment.” The reduction of the amount of pollutants, the elimination of pollutants 
or the alteration of the nature of pollutant properties in wastewater to a less harmful state prior to, 
or in lieu of, discharging or otherwise introducing such pollutants into the POTW through 
physical processes, biological processes, or by other processes or means, except as prohibited by 
40 CFR Section 403.6(d).  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 15 
031522 v2 

“Pretreatment facilities.” Wastewater treatment equipment, units, devices, facilities or 
portions thereof designed to provide pretreatment of wastewater. 

“Pretreatment program.” A federal, state and local program administered by the City of 
Tacoma that requires industrial and commercial sources of non-domestic wastewater to treat 
wastewater prior to discharging it to the POTW. 

“Pretreatment interlocal agreement.”  An interlocal agreement entered into by and 
between the City and the City of Tacoma governing the conditions upon which the City of 
Tacoma will accept wastewater from the City and requiring that the City implement pretreatment 
standards and requirements in the City that are no less stringent and are as broad in scope as the 
City of Tacoma’s applicable standards and requirement. 

“Pretreatment requirements.” Any substantive or procedural requirement related to 
pretreatment of wastewater, other than a pretreatment standard imposed on an industrial user.  

“Pretreatment standard.” Any regulation containing pollutant limitations promulgated by 
the EPA in accordance with Section 307(b) and(c) of the Federal Clean Water Act or 
promulgated by the Washington State Department of Ecology in accordance with Chapter 90.48 
RCW which applies to industrial users. The term includes prohibited discharge limits established 
pursuant to 40 CFR Section 403.5 and other standards, BMPs, local limits, and specific 
prohibitions established by the Control Authority. See also, definition of “Applicable 
pretreatment standard.”  

“Private side sewer” and “side sewer.” The sewage conveyance pipe owned by the 
property owner that extends from approximately two feet outside of a building or structure to the 
connection at the municipal wastewater system. In most circumstances, a portion of the private 
side sewer/side sewer extends into public streets or alleys connecting to the public sewer main. 

 “Publication” shall mean publication as set forth in RCW 4.28.100 and 4.28.110 as now, 
or may be hereafter amended.  

“Regulation” or “City regulation” means and includes any of the following: 
A. Any title, chapter, section, or subsection of the FMC, as now or may be hereafter 

amended, renumbered, or recodified, that is by law made subject to enforcement under the 
provisions of this chapter; 

B. All standards, regulations, rules, requirements, and procedures, and any amendments 
thereto, adopted or promulgated by the City Council, or by a City officer pursuant to or under 
authority of the FMC or state law, that are by law made subject to enforcement under the 
provisions of this chapter;  

C. The terms and conditions of any project permit or approval issued or granted by the 
City pursuant to or under authority of the FMC or state law, that are by law made subject to 
enforcement under the provisions of this chapter;  

D. The terms and conditions of any order, compliance order, permit, or license issued or 
granted by a City official pursuant to or under authority of the FMC or state law, that are by law 
made subject to enforcement under the provisions of this chapter; and 

E. The terms and conditions of any concomitant or development agreement, with the 
City, and any amendments thereto, which has been issued, granted or authorized by the City 
pursuant to provisions of the FMC or state law, that are by law made subject to enforcement 
under the provisions of this chapter. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 16 
031522 v2 

“Remediate” means to restore to a condition that complies with the development code or, 
for sites that have been degraded upon prior ownerships, to restore to a condition that does not 
pose a probable threat to the environment or to the public health, safety, or welfare. 

“Repeat violation” means, as evidenced by the prior issuance of a correction notice, 
compliance order, a notice of violation or a notice of civil infraction, that a violation has 
occurred on the same development site, property, premises, or structure within a two-year period, 
or the responsible person has committed a violation elsewhere within the City within a two-year 
period. To constitute a repeat violation, the violation need not be the same type of violation as 
the prior violation.  

“Responsible person.” Any person made responsible for compliance with the provisions 
of this chapter, any regulations established pursuant to this chapter, or any conditions of a permit, 
authorization or approval made or given pursuant to this chapter. Responsible persons are 
generally set forth at FMC 20.30.020.B. 

“Reverse distributor.” Any person that receives and accumulates prescription 
pharmaceuticals that are potentially creditable hazardous waste pharmaceuticals for the purpose 
of facilitating or verifying manufacturer credit. Any person, including forward distributors, third-
party logistics providers, and pharmaceutical manufacturers, that processes prescription 
pharmaceuticals for the facilitation or verification of manufacturer credit is considered a reverse 
distributor. 

“Septic tank waste” or “Domestic septage.” Liquid or solid material removed from a 
septic tank, cesspool, holding tank, or a similar system that receives only domestic waste 
(household, non-commercial, non-industrial sewage). 

“Side Sewer and Sanitary Sewer Availability Manual.” Refers to the most recent version 
of the Side Sewer and Sanitary Sewer Availability Manual as adopted or amended by the 
Tacoma City Council. 

 “Significant industrial user” means: 
A. All industrial users subject to categorical pretreatment standards under 40 CFR 403.6 

and 40 CFR Chapter I, Subchapter N; and 
B. Any other industrial user that discharges an average of 25,000 gpd or more of process 

wastewater to the POTW (excluding domestic, noncontact cooling and boiler blowdown 
wastewater); or contributes a process wastestream which makes up five percent (5%) or more of 
the average dry weather hydraulic or organic capacity of the POTW; or is designated as such by 
the Control Authority on the basis that the industrial user has a reasonable potential for adversely 
affecting the POTW’s operation; or for violating any pretreatment standard or requirement (in 
accordance with 40 CFR 403.8(F)(6), as found in 55 FR 30128, July 24, 1990). 

“Slug discharge.” Any discharge of a non-routine, episodic nature, including but not 
limited to an accidental spill or a non-customary batch discharge, which has a reasonable 
potential to cause interference or pass through, or in any other way violate the POTW’s 
regulations, local limits, or Permit conditions. This includes a discharge which exceeds the 
hydraulic or design of an industrial user’s treatment system or any part of the treatment unit. 

“Stop-Use Order” means a compliance order, or that part of a compliance order, directing 
the responsible person to immediately cease and desist a use identified in the order.  

“Stop-Work Order” means a compliance order, or that part of a compliance order, 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 17 
031522 v2 

directing the responsible person to immediately cease and desist, and/or to take, certain action 
identified in the order. 

 “Stormwater.” That portion of precipitation, including snowmelt, that does not naturally 
percolate into the ground or evaporate, but flows via overland flow, interflow, pipes, and other 
features of a stormwater drainage system into a receiving water or stormwater facility.  

“Supplemental fees.” Expenses and costs the Control Authority incurs to address and 
respond to a violation of Chapter 20.30 FMC, and which shall include, but not be limited to: (i) 
personnel costs, both direct and indirect; (ii) costs to investigate, contain, and abate the 
discharge, including cleaning up any contamination caused by the discharge that may be present 
within the POTW, at the point of discharge, or in the receiving environment; (iii) costs to 
respond to a discharge causing pass through or interference; (iv) costs to document and enforce a 
violation of Chapter 20.30 FMC; (v) costs to hire a contractor(s) or consultant(s) to respond to 
such violations; (vi) laboratory costs and analytical expenses; (vii) costs for equipment, 
materials, and supplies; (viii) mobilization, transportation, treatment, storage, and disposal costs; 
(ix) attorney’s fees, when authorized; (x) costs required for printing or mailings; and (xi) costs to 
collect unpaid supplemental fees. 

“Tampering” or “tamper.” Any action taken to alter, bypass, damage, or disable a 
monitoring device that would render it inaccurate. 

“Threatened discharge.” The existence of any condition or practice which reasonably 
could be expected to lead to an unauthorized discharge of wastewater, that may present an 
imminent danger or threat to the health and welfare of persons or the environment, or that 
threatens to interfere with the operation of the POTW. 

“Total suspended solids” or “TSS.” Solids that either float on the surface of or are 
suspended in water, sewage, or other liquid, and which are removable by laboratory filtering in 
accordance with procedures approved in 40 CFR Part 136, as amended.  

“Toxic pollutant.” Any pollutant or combination of pollutants listed as toxic in 
regulations promulgated by the Administrator of the EPA under Section 307(a) of the Federal 
Clean Water Act or as otherwise listed in 40 CFR Part 122, Appendix D. 

“Upset.” An exceptional incident in which there is unintentional and temporary 
noncompliance with the applicable pretreatment standards because of factors beyond the 
reasonable control of the industrial user. The term “upset” does not include noncompliance to the 
extent it is caused by operational error, improperly designed treatment facilities, inadequate 
treatment facilities, lack of preventive maintenance, or careless or improper operation thereof. 

“Violation” means an act or omission proscribed by a provision of a regulation, which act 
or omission is by law made subject to enforcement under the provisions of this chapter.  

 “Wastewater” or “Wastestream.” Liquid and water-carried industrial wastes, holding 
tank waste, and domestic wastes from residential dwellings, commercial buildings, industrial and 
manufacturing facilities, and institutions, whether treated or untreated. 

“Written instrument” means any paper, document, or other instrument containing written 
or printed matter or its equivalent, or any stamp, seal, certification, trademark, or other evidence 
or symbol of value, right, privilege, or identification. 
 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 18 
031522 v2 

GENERAL SEWER USE REQUIREMENTS 
 
20.30.100 Prohibited discharge standards.  

A. General Prohibitions. No industrial user shall introduce to the municipal wastewater 
system any pollutant which causes pass through or interference. These general prohibitions apply 
to all industrial users of the municipal wastewater system whether they are subject to 
pretreatment standards, or any other national, state, or local pretreatment requirements.  

B. Specific prohibitions. No industrial user shall introduce or cause to be introduced to 
the municipal wastewater system the following substances or combination of substances: 

  1. Any substance which either alone or by interaction with other substances create 
a fire or explosive hazard in the municipal wastewater system or POTW, including, but not 
limited to wastestreams with a closed-cup flashpoint of less than 140 degrees Fahrenheit 
(60 degrees Celsius) using the test method specified in 40 CFR Section 261. The discharge 
restrictions and prohibitions of dangerous waste regulations set forth in Chapter 173-303 
WAC shall apply to discharges under this chapter;   
  2. Wastewater having a pH of less than 5.0, or more than 11.0, or any wastewater 
capable of causing corrosive structural damage to the municipal wastewater system or 
POTW or equipment except as authorized by an industrial wastewater discharge permit, 
special approved discharge authorization, or other control mechanism issued by the Control 
Authority;  

3. Solid or viscous pollutants or substances in amounts which cause obstruction to 
the flow in the municipal wastewater system or POTW or other interference;   

4. Petroleum oil, nonbiodegradable cutting oil, or products of mineral oil origin, 
in amounts that will cause pass through or interference;  

5. Any pollutant, including oxygen-demanding pollutants released in a discharge 
at a flow rate and/or concentration which will cause interference;  

6. Wastewater that exceeds 100 degrees Fahrenheit. The Control Authority may 
authorize a discharge above 100 degrees Fahrenheit if it determines such discharge will 
not cause interference or influent temperature at the POTW treatment plant to exceed 104 
degrees Fahrenheit.  

7. Pollutants which result in the presence of toxic gases, vapors, or fumes within 
the municipal wastewater system or POTW in a quantity which may cause acute worker 
health and safety problems or pollutants which alone or in combination with other 
pollutants, or by interaction with other wastes, are sufficient to create a public nuisance or 
hazard to life or are sufficient to prevent or interfere with entry into the municipal 
wastewater system or POTW for maintenance and repair;  

8. Trucked or hauled pollutants, except at discharge points as authorized by an 
industrial wastewater discharge permit, special approved discharge authorization, or other 
control mechanism issued by the Control Authority, as set forth in this chapter; 

9. Wastewater which contains grease or oil or any other substances that will 
solidify or become discernibly viscous at temperatures between thirty-two degrees (32°) 
Fahrenheit (0° Celsius) and one hundred fifty degrees (150°) Fahrenheit (65.5° Celsius); 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 19 
031522 v2 

10. Wastewater generated as a result of wastes pumped from gravity grease 
interceptors, hydromechanical grease interceptors, or grease traps, sand-oil separators or 
other storage tanks or treatment units without the approval of the Control Authority; 

11. Wastewater which imparts color to the POTW’s effluent such as, but not 
limited to, dye wastes and vegetable tanning solutions;  

12. Wastewater containing radioactive wastes or isotopes except in compliance 
with applicable state or federal regulations;  

13. Medical wastes that cause or contribute to pass through or interference; 
14. Unless approved by the Control Authority under extraordinary circumstances, 

such as lack of direct discharge alternatives or need to augment sewage flows due to 
septic conditions (as required under WAC 173-216-050): 

a. Non-contact cooling water in significant volumes; 
b. Stormwater or other direct inflow sources; and 

 c. Wastewater significantly affecting system hydraulic loading, which 
does not require treatment or would not be afforded a significant degree of 
treatment by the POTW; 
15. Any substance that causes the Control Authority to violate its NPDES 

Permit(s) or applicable federal or state water quality standards;  
16. Sludge, screenings, or other residues from the pretreatment of industrial 

wastes or from industrial processes except as authorized by an industrial wastewater 
discharge permit, special approved discharge authorization, or other control mechanism 
issued by the Control Authority; 

17. Any slug discharge;  
18. Any substance which may cause the POTW’s effluent or treatment residues, 

sludge or sludge products or scums, to be unsuitable for reclamation or reuse, or which 
otherwise interferes with the reclamation process;  

19. Any discharge containing a substance which is regulated under Chapter 173-
303 WAC, unless authorized by an industrial wastewater discharge permit, special 
approved discharge authorization, or other control mechanism issued by the Control 
Authority. Control mechanisms issued under this subsection shall comply with applicable 
discharge requirements set forth in Chapter 173-303 WAC; and 

20. Any pesticides, herbicides, or fungicides that cause or contribute to pass 
through, interference or negative impact to the POTW. Industrial users shall not 
discharge wastewater to the municipal wastewater system that is generated from the 
rinsing of any container that contains or contained any concentrated or formulated 
pesticide, herbicide or fungicide unless approved by the Control Authority.  

  C. Hazardous waste pharmaceuticals. Healthcare facilities that generate, accumulate or 
otherwise handle hazardous waste pharmaceuticals, and reverse distributors engaged in the 
management of prescription hazardous waste pharmaceuticals, shall not discharge 
pharmaceuticals to the municipal wastewater system or POTW which are listed as hazardous 
waste under the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq., and 
its implementing regulations), or which are regulated as hazardous waste under the same law 
based on the characteristics of ignitability, corrosivity, reactivity, or toxicity. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 20 
031522 v2 

D. Storage. No chemicals, materials, or other substances, including but not limited to, 
paints, solvents, boiler or water treatment chemicals, sludges, chemicals, or wastes shall be 
stored in proximity to a floor drain or other openings used to collect and convey, directly or 
indirectly, wastewater to the municipal wastewater system unless secondary containment is 
provided. The requirement for secondary containment is waived if physical barriers exist that 
will prevent entry of chemicals, materials, or other substances to floor drains or other openings 
used to collect and convey wastewater.  

E. Dilution prohibited. Dilution is prohibited as a substitute for wastewater treatment 
except where authorized by an applicable pretreatment standard or requirement. No industrial 
user shall ever increase the use of process water, or in any other way attempt to dilute a 
discharge as a partial or complete substitute for adequate treatment to achieve compliance with a 
pretreatment standard or requirement. The Control Authority may impose mass limitations on 
industrial users which are using dilution to meet applicable pretreatment standards or 
requirements, or in other cases where the imposition of mass limitations is appropriate. 

F. Local limits. 
1. No industrial user issued an industrial wastewater discharge permit shall discharge, 

or cause to be discharged, wastewater containing pollutants that exceed the following limits: 
 

Table 20.30.100.F - 1 

Pollutant 

Daily Maximum 
Discharge Limits(a) for 
IUs discharging to 
Central Treatment Plant 

Arsenic 0.23 
Cadmium 0.103 
Chromium 4.74 
Copper 1.46 
Lead 0.427 
Mercury 0.033 
Molybdenum 0.55 
Nickel 1.12 
Selenium 0.14 
Silver 0.64 
Zinc 2.44 
5-Day Biochemical Oxygen 
Demand (BOD5), lbs/day(b) No Limit 

Total Suspended Solids 
(TSS), lbs/day(b) No Limit 

Ammonia, lbs/day(b) 5,082.6 
Bis-2(ethylhexyl)phthalate No Limit 

 
(a) All Pollutants as Total and in mg/L unless otherwise specified. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 21 
031522 v2 

(b) This limit is the total mass in pounds per day (lbs/day) that are available to allocate to all 
significant industrial users and other designated and permitted non-significant industrial users. 
 

G. The Control Authority may implement local limits through allocation of the Maximum 
Allowable Industrial Load to significant industrial users and specific permitted non-significant 
industrial users that correspond to the uniform concentration local limits shown in table 
20.30.100.F - 1.  

H. The following limits shall apply to wastewaters that are discharged from: 
1. Groundwater cleanup of petroleum or gasoline underground storage tanks or 

other remediation wastewaters containing these pollutants; 
2. Discharges where one or more of these pollutants are present; or 
3. Where these pollutants are appropriate surrogates. 

It shall be unlawful for any industrial user to discharge or cause to be discharged any waste or 
wastewater to the municipal wastewater system that exceeds the following limits: 
 

Table 20.30.100.H - 1 
Pollutant Daily Maximum 

Limit (mg/L) 
Benzene 0.050 
BTEX 0.750 

 
I. The Control Authority may establish more stringent pollutant limits, additional site-

specific pollutant limits, best management practices, or additional pretreatment requirements 
when, in the judgment of the Control Authority, such limitations, practices or requirements are 
reasonably necessary to ensure compliance with the provisions of this chapter. 
 
20.30.110 Categorical pretreatment standards. 

A. Industrial users shall comply with the categorical pretreatment standard(s) found at 40 
CFR Chapter I, Subchapter N, Parts 405-471.  

B. Where a categorical pretreatment standard is expressed only in terms of either the 
mass or the concentration of a pollutant in wastewater, the Control Authority may impose 
equivalent concentration or mass limits in accordance with this section and 40 CFR Part 
403.6(c). 

C. When categorical pretreatment standards are expressed only in terms of a mass of 
pollutant per unit of production, the Control Authority may convert the limits to equivalent 
limitations expressed either as mass of pollutant discharged per day or effluent concentration 
when calculating effluent limitations applicable to individual industrial users. The industrial user 
shall supply appropriate actual or projected long-term production rates for the unit of production 
specified in order to facilitate this process pursuant to 40 Part CFR 403.6(c)(2), as required by 
the Control Authority. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 22 
031522 v2 

D. The Control Authority may allow wastewater subject to a categorical pretreatment 
standard to be mixed with other wastewaters prior to treatment. In such cases, the industrial user 
shall identify all categorically regulated wastestreams and provide sufficient information for each 
non-categorical wastestream to determine whether it should be considered dilute for each 
pollutant. In such situations, the Control Authority shall apply the appropriate formula as found 
at 40 CFR Part 403.6(e) to determine appropriate limits. 

E. Equivalent mass limits.  
  1. When a categorical pretreatment standard is expressed only in terms of 
pollutant concentrations, an industrial user may request that the Control Authority convert 
the limits to equivalent mass limits. The determination to convert concentration limits to 
mass limits is within the discretion of the Control Authority. The Control Authority may 
establish equivalent mass limits if the industrial user meets all of the following conditions: 

a. Employ, or demonstrate that it will employ, water conservation methods and 
technologies that substantially reduce water use during the term of its control 
mechanism; 
b. Currently use control and treatment technologies adequate to achieve 
compliance with the applicable categorical pretreatment standard, and not have 
used dilution as a substitute for treatment; 
c. Provide sufficient information to establish the facility’s actual average daily 
flow rate for all waste streams, based on data from a continuous effluent flow 
monitoring device, as well as the facility’s long-term average production rate. 
Both the actual average daily flow rate and the long-term average production rate 
must be representative of current operating conditions; 
d. Not have daily flow rates, production levels, or pollutant levels that vary so 
significantly that, in the judgement of the Control Authority, are not appropriate for 
application of equivalent mass limits; and 
e. Demonstrate that it has consistently complied with all applicable categorical 
pretreatment standards during the period prior to the industrial user’s request for 
equivalent mass limits. 

 2. An industrial user subject to equivalent mass limits shall: 
a. Maintain and effectively operate control and treatment technologies adequate to 
achieve compliance with the equivalent mass limits; 
b. Continue to record the facility’s flow rates by a continuous effluent flow 
monitoring device; 
c. Continue to record the facility’s production rates; 
d. Notify the Control Authority if production rates are expected to vary by more 
than twenty percent (20%) from the submitted baseline production rates. The 
Control Authority may reassess and revise equivalent limits as necessary to reflect 
changed conditions; and 
e. Continue to employ the same or comparable water conservation methods and 
technologies so long as it discharges under its equivalent mass limit. 

 3. Equivalent mass limits: 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 23 
031522 v2 

a. Shall not exceed the product of the actual average daily flow rate of the 
regulated process(es) of the industrial user and the applicable concentration-based 
daily maximum and monthly average standards (and the appropriate unit 
conversion factor); 
b. Shall, upon notification of a revised production rate, be reassessed and 
recalculated as necessary to reflect changed conditions at the facility; and  
c. May be retained in subsequent industrial wastewater discharge permits if the 
industrial user’s actual average daily flow rate was reduced solely as a result of 
the implementation of water conservation methods and technologies, and the 
actual average daily flow rates used in the original calculation of the equivalent 
mass limit were not based on the use of dilution as a substitute for treatment 
pursuant to FMC 20.30.100.E. The industrial user shall also be in compliance 
with 40 CFR Section 403.17. 

F. The Control Authority may convert the mass limits of the categorical pretreatment 
standards at 40 CFR parts 414, 419, and 455 to concentration limits for purposes of calculating 
limitations applicable to individual industrial users. When converting such limits to 
concentration limits, the Control Authority must use the concentrations listed in the applicable 
subparts of 40 CFR parts 414, 419, and 455 and document that dilution is not being substituted 
for treatment as prohibited by this chapter. 

G. Equivalent limitations are deemed pretreatment standards for the purposes of this 
chapter and Section 307(d) of the Federal Clean Water Act. The Control Authority must 
document how the equivalent limits were derived and make this information publicly available. 
Once incorporated into its industrial wastewater discharge permit, an industrial user shall comply 
with the equivalent limitations in lieu of the promulgated categorical standards from which the 
equivalent limitations were derived. 

H. When a categorical pretreatment standard specifies one limit for calculating maximum 
daily discharge limitations and a second limit for calculating maximum monthly average, or 4-
day average, the same production or flow figure shall be used in calculating both the average and 
the maximum equivalent limitation. 

I. Any industrial user operating under an industrial wastewater discharge permit that 
incorporates equivalent mass or concentration limits calculated from a production-based standard 
shall notify the Control Authority within two (2) business days after the industrial user has a 
reasonable basis to know that the production level will significantly change within the next 
calendar month. Any industrial user that fails to notify the Control Authority of such anticipated 
change will be required to meet the mass or concentration limits in its control mechanism that 
were based on the original estimate of the long-term average production rate. 
 
20.30.120 State requirements. 

A. All pollutants discharged from a commercial or industrial operation to the municipal 
wastewater system shall satisfy all applicable requirements set forth in Chapter 173-216 WAC.  

B. Any person who constructs or modifies or proposes to construct or modify wastewater 
treatment facilities shall comply with the submittal requirements set forth in Chapter 173-240 
WAC.  No person may commence construction or modification of a wastewater treatment 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 24 
031522 v2 

facility covered under Chapter 173-340 WAC without first submitting engineering reports and 
plans and specifications to the Control Authority for its review and written acceptance.  The 
Control authority, acting as an agent of the City, is authorized as a delegated unit of local 
government under RCW 90.48.110(2) to review such submittals. 

C. Industrial users shall apply to the Control Authority for an industrial wastewater 
discharge permit at least ninety (90) days prior to the discharge of any pollutants other than 
domestic wastewater, or wastewater the Control Authority has determined to be similar in 
character and strength to domestic wastewater, and that there is no potential for such discharge to 
adversely affect the POTW. 

D. All significant industrial users shall apply for, obtain, and maintain compliance with, 
an industrial wastewater discharge permit from the Control Authority, or approval of the Control 
Authority of a transfer of an existing permit to the industrial user, prior to discharging pollutants. 

E. Claims of confidentiality shall be governed by FMC 20.30.910. 
F. Applicants for a new industrial wastewater discharge permit, or permit reissuance or 

modification, which allows a new or increased pollutant loading shall publish notice for each 
application in the format provided by the Control Authority, and in accordance with the public 
notice requirements set forth in FMC 20.30.470.  

G. The Control Authority may require the applicant to also mail this public notice to 
persons who have expressed an interest in being notified, and to state agencies and local 
governments with a regulatory interest, and to post the public notice on the facility. If the Control 
Authority determines there is sufficient public interest, it will hold a public meeting following 
the requirements of WAC 173-216-100. The Control Authority may, in its discretion, assume 
responsibility for public notice requirements for any applicant, and may waive the requirements 
of this section for any industrial user who is not classified as a significant industrial user. 

H. Discharge restrictions set forth in Chapter 173-303 WAC (Dangerous Waste) shall 
apply to all industrial users. 

I. All required monitoring data shall be analyzed by a laboratory registered or accredited 
under the provisions of Chapter 173-50 WAC, except for flow, temperature, settleable solids, 
conductivity, pH, turbidity, and internal process control parameters. However, if the laboratory 
analyzing samples for conductivity, pH, or turbidity must otherwise be accredited, it shall also be 
accredited for these parameters. 
 
20.30.130 AKART. 
Industrial users shall apply all known, available, and reasonable methods of prevention, control 
and treatment to wastewater discharges as required by Chapter 90.48 RCW.  
 
20.30.140 Industrial user survey form. 
Any person whose activities may, in the judgement of the Control Authority, be a source of 
nondomestic wastewater to the municipal wastewater system shall, upon request of the Control 
Authority, complete and submit an industrial user survey form. Industrial users who seek to 
modify or increase an existing discharge of a nondomestic waste stream to the municipal 
wastewater system shall submit an updated industrial user survey form to the Control Authority 
prior to modifying or increasing its discharge. Accurate completion of the industrial user survey 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 25 
031522 v2 

form is a condition of initial and continued discharge to the municipal wastewater system. 
Information contained within the industrial user survey form shall be used by the Control 
Authority to categorize a business operation and determine the proper level of regulation under 
this chapter, including whether an industrial user is a significant industrial user. Failure to 
comply with this section is a violation of this chapter subject to the enforcement provisions of 
FMC 20.30.1200.  
 
20.30.150 Payment of rates and fees. 
Persons regulated by this chapter shall pay the applicable rates and fees as set forth in this 
chapter. 
 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 26 
031522 v2 

PRETREATMENT AND MONITORING FACILITIES 
20.30.200  Treatment required.  
An industrial user shall provide wastewater treatment. Such treatment shall comply with this 
chapter and shall also achieve compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local 
pretreatment standards and requirements, within the time limitations specified by the EPA, the 
Washington State Department of Ecology, or the Control Authority, whichever is more stringent. 
The wastewater treatment can be obtained by physical process, biological process, or by other 
process or means, except as prohibited by 40 CFR Section 403.6(d). Appropriate pretreatment 
technology includes control equipment, such as equalization tanks or facilities, for protection 
against surges or slug discharges that might interfere with or otherwise be incompatible with the 
POTW. Where wastewater from a regulated process is mixed in an equalization facility with 
unregulated wastewater or with wastewater from another regulated process, the effluent from the 
equalization facility must meet an adjusted pretreatment limit calculated in accordance with 40 
CFR Section 403.6(e). Any pretreatment facilities necessary for compliance with this chapter 
shall be provided, operated and maintained at the industrial user’s expense and satisfy applicable 
requirements for content, review and acceptance of engineering reports, plans and specifications 
for construction and modification of pretreatment facilities, including an operation and 
maintenance manual as set forth in Chapter 173-240 WAC.  
The Control Authority may, in its sole discretion, waive the requirement for a three-step 
submission of documents and require instead conceptual plans with such information from the 
engineering report and operation manual that the Control Authority determines will demonstrate 
compliance with this chapter. Construction or modification of a pretreatment facility shall not 
commence until engineering reports, plans and specifications for the project have been submitted 
to and approved by the Control Authority. Unless waived by the Control Authority, such reports 
shall be prepared under the supervision of, and bear the seal of, a professional engineer licensed 
in accordance with Chapter 18.43 RCW. The review and acceptance of the engineering reports, 
plans and specifications, and operation and maintenance manual, shall in no way relieve the 
industrial user from its obligation to comply with the provisions of this chapter, including 
modification of its pretreatment facility as necessary to produce a discharge acceptable to the 
Control Authority under the provisions of this chapter.  
 
20.30.210 Proper operation and maintenance. 
Industrial users shall, at all times, properly operate and maintain all facilities and systems of 
treatment and control (and related appurtenances) which are installed or used by the industrial 
user. This provision requires the operation of back-up or auxiliary facilities or similar systems 
which are installed by an industrial user when the operation is necessary to achieve or assure 
compliance with conditions of its industrial wastewater discharge permit. Calibration of meters 
and monitoring equipment shall be performed in accordance with manufacturer specifications. 
 
20.30.220 Monitoring facilities. 
The Control Authority may require an industrial user to install at the industrial user’s expense, 
monitoring facilities or equipment that allow for the representative sampling and accurate 
observation of wastewater discharges. Whether constructed on public or private property, the 
monitoring facilities shall be constructed in accordance with the Control Authority’s 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 27 
031522 v2 

requirements and all applicable City construction standards and specifications. Monitoring 
equipment and structures shall be maintained in proper working order, calibrated as required by 
manufacturer’s specifications, and kept safe and accessible at all times for inspection by the 
Control Authority. The monitoring equipment shall be located and maintained on the industrial 
user’s premises outside of the building footprint unless otherwise approved by the Control 
Authority. The monitoring facility shall include an enclosure that can be locked during sampling 
or monitoring or other inspection with a lock provided by the Control Authority. When such a 
location would be impractical, the Control Authority may allow such facility to be constructed in 
the public street or easement area, with the approval of the City department having jurisdiction 
over street occupancy according to such terms and conditions as it may impose. No industrial 
user shall cover any manhole, sewer cleanout, or other openings in the wastewater collection 
system with earth, paving, or otherwise render it inaccessible. 
 
20.30.230 Operating pretreatment facilities. 
The Control Authority may require an industrial user to provide confirmation that treatment 
facility operators have been properly trained regarding treatment facility operation and 
maintenance (O&M) practices. 
 
20.30.240 Wastewater discharge control. 
The Control Authority may require an industrial user to restrict discharge during peak flow 
periods, designate that certain wastewater be discharged to the municipal wastewater system at 
designated locations, relocate and/or consolidate points of discharge, separate domestic waste 
streams from industrial waste streams, and require such other conditions as may be necessary to 
protect the POTW.  
 
20.30.250 Flow equalization. 
The Control Authority may require any industrial user discharging to the municipal wastewater 
system to install and maintain, on its property and at its expense, a suitable storage and flow 
control facility to ensure equalization of flow. An industrial wastewater discharge permit may be 
issued solely for flow equalization. 
 
20.30.260  Multi-tenant buildings. 
When more than one industrial user is able to discharge into a common service line, the Control 
Authority may require installation of separate monitoring equipment or structures for each 
industrial user. 
 
20.30.270 Flow, pH, LEL and other meters and equipment. 
If the Control Authority determines an industrial user is required to measure and report: (1) 
wastewater flow; (2) discharge process wastewaters necessitating continuous pH measurement; 
or (3) discharge wastewater that may contain flammable substances or other pollutants of 
concern, the Control Authority may require the industrial user to install and maintain, at the 
industrial user’s expense, approved meters and equipment. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 28 
031522 v2 

 
20.30.280 Tampering with water metering devices prohibited. 
No person shall install, change, bypass, adjust, remove, alter, or otherwise tamper with any water 
metering device or any piping arrangement connected to a metering device to show the quantity 
of water used at or discharged from the facility is more or less than the actual quantity used or 
discharged. 
 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 29 
031522 v2 

INDUSTRIAL WASTEWATER DISCHARGE PERMITTING 
 

20.30.300 Permits required. 
A. All significant industrial users proposing to connect to or discharge wastewater to the 

municipal wastewater system shall apply for and obtain an industrial wastewater discharge 
permit from the Control Authority. An existing significant industrial user that has filed a timely 
wastewater permit application in accordance with this chapter may continue to discharge if 
authorized by the Control Authority.  

B. The Control Authority may determine that an industrial user subject to categorical 
pretreatment standards under 40 CFR Section 403.6 and 40 CFR chapter I, subchapter N is a 
non-significant categorical industrial user rather than a significant industrial user on a finding 
that the industrial user never discharges more than 100 gallons per day (gpd) of total categorical 
wastewater (excluding sanitary, non-contact cooling and boiler blowdown wastewater, unless 
specifically included in the Pretreatment Standard) and the following conditions are met:  

1. The industrial user has consistently complied with all applicable categorical 
pretreatment standards and requirements; 

2. The industrial user annually submits the certification statement required in 
Section 6.14 B [see 40 CR 403.12(q)], together with any additional information necessary 
to support the certification statement; and 

3. The industrial user does not and never has discharged untreated concentrated 
wastewater to the municipal wastewater system. 
C. Upon finding that an industrial user meeting the criteria in subsection B above has no 

reasonable potential for adversely affecting the POTW’s operation or for violating any 
pretreatment standard or requirements, the Control Authority may, at any time, on its own 
initiative or in response to a petition received from an industrial user, and in accordance with 40 
CFR 403.8(f)(6), determine that such industrial user is not a significant industrial user.  
 
20.30.310 Industrial wastewater discharge permitting – Existing industrial users. 
An industrial user with an expiring industrial wastewater discharge permit shall apply for a new 
permit by submitting a complete permit application at least one hundred eighty (180) days prior 
to the expiration of the industrial user’s existing industrial wastewater discharge permit. The 
industrial user shall file a permit application on forms provided by the Control Authority 
containing the information required pursuant to this chapter. A permit application containing 
incomplete or inaccurate information will not be processed and will be returned to the industrial 
user for revision. 
 
20.30.320 Industrial wastewater discharge permitting – New sources and new industrial 
users. 
A new source or new industrial user proposing to begin or recommence a discharge to the 
municipal wastewater system and who is required to obtain an industrial wastewater discharge 
permit, special approved discharge authorization, or other control mechanism, shall submit an 
industrial wastewater discharge permit application to the Control Authority. A new source or 
new industrial user shall not discharge wastewater to the municipal wastewater system without 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 30 
031522 v2 

first receiving an industrial wastewater discharge permit, special approved discharge 
authorization, or other control mechanism issued by the Control Authority. Applications for an 
industrial wastewater permit shall be filed at least one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the 
desired date of discharge unless otherwise specified by the Control Authority, and include the 
information required pursuant to this chapter. A permit application containing incomplete or 
inaccurate information will not be processed and will be returned to the industrial user for 
revision. 
 
20.30.330 Industrial users. 
The Control Authority may require any industrial user to apply for and obtain an industrial 
wastewater discharge permit, a zero discharge industrial wastewater discharge permit, or other 
control mechanism with conditions necessary to assure compliance with this chapter.  
 
20.30.340 Industrial wastewater discharge permitting – Application contents. 

A. All industrial users required to obtain an industrial wastewater discharge permit shall 
apply by using a form provided by the Control Authority. Industrial users shall submit the 
following information as part of their permit application unless waived by the Control Authority:  

  1. Identifying Information. The industrial user shall submit the name and physical 
address of the facility, including the legal name and trade name, if any, of the owner(s), 
operator(s), duly authorized representative of the industrial user, and, if different than the 
duly authorized representative of the industrial user, the facility manager, and mailing 
address and contact information for each person listed;  
  2. Permits. The industrial user shall submit a list of any environmental permits 
held by or for the facility; 
  3. Description of Operations. The industrial user shall submit the following 
information regarding facility operations: (i) a brief description of the nature and average 
rate of production (including each product produced by type, amount, process, and rate of 
production); (ii) the Standard Industrial Classification(s) (SIC Code) and/or the NAICS 
Code that applies to each operation; (iii) a list of all raw materials and chemicals used 
(average and maximum rates) or stored at the facility that could be accidentally or 
intentionally discharged to the POTW; (iv) the number of employees and a general 
description of the duties they perform; (v) the hours of operation; (vi) a description of 
each product produced by type and amount, including the rate of production, and the 
process used for each product produced; (viii) the types of wastes generated on a routine 
and periodic basis; (ix) the times and durations when wastes will be discharged; and (x) 
sampling locations and provisions for monitoring discharges. The description shall also 
include a schematic process diagram showing each process step, wastestream, treatment 
step, internal recycling process, and points of discharge to the POTW. This diagram shall 
identify which wastestreams are subject to a categorical pretreatment standard. The 
industrial user shall also submit site plans, floor plans, mechanical and plumbing plans 
and details showing all sewers, sewer connections, floor drains, inspection manholes, and 
sampling chambers by size, location, and elevation; 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 31 
031522 v2 

  4. Flow Data. The industrial user shall submit information showing the estimated 
or actual measured average daily and maximum daily flow, in gpd, to the POTW from 
regulated process streams and other wastestreams, if necessary to allow the use of the 
combined wastestream formula set forth in 40 CFR 403.6(e);  
  5. Pollutant Data. The industrial user shall submit: (i) the categorical pretreatment 
standard applicable to each regulated process; (ii) the results of sampling and analysis, as 
required by the Control Authority, that identify the nature and concentration (or mass) of 
regulated pollutants in the discharge from each regulated process; and (iii) the estimated 
peak instantaneous, daily maximum and long-term average discharge concentrations (and 
mass) based on sampling results. All samples taken shall be representative of daily 
operations and shall conform to the sampling collection and analytical procedures 
outlined in FMC 20.30.800 and FMC 20.30.810 and applicable program guidance. Where 
an alternate concentration or mass limit has been calculated in accordance with 40 CFR 
403.6(e) for a categorical industrial user covered by a categorical pretreatment standard, 
this adjusted limit, along with supporting data, shall be submitted as part of the 
application; 
  6. Slug discharge control plan for significant industrial users as described in FMC 
20.30.670 shall be submitted. The Control Authority may require industrial users 
regulated under FMC 20.30.330 to also submit a slug discharge control plan; 
  7. A statement that the industrial user acknowledges, understands, and agrees that 
the permittee facility will be subject at reasonable times to inspections and gathering of 
samples by the Control Authority to determine whether an industrial user is complying 
with the requirements of this chapter and any industrial wastewater discharge permit or 
other control mechanism issued thereunder; 
  8. Other Information. Any other information the Control Authority deems 
necessary to prepare an industrial wastewater discharge permit; 
  9. Certification. The industrial user shall certify that the application was reviewed 
by an authorized representative of the industrial user in accordance with FMC 20.30.350; 
and 
  10. Incomplete Information. Incomplete or inaccurate information will not be 
processed and will be returned to the industrial user for revision.  

 
20.30.350 Certification requirements. 
All industrial wastewater discharge permit applications, including applications for transfer, 
modification or reissuance, industrial user reports, survey forms and any other submittals 
required by this chapter shall be signed by an authorized representative of the industrial user and 
contain at a minimum the following certification: 
 

“I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared 
under my direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that 
qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate the information submitted. Based on my 
inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly 
responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 32 
031522 v2 

knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant 
penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and 
imprisonment for knowing violations.”  

 
20.30.360 Special approved discharge authorization. 

A.  The Control Authority may, at its discretion, issue a special approved discharge 
authorization or other control mechanism for a short-term discharge to the municipal wastewater 
system, but in no event to exceed 365 days for each special approved discharge. Such 
authorizations may include discharge requirements, limitations, and conditions that the Control 
Authority determines are necessary to comply with this chapter. The Control Authority shall 
provide the industrial user with an application form that requires specific information and data to 
be provided to allow the Control Authority to evaluate and determine whether or not a special 
approved discharge to the municipal wastewater system will be authorized. The information and 
data required shall be provided to the Control Authority no later than thirty (30) days prior to the 
date that discharge is being proposed unless an alternative submittal date is authorized by the 
Control Authority. The fee established pursuant to Section 12.08B.250.A of the Tacoma 
Municipal Code, as now or may hereafter be amended, for a special approved discharge 
authorization is hereby adopted as the fee for a special approved discharge authorization.  The 
rate established pursuant to Section 12.08B.250.B of the Tacoma Municipal Code, as now or 
may hereafter be amended, for a special approved discharge is hereby adopted as the rate for a 
special approved discharge.  The Control Authority shall assess and collect applicable rates and 
fees. The Control Authority may revoke or suspend the special approved discharge authorization 
at its discretion. 

B.  The Control Authority may require a proposed or authorized discharger, at their 
cost, to gather representative samples for total suspended solids (TSS), biochemical oxygen 
demand (BOD), total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) or any other pollutants suspected to be 
present in the wastewater, stormwater or ground water.  The proposed or authorized discharger 
shall have such samples analyzed at a state accredited laboratory and submit the results to the 
Control Authority. The Control Authority will determine sampling frequency.  
 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 33 
031522 v2 

INDUSTRIAL WASTEWATER DISCHARGE PERMIT ISSUANCE 
 

20.30.400 Industrial wastewater discharge permit duration. 
An industrial wastewater discharge permit shall be issued for a specified period of time, not to 
exceed five (5) years from the effective date of the permit. An industrial wastewater discharge 
permit may be issued for a period of less than five (5) years at the discretion of the Control 
Authority. Each industrial wastewater discharge permit shall include an expiration date, subject 
to the provisions of FMC 20.30.450. Approval of a modification or transfer of an industrial 
wastewater discharge permit shall not modify the duration of the permit. 
 
20.30.410 Industrial wastewater discharge permit contents. 

A. Industrial wastewater discharge permits shall include conditions deemed necessary by 
the Control Authority to prevent pass through or interference, protect the quality of the water 
body receiving the treatment plant’s effluent, protect worker health and safety, protect against 
damage to the POTW, and satisfy the requirements of this chapter. 

B. Industrial wastewater discharge permits issued to significant industrial users and 
categorical industrial users shall contain all the conditions and information set forth below in 
FMC 20.30.410.B.1 – B.10; provided that, control mechanisms issued to other industrial users 
may contain some or all of the same conditions, as determined by the Control Authority to 
ensure compliance with this chapter:  

 1. The industrial wastewater discharge permit issuance date, expiration date, and 
effective date; 
 2. The legal name, and trade name if any, and address for corporate offices of the 
owner(s) and operator(s);  
 3. The name and contact information of the duly authorized representative of the 
industrial user, the mailing address at which such representative may receive notice(s) 
from the Control Authority, and the name and contact information for the facility 
manager, if different than the duly authorized representative of the industrial user;   
 4. A statement that the industrial wastewater discharge permit is nontransferable 
without prior notification to and approval by the Control Authority in accordance with 
FMC 20.30.430, and provisions for furnishing the new owner or operator with a copy of 
the existing industrial wastewater discharge permit; 
 5. A statement that the permittee facility is subject at reasonable times to inspections 
and gathering of samples by the Control Authority to determine whether an industrial 
user is complying with the requirements of this chapter and any industrial wastewater 
discharge permit or other control mechanism issued thereunder;  
 6. Effluent limits and best management practices based on applicable pretreatment 
standards and pretreatment requirements; 
 7. Self-monitoring, sampling, reporting, notification, and recordkeeping. These 
requirements shall, at a minimum include the pollutants to be monitored, sampling 
locations and sampling frequency, the sample type required to be monitored under this 
chapter, types of reports and when they are due, and the various notifications and when 
they are required;  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 34 
031522 v2 

 8. A statement of applicable enforcement remedies for violating the conditions in the 
industrial wastewater discharge permit, including pretreatment standards and 
requirements, and any applicable compliance schedule. Such schedule may not extend the 
time for compliance beyond that required by applicable federal, state, and local law; 
 9. Requirements to control slug discharges, including developing, updating, and 
implementing slug discharge control plans if determined by the Control Authority to be 
necessary; and 
10. Reapplication requirements. 
C. Industrial wastewater discharge permits may, as determined by the Control Authority, 

contain the following additional conditions: 
1. Limits on the average and/or maximum rate of discharge, time of discharge, and/or 

requirements for flow regulation and equalization; 
2. Requirements to install and maintain pretreatment facilities and technology, 

pollution control, including requirements to use best management practices to prevent 
accidental, unanticipated, or non-routine discharges, and construction of appropriate 
containment devices designed to reduce, eliminate, or prevent the introduction of 
pollutants into the POTW; 

3. Requirements to develop and implement waste minimization plans to reduce the 
amount of pollutants discharged to the POTW; 

4. Requirements to pay fees for administering the industrial wastewater discharge 
permit or industrial wastewater zero-discharge permit.  The annual fee established 
pursuant to Section 12.08B.330 of the Tacoma Municipal Code, as now or may hereafter 
be amended, for administering industrial wastewater discharge permits and industrial 
wastewater zero-discharge permits is hereby adopted as the monthly fixed fee for 
industrial wastewater discharge permits and industrial wastewater zero-discharge permits; 

5. Requirements to install and maintain inspection and sampling facilities and 
equipment, including flow measurement devices, and provide access to the Control 
Authority to conduct inspections and sampling at reasonable times; 

6. A statement that compliance with the industrial wastewater discharge permit does 
not relieve the permittee of responsibility for compliance with all applicable federal and 
state pretreatment standards, and local limits, including those which become effective 
during the term of the industrial wastewater discharge permit; and 

7. Other conditions determined by the Control Authority to ensure compliance with 
this chapter, including regulations issued by the Control Authority pursuant to this 
chapter, and applicable requirements set forth in federal and state laws and regulations. 

 
20.30.420 Industrial wastewater discharge permit modification. 

A. The Control Authority may amend any industrial wastewater discharge permit for 
good cause, including, but not limited to the following reasons: 

1. To incorporate any new or revised federal, state, or local pretreatment standards or 
requirements; 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 35 
031522 v2 

2. To address significant alterations or additions to the industrial user’s operation, 
processes, or wastewater volume or character after the industrial user’s industrial 
wastewater discharge permit is issued; 

3. To address a change in the municipal wastewater system or POTW that requires 
either a temporary or permanent reduction or elimination of the authorized discharge; 

4. To respond to information indicating that a permitted discharge poses a threat to 
the health and safety of the municipal wastewater system, or POTW, personnel and the 
public, and/or receiving waters; 

5. In response to a violation(s) of any term or condition of an industrial wastewater 
discharge permit; 

6. When an industrial user misrepresents or fails to fully disclose all relevant facts in 
the industrial wastewater discharge permit application, or in any report required under 
this chapter; 

7. When there is a revision of, or a variance is granted from, categorical pretreatment 
standards pursuant to 40 CFR 403.13;  

8. When there has been a change in the legal or trade name of the industrial user, the 
duly authorized representative of the industrial user, or the name of the facility manager, 
and the permittee has submitted a request for a modification of the permit; 

9. To correct typographical or other errors in the industrial wastewater discharge 
permit; and 

10. To reflect an approved transfer of the facility ownership or operation to a new 
owner or operator. 
B. The industrial user shall file a written request for a modification of an industrial 

wastewater discharge permit whenever there has been a change in the legal name or trade name 
of the industrial user or a change in the name or mailing address of the duly authorized 
representative or the industrial user or facility manager. The request shall be submitted to the 
Control Authority as soon as practicable but no later than 60 days following implementation of 
the change. A permit will be non-transferable and subject to revocation if such request is not 
timely filed.  

 
20.30.430 Industrial wastewater discharge permit transfer. 

A. Industrial wastewater discharge permits may be transferred to a new owner or operator 
subject to approval by the Control Authority. A permittee and new owner or operator seeking 
such transfer shall submit a joint or concurrent written request(s) to the Control Authority at least 
thirty (30) days in advance of the scheduled transfer date requesting the Control Authority to 
approve the transfer and modify the industrial wastewater discharge permit as needed to reflect 
the new owner or operator. Failure to provide a request for transfer in accordance with this 
section shall operate to revoke any and all rights granted under the industrial wastewater 
discharge permit to discharge to the municipal wastewater system effective as of the date of the 
facility transfer to the new owner or operator. The joint or concurrent request(s) to the Control 
Authority under this section shall (each) include a written certification by a duly authorized 
representative of permittee and the new owner or operator which: 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 36 
031522 v2 

1. States that there is no immediate intent to change the facility’s operations and 
processes; 

2. Identifies the specific date on which the facility transfer will occur;  
3. Identifies the legal name and trade name, if any, of the new owner and operator, 

and the address of its corporate offices;  
4. Identifies the name and contact information of the duly authorized representative of 

the new industrial user, the mailing address at which such representative may receive 
notice(s) from the Control Authority, and the name and contact information for the 
facility manager, if different than the duly authorized representative of the industrial user; 
and 

5. Acknowledges and agrees that:  
a. The new owner or operator has a legal, valid and binding obligation to comply 
with all requirements of the transferred industrial wastewater discharge permit;  
b. Such transfer is within the power and authority of the permittee and the new 
owner or operator without consent of any other party and has been authorized by 
all requisite corporate or partnership action on the part of the permittee and new 
owner or operator; 
c. Neither the transfer nor the Control Authority’s approval of the transfer shall 
relieve the permittee of any obligation or liability arising under the industrial 
wastewater discharge permit occurring prior to the transfer;  
d. The Control Authority waives none of its rights with respect to the permittee’s 
or the new owner’s or operator’s compliance with the terms and conditions of the 
permit; 
e. The Control Authority grants its approval of the transfer in reliance upon the 
representations, documents, and information provided by the permittee and new 
owner or operator in connection with the request for transfer; and that the 
approval of the transfer shall not in any way be deemed a representation by the 
Control Authority that the permittee or new owner or operator are in full 
compliance with the terms and conditions of the industrial wastewater discharge 
permit; and 
f. The facility is subject at reasonable times to inspections and gathering of 
samples by the Control Authority to determine whether an industrial user is 
complying with the requirements of this chapter and any industrial wastewater 
discharge permit or other control mechanism issued thereunder. 

 
20.30.440 Industrial wastewater discharge permit revocation. 

A. The Control Authority may revoke an industrial wastewater discharge permit or other 
control mechanism for cause, which includes, but is not limited to: 

1. Failure to notify the Control Authority of a new waste stream or any changes to 
wastewater loading and wastewater characteristics prior to discharging such waste 
stream;  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 37 
031522 v2 

2. Failure to notify the Control Authority of significant production changes, as 
required by FMC 20.30.640; 

3. Misrepresenting or failing to disclose all relevant facts in an industrial wastewater 
discharge permit application, report, or other submittal required under this chapter; 

4. Falsifying self-monitoring reports or certification statements; 
5. Tampering with monitoring equipment;  
6. Unreasonably refusing, or interfering with, entry by Control Authority authorized 

representatives seeking to conduct inspections and/or gather samples at the facility, as 
required by the industrial user’s industrial wastewater discharge permit or other control 
mechanism, or FMC 20.30.900;  

7. Failure to meet effluent limitations or the conditions in the industrial wastewater 
discharge permit or other control mechanism;  

8. Failure to pay monetary penalties imposed by the Control Authority, or 
supplemental fees it assesses; 

9. Failure to meet compliance schedules imposed by the Control Authority in an 
industrial wastewater discharge permit or other control mechanism; 

10. Cessation of operations; 
11. Failure to obtain the Control Authority’s approval under FMC 20.30.430 prior to 

transferring the facility to a new owner or operator; 
12. Failure to request a modification of an industrial wastewater discharge permit in 

accordance with FMC 20.30.420.B;  
13. Any violation of this chapter, including, a violation of any applicable pretreatment 

standard or requirement, or any term of an industrial wastewater discharge permit or 
control mechanism issued pursuant to this chapter;  

14. An error by the Control Authority in issuing an industrial wastewater discharge 
permit; and 

15. Discharging wastewater to the municipal wastewater system that does or is likely 
to:  

a. Cause pass through or interference;  
b. Cause the Control Authority to violate the terms of its NPDES Permit(s); or  
c. Pose a health and safety threat to City or Control Authority personnel or the 
public.  

B. An existing un-expired industrial wastewater discharge permit is deemed revoked on 
the effective date of a new industrial wastewater discharge permit issued for the same industrial 
user. 
 
20.30.450 Industrial wastewater discharge permit reissuance. 
An industrial user with an industrial wastewater discharge permit due to expire shall apply for an 
industrial wastewater discharge permit reissuance by submitting a complete permit application, 
in accordance with FMC 20.30.410, at least one hundred eighty (180) days prior to expiration of 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 38 
031522 v2 

the industrial user’s existing industrial wastewater discharge permit, unless the Control Authority 
approves a different submittal deadline.  
 
20.30.460   Industrial wastewater discharge permitting – Extra jurisdictional industrial 
users. 
A. The City may allow an industrial user located outside the City’s jurisdictional boundary to 
discharge industrial wastewater into the municipal wastewater system and POTW if the City of 
Tacoma determines that the POTW has available capacity and treatment capability and that there 
is legal authority to regulate and control such discharges pursuant to a pretreatment interlocal 
agreement between the contributing jurisdiction where the industrial user is located and the City 
of Tacoma as owner and operator of the POTW. Such agreement shall affix responsibilities in an 
enforceable manner to assure that the City of Tacoma’s Pretreatment Program is fully and 
equitably administered in all contributing jurisdictions and to ensure that the City of Tacoma has 
adequate legal authority to enforce pretreatment requirements.  
 
20.30.470 Public notice. 

A. Industrial users applying for an industrial wastewater discharge permit, or an industrial 
wastewater discharge permit reissuance or modification which allows a new or increased 
pollutant loading, shall publish notice for each application in a form provided and prescribed by 
the Control Authority, which shall conform to the requirements of WAC 173-216-090.  Public 
notice requirements shall not apply to reissuance of industrial wastewater discharge permits if 
there are no increases in volume or changes in the characteristics of discharge from those 
previously authorized. Publication, at applicant’s expense, shall be at least once each week, for 
two consecutive weeks, in a newspaper of general circulation in Pierce County.  

B. Public comment on permit applications will be accepted for a 30-day period following 
the second publication. If the Control Authority determines that there is a significant public 
interest, then the Control Authority shall hold a public hearing after the 30-day comment period, 
at a time and place deemed appropriate by the Control Authority. The Control Authority may 
require the applicant to mail the notice to persons who have expressed an interest in being 
notified. The Control Authority may also require the applicant to post the notice of the public 
hearing on the applicant’s facility. 

 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 39 
031522 v2 

REQUIRMENTS FOR FOOD SERVICE ESTABLISHMENTS, HAULED WASTE AND 
DENTAL FACILITIES 

 
20.30.500 Requirements for food service establishments. 

A. Best management practices for fats, oil and grease (FOG) for food service 
establishments. The BMPs set forth below establish requirements for owners and operators of 
any food service establishment that has the potential to discharge floatable or settleable material 
to the municipal wastewater system.  

1. Unless otherwise approved by the Control Authority, food service establishments 
shall install, and properly operate and maintain, a grease removal device in compliance 
with the requirements as set forth in this chapter, the Uniform Plumbing Code and 
Chapter 5 of the Side Sewer and Sanitary Sewer Availability Manual, which chapter is 
incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.  

2. Food service establishments shall not discharge or cause to be discharged to the 
municipal wastewater system any wastewater in violation of FMC 20.30.100.  

3. If the Control Authority determines at any time that an existing grease removal 
device is incapable of adequately retaining the floatable and settleable material, or if it 
was installed in such a manner that it cannot be inspected or properly maintained, the 
food service establishment shall install a grease removal device that complies with this 
chapter, and the requirements of the Uniform Plumbing Code and Chapter 5 of the  Side 
Sewer and Sanitary Sewer Availability Manual, within ninety (90) days after being 
notified by the Control Authority of such requirement unless an alternative schedule is 
approved by the Control Authority. 

4. General control requirements. The following general requirements apply to all food 
service establishments that install, or are required to install, a grease removal device. 

a. A grease removal device shall be required for the proper handling of liquid 
wastes which may be harmful to, or cause obstruction in, the POTW or cause or 
contribute to pass through or interference.  
b. It shall be the responsibility of the food service establishment and owner of the 
property to obtain any necessary permits from the appropriate regulatory authority 
prior to installing a grease removal device or modifying a facility’s plumbing 
system to accommodate the installation of a grease removal device. The timing of 
review and approval of any permits that may be required shall in no way relieve 
the food service establishment from the responsibility of producing a discharge 
that complies with the provisions of this chapter. 
c. The grease removal device shall be designed, sized, installed, maintained, and 
operated to accomplish the intended purpose of intercepting pollutants from the 
food service establishment’s wastewater and preventing the discharge of such 
pollutants to the municipal wastewater system, including pollutants that result in 
toxic, noxious, or malodorous conditions that create a public nuisance or unsafe 
working conditions, which endanger life or the environment. 
d. Upon change of ownership or operator of any existing food service 
establishment required to have an approved grease removal device under this 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 40 
031522 v2 

section, the applicant for sanitary sewer service shall have the burden to 
demonstrate that a properly sized, maintained, and functioning grease removal 
device is installed. 
e. All sinks connected to a grease removal device shall be equipped with a fixed 
or removable mesh or screen to catch garbage and food debris and prevent it from 
entering the grease removal device.  
f. The industrial user and food service establishment shall ensure all grease 
removal devices are easily accessible for inspection, cleaning, and removal of 
FOG.  
g. The food service establishment shall maintain grease removal devices at its 
expense to ensure the device operates as designed to remove accumulated FOG. 
All such maintenance shall meet the requirements under the uniform plumbing 
code as adopted, and amended, by the City. 
h. Food service establishments required to use and maintain a grease removal 
device shall maintain a written record every time the device is pumped, cleaned, 
or repaired. This record shall include the date, the name of the company that 
pumped, cleaned or repaired the device, and the amount of waste that was 
removed. Such records shall be maintained for a period of three (3) years, unless a 
longer retention period is specified in writing by the Control Authority, and shall 
be made available to the Control Authority upon request. The removed contents 
from any GGI and other approved grease removal devices shall be handled by a 
person licensed to haul such waste and shall be disposed of in accordance with 
applicable federal and state regulations and local ordinances.  

  5. Required maintenance.  
a. All grease removal devices shall be regularly cleaned so that the devices 
operate as designed to intercept fats, oil, and grease from the food service 
establishment’s wastewater and prevent the discharge of such materials into the 
municipal wastewater system. All grease removal devices shall be serviced in 
accordance with manufacturer instructions at a minimum of every ninety (90) 
days or more frequently if the combined thickness of the floating greases and 
settled solids is greater than 25% of the hydraulic working capacity of the grease 
removal device or if toxic, noxious, malodorous conditions create a public 
nuisance or endanger worker or public health. The Control Authority may require 
more frequent cleaning if the minimum cleaning period is inadequate to meet the 
purpose and intent of this chapter, or less frequent cleaning if the industrial user 
can demonstrate to the Control Authority’s satisfaction that less frequent cleaning 
is sufficient.  
b. Biological treatment or enzyme treatment shall not be a substitute for the 
servicing of a grease removal device. Use of enzymes or other chemical or 
biological treatment or product that emulsifies or acts to emulsify FOG is 
prohibited unless approved by the Control Authority. 
c. The food service establishment shall document the volume removed and the 
disposal of each pump-out with a waste manifest or disposal receipt, which shall 
be maintained by the food service establishment on site for at least three (3) years. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 41 
031522 v2 

The Control Authority may require food service establishments to submit that 
information electronically to the Control Authority. 

  6. Variance. 
a. A variance from the requirements of this section may be granted by the Control 
Authority when the installation of the required size GGI may be impractical due 
to limited space or other factors. The food service establishment may request a 
variance by submitting a proposed alternative grease removal system for attaining 
FOG protection for the POTW. The food service establishment shall demonstrate 
through data and other reliable information that the proposed alternative system, 
its overall design, including size and location, will satisfy and result in 
compliance with the intent, and discharge requirements, of this chapter. The 
design plans must be signed and sealed by a Washington State licensed 
professional engineer with experience in interceptor design. If approved, the 
design professional must certify that the site plan and the alternative grease 
removal system design meets the intent, and discharge requirements, of this 
chapter. In no case shall a variance result in violation of any pretreatment standard 
or requirement specified in this chapter and applicable to the discharge, cause or 
contribute to, an obstruction, pass through, or interference with the POTW. 
b. A variance may be revoked if the Control Authority determines, in its sole and 
reasonable discretion, that the food service establishment is in violation of the 
conditions set forth in the variance, the request for a variance was procured 
through fraud or materially false information, the reasons for granting the 
variance have materially changed, or the conditions set forth in the variance are 
inadequate to control specific pollutants as necessary to meet the purpose and 
intent of this chapter.   
c. If a variance is granted, the food service establishment shall implement the 
approved alternative grease removal system and any BMPs and other mitigation 
measures that may be specified by the Control Authority. These BMPs may 
include, but are not limited to:   

(1) Allowing the installation of a Hydromechanical Grease Interceptor 
(HMGI), or continuing to allow the use of a HMGI in lieu of installing a 
GGI, where the HMGI is shown to be effective. If a HMGI is not shown to 
be effective, the Control Authority may require the food service 
establishment to install a GGI; 

(2) A requirement that all sinks and drains which are connected to the 
POTW be equipped with a fixed or removable mesh or screen which shall 
catch garbage and food debris and prevent it from entering the POTW; 

(3) A requirement that biological treatment or enzyme treatment shall 
not be used unless approved by the Control Authority. Use of enzymes or 
other chemical or biological treatment or product that emulsifies or acts to 
emulsify FOG is prohibited; 

(4) If requested by the Control Authority, an employee training 
program on FOG waste management instituted by the food service 
establishment on a periodic basis and for all new employees; 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 42 
031522 v2 

(5) A requirement that the food service establishment clean its private 
side sewer quarterly to prevent the buildup of FOG or as otherwise 
specified by the Control Authority; and 

(6) A requirement that the food service establishment submit records 
of the private side sewer cleaning if requested by the Control Authority. 

 
20.30.510 Requirements for hauled waste. 
The direct or indirect discharge of holding tank waste to the municipal wastewater system is 
prohibited.  
 
20.30.520 Requirements for dental facilities. 

A. Best Management Practices for Dental Facilities. 
1. Applicability. These BMPs apply to dental dischargers. Dental dischargers are 

not significant industrial users unless designated as such by the Control Authority. Dental 
dischargers are not categorical industrial users. These BMPs do not apply to dental 
dischargers that: 

a. Exclusively practice one or more of the following dental specialties: oral 
pathology, oral and maxillofacial radiology, oral and maxillofacial surgery, 
orthodontics, periodontics, or prosthodontics;  
b. Discharge wastewater from a mobile unit operated by a dental discharger;  
c. Do not discharge any amalgam process wastewater to the municipal wastewater 
system or POTW (e.g., a dental discharger that collects dental amalgam process 
wastewater for transfer to a centralized waste treatment facility as defined in 40 
CFR Part 437); and 
d. Do not place or remove dental amalgam except in limited emergency or 
unplanned, unanticipated circumstances that are reported and certified to the 
Control Authority as required in 40 CFR Section 441.50. 

   2. Reporting. 
a. The duly authorized representative of a dental discharge facility shall submit a 
dental user survey and certification to the Control Authority on a form provided 
by the Control Authority. 
b. A new source dental discharger shall submit the dental user survey and 
certification within ninety (90) days of discharge to the sanitary sewer system.  
c. A dental discharger existing on the effective date of the ordinance adopting this 
chapter, shall submit the dental user survey and certification to the Control 
Authority by October 12, 2020. 
d. Exempt dental dischargers shall submit the dental user survey and certification 
by October 12, 2020, or within ninety (90) days of operation if a new facility. 

   3. Amalgam Separator Requirements. 
a. A new source dental discharger shall install, operate, and maintain an amalgam 
separator or device compliant with 40 CFR Section 441.30 prior to discharge to 
the POTW. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 43 
031522 v2 

b. All dental facilities that discharge amalgam process wastewater to the POTW 
shall install an amalgam separator or device and implement the required best 
management practices in accordance with this section. 
c. Existing source dental dischargers shall install, operate, and maintain an 
amalgam separator compliant with 40 CFR Section 441.30 by July 14, 2020. 
Existing facilities with non-compliant amalgam separators shall comply by June 
14, 2027, unless replaced earlier due to malfunction. 

   4. Amalgam Separator Required Best Management Practices. 
a. All amalgam separators required under this chapter shall meet and comply with 
the following BMPs: 

(1) The amalgam separator shall be compliant with 40 CFR Section 
441.30(1) and certified to meet at least a 95% solids removal efficiency as 
specified by federal or state regulations per 40 CFR Section 441.30(1)(i); 

(2) The amalgam separator shall allow the dental discharge facility to 
make direct observations as to the level of solids in the collection 
container, proper solid and liquid separation, and the condition of all 
plumbing connections; 

(3) The amalgam separator shall be installed so that all amalgam 
contaminated wastewater passes through the unit before being discharged 
to the municipal wastewater system; 

(4) The amalgam separator shall be installed so that it is accessible for 
cleaning and inspection; 

(5) The amalgam separator shall be serviced at a minimum of once 
every twelve (12) months, in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
instructions or more frequently if visual inspections indicate that the level 
of solids is at or over 85% of the recommended maximum level, 
whichever is more stringent; and 

(6) Amalgam waste removed from the amalgam separator shall be 
collected and handled in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions 
and applicable federal and state regulations, and local ordinances. 

b. Each dental discharge facility shall ensure dental amalgam wastestreams from 
chair side traps, screens, vacuum pump filters, dental tools, cuspidors, or 
collection devices discharge through an appropriate amalgam separator.  
c. Each dental discharge facility shall operate and maintain all equipment in 
accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. 
d. Each dental discharge facility shall use disinfecting line cleaners that are non-
acidic and non-oxidizing with a pH between 6-8 Standard Units. Prohibited 
cleaning chemicals include but are not limited to: bleach; chorine; iodine; and 
peroxide chemicals and other oxidizing cleaners. 
e. All water containing amalgam waste shall be plumbed through the amalgam 
separator. When cleaning, ensure all filters or traps are rinsed over sinks or drains 
that discharge to the amalgam separator.  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 44 
031522 v2 

f. The dental discharge facility shall not cause or contribute to pass through or 
interference, or violate FMC 20.30.100.  

  5. Record Keeping. All records required pursuant to this chapter shall be kept on 
site for a minimum of three (3) years, unless a longer retention period is specified in 
writing by the Control Authority, and shall be made available to the Control Authority as 
required by this chapter. Each dental discharge facility shall maintain records of: 

a. Amalgam disposal: Records shall include the date, name and address of the 
facility where amalgam waste is shipped, and the amount shipped; 
b. Visual inspections: Inspection logs shall include the date and time of the visual 
inspection, name and initials of person conducting the inspection, level of solids, 
maintenance needed, or other identified problems (e.g., leaks); and 
c. Amalgam separator: Records shall include all maintenance and service 
completed on the amalgam separator. 

  6. Business Modifications. The owner and operator of a dental discharge facility 
shall inform the Control Authority in writing prior to: 

a. Sale or transfer of ownership of the dental discharge facility; 
b. Change in the trade name under which the dental discharge facility is operated; 
c. Change in the nature of the services provided at the dental discharge facility 
that affects the potential to discharge amalgam; and 
d. Remodel of the dental discharge facility that may result in an increase in flow 
or pollutant loading or that otherwise requires the owner or operator of the dental 
discharge facility to submit plans or specifications for approval through a 
building, land use, permitting or zoning department, or any other formal approval 
process by the City. 

  7. Inspections and Data Collection. The Control Authority may conduct 
inspections as authorized by this chapter, and/or require an additional or updated dental 
user survey for any dental discharge facility.  
 

  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 45 
031522 v2 

REPORTING AND NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS 
 

20.30.600 Baseline monitoring reports. 
A. Within either one hundred eighty (180) days after the effective date of a categorical 

pretreatment standard, or the final administrative decision on a category determination under 40 
CFR 403.6(a)(4), whichever is later, existing industrial users currently discharging to or 
scheduled to discharge to the municipal wastewater system shall submit a report which contains 
the information listed in subsection B below. At least ninety (90) days prior to commencement of 
their discharge, the owners, operators, permittees, and facility managers of new sources and 
sources that become categorical industrial users subsequent to the promulgation of an applicable 
categorical pretreatment standard, shall submit to the Control Authority a report which contains 
the following:  

1. The information listed in subsection B below;  
2. The method of pretreatment intended to be used to meet applicable pretreatment 
standards; and 
3. Estimates of anticipated flow and quantity of pollutants to be discharged from 
regulated process streams and other non-process streams. 

B. Baseline monitoring reports shall include the following information: 
1. All information listed in FMC 20.30.340.A.1 through FMC 20.30.340.A.11; and 
2. Measurement of pollutants:  

a. The industrial users shall take a minimum of one (1) representative sample to 
compile the data necessary to comply with the requirements of this paragraph;  
b. Samples shall be taken immediately downstream from pretreatment facilities if 
such facilities exist or immediately downstream from the regulated processes if no 
pretreatment facilities exist. Industrial users shall measure the flows and 
concentrations necessary to allow use of the combined waste stream formula in 40 
CFR Section 403.6(e) if other wastewaters are mixed with the regulated 
wastewater prior to pretreatment. Where an alternate concentration or mass limit 
has been calculated in accordance with 40 CFR Section 403.6(e) this adjusted 
limit along with supporting data shall be submitted to the Control Authority. Both 
daily maximum and average concentrations (where determined) shall be reported; 
c. Sampling and analysis shall be performed in accordance with the sampling 
techniques described in this chapter and 40 CFR 136; 
d. The Control Authority may allow the submission of a baseline monitoring 
report which uses historical data only, provided the data is sufficient to determine 
the need for industrial pretreatment measures;  
e. The baseline report shall indicate the time, date, and place of sampling, and the 
methods of analysis. Industrial users shall certify that such sampling and analysis 
is representative of normal work cycles and expected pollutant discharges to the 
municipal wastewater system; and  
f. All baseline monitoring reports shall be certified in accordance with FMC 
20.30.350.  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 46 
031522 v2 

 
20.30.610 Compliance schedules. 

A. When a compliance schedule is granted by the Control Authority under FMC 
20.30.410.B.8, or other provision of this chapter, the following conditions shall apply: 

1. The schedule shall contain progress increments in the form of dates for the 
commencement and completion of major events leading to the construction and 
operation of additional pretreatment required for the industrial user to meet the 
applicable pretreatment standard. Such major events include, but are not limited to, 
hiring an engineer, completing preliminary and final plans, executing contracts for 
major components, commencing and completing construction, and beginning and 
conducting routine operations; 
2. No increment referred to in subsection A.1 above shall exceed nine (9) months. 
The date of final compliance shall not extend beyond the final compliance date 
established for the applicable pretreatment standard; 
3. The industrial user shall submit a progress report to the Control Authority no later 
than fourteen (14) days following each date in the schedule and the final date for 
compliance with the schedule. The industrial user shall report, at a minimum, whether 
or not it timely complied with progress increments to be met on such date and, if not, 
the date on which it expects to comply with such progress increments, the reason for 
the delay, and the steps being taken by the industrial user to return to the established 
schedule; and  
4. In no event shall more than nine (9) months elapse between submittal of progress 
reports to the Control Authority. 

 
20.30.620 Reports on compliance with categorical pretreatment standard deadline.  

A. Existing sources and new sources subject to a categorical pretreatment deadline shall 
submit a report to the Control Authority stating whether compliance has been achieved by the 
deadline date. An existing source shall submit a report within ninety (90) days after the final 
compliance date established by an applicable pretreatment standard. A new source shall submit a 
report within ninety (90) days after first discharging wastewater to the municipal wastewater 
system.  

B. Reports submitted by existing sources and new sources under this section shall contain 
the information described in FMC 20.30.340.A.1 through FMC 20.30.340.A.11, and indicate 
whether the applicable pretreatment standards are being met on a consistent basis. If the report 
indicates that the pretreatment standards are not being met on a consistent basis, the report shall 
state what additional operation and maintenance and/or pretreatment is necessary to bring the 
industrial user into compliance with the applicable pretreatment standards and requirements. 
Reports submitted under this section shall be certified in accordance with FMC 20.30.350. 
 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 47 
031522 v2 

20.30.630 Periodic self-monitoring reports. 
A. Any industrial user with an industrial wastewater discharge permit shall submit 

periodic self-monitoring reports to the Control Authority at dates specified in its industrial 
wastewater discharge permit. Such reports shall compile the results of all effluent sampling 
required by the industrial user’s industrial wastewater discharge permit during the previous 
reporting period. At a minimum, such industrial users shall sample their discharge twice a year 
unless otherwise specified in the industrial wastewater discharge permit, or by the Control 
Authority. 

B. The periodic compliance report shall include a record of the nature and concentrations 
(and mass if specified in the industrial user’s industrial wastewater discharge permit) of the 
pollutants in the effluent, subject to a pretreatment standard, that were measured, including a 
record of measured or estimated average and maximum daily flows taken at the industrial user’s 
designated sampling location. Flows shall be reported based on an actual measurement. If actual 
measurements are not feasible, the Control Authority may allow an industrial user to report 
average and maximum flows by other techniques that are acceptable to the Control Authority.  

C. The periodic compliance report shall also include monitoring records and any 
sampling information required by the industrial user’s industrial wastewater discharge permit, 
including information necessary to determine compliance with applicable best management 
practices, pollution prevention alternatives, maintenance, treatment, and record keeping 
requirements. Production data shall be reported if required by the industrial user’s industrial 
wastewater discharge permit, or when an industrial user is subject to a unit production-based 
concentration limit established by an applicable categorical pretreatment standard. Sampling and 
analysis that is conducted by the industrial user at the designated sampling location more 
frequently than is required by this section shall be included in the report. 

D. The Control Authority may require industrial users to report other sampling and 
analysis as needed to determine compliance with this chapter. 

E. Industrial users shall certify all periodic self-monitoring reports in accordance with 
FMC 20.30.350.   

 
20.30.640 Notification of change in discharge or operations. 

A. Permitted industrial users shall file a written notification with the Control Authority a 
minimum of thirty (30) days prior to any significant change either in the volume or character of 
pollutants in its discharge, or a change in any manufacturing process or pretreatment 
modifications that may alter the volume or character of pollutants in its wastewater discharge, 
including the listed or characteristic hazardous wastes for which the industrial user has submitted 
initial notification under 40 CFR 403.12(p). A significant change shall be a change equal to or 
greater than twenty percent (20%) in the mass of a pollutant or volume of flow discharged to the 
POTW. For purposes of this subsection, an industrial user becomes aware when it knows, or 
reasonably should have known, the facts giving rise to a reporting obligation.  

B. Permitted industrial users with a permit condition that imposes wastewater 
concentration limits based on production levels shall notify the Control Authority in writing 
within two (2) days of when the industrial user becomes aware that production levels will 
significantly change during the next calendar month.  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 48 
031522 v2 

C. The Control Authority may require permitted industrial users to submit information 
needed to evaluate the changed discharge, including submission of a new or revised industrial 
wastewater discharge permit application. The Control Authority may issue, reissue, or modify an 
industrial user’s industrial wastewater discharge permit in response to the notice under this 
section.  

D. Permitted industrial users shall notify the Control Authority at least thirty (30) days 
prior to facility shutdown or closure which might alter the character, nature, quality, or volume 
of its wastewater. 

 
20.30.650 Notification and reports of potential problems.  

A. An industrial user causing a discharge to the POTW that has the potential to cause 
pass through or interference, including but not limited to, discharges of a non-routine and 
episodic nature, non-customary batch discharges, and slug loads, shall, upon first becoming 
aware of such discharge(s), immediately notify the Control Authority by telephone of the 
incident. This notification shall include the location of the discharge, type of waste discharged, 
concentration, and volume, if known, and any corrective actions taken by the industrial user. For 
purposes of this subsection, an industrial user becomes aware when it knows, or reasonably 
should have known, the facts giving rise to a notification obligation.  

B. Within five (5) days following a discharge described above in subsection A, the 
industrial user shall submit a written report to the Control Authority describing the causes of the 
discharge and the actions taken by the industrial user to prevent a recurrence of the discharge. 
Such report shall also indicate whether the discharge caused violations of any pretreatment 
prohibition, pretreatment standard, pretreatment requirements, and permit-specific or local limits. 
Notifications and reports made and submitted under this section shall not relieve the industrial 
user of any expense, loss, or damage to persons or property, natural resource damages, or other 
liability, including the assessment of supplemental fees, nor shall such notification or reporting 
relieve the industrial user from any enforcement action authorized by this chapter.  

C. Industrial users shall post a notice in a prominent place at their facility that makes 
employees aware of the notification obligation in this section. Such notice shall include the point 
of contact and telephone number to call at the POTW to report a discharge covered by this 
section.  

D. Industrial users shall notify the Control Authority immediately of any changes at its 
facility affecting the potential for a slug discharge.  

 
20.30.660  Slug discharge - Notification and plan development. 

A. Each industrial user shall establish protective measures at their facility to avoid and 
prevent spills and slug discharges of pollutants and prohibited substances to the municipal 
wastewater system. BMPs to prevent the discharge of spill or slug discharges shall be 
implemented and maintained at the industrial user’s expense. 

B. Each industrial user shall report all spills to the Control Authority that occur within the 
boundaries of the industrial user’s facility whether or not the spill results in a discharge to the 
municipal wastewater system. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 49 
031522 v2 

C.  The Control Authority may require any industrial user to prepare and implement a 
Slug Discharge Control Plan (SDCP). The Control Authority’s acceptance of such plan shall not 
relieve an industrial user from the responsibility to modify its SDCP, as necessary, to meet the 
requirements of this chapter. SDCP’s shall address, at a minimum, the following: 

1. A description of all discharge practices, including non-routine discharge practices; 
2. A description of all stored chemicals, disclosing all ingredients in formulations 
which could violate this chapter if discharged to the municipal wastewater system;  
3. A description of potential discharge pathways to the municipal wastewater system; 
4. The procedures for ensuring immediate notification to the Control Authority of any 
slug discharge; and  
5. The procedures to prevent adverse impacts from any slug discharge. Such 
procedures shall address the inspection and maintenance of storage areas, handling 
and transfer of materials, loading and unloading operations, control of plant site 
runoff, worker training, building or use of existing containment structures or 
equipment, measures for containing pollutants, and measures and equipment for 
emergency response. 

D. Industrial users shall immediately notify the Control Authority when a slug discharge 
to the municipal wastewater system occurs. This notification shall include the location of the 
discharge, date and time of the discharge, type of substances discharged, the concentration of 
contaminants, to the extent known, the volume of the discharge, and any corrective actions taken. 
In addition to enforcement under this chapter, industrial users responsible for a slug discharge 
shall be liable for all supplemental fees incurred by the Control Authority caused by and in 
response to such event.  

E. Within five (5) days following a slug discharge, the industrial user shall submit a 
written report to the Control Authority describing the cause of the discharge, including any 
information that has become available to supplement the industrial user’s initial notice. The 
written notice shall also include measures taken by the industrial user to prevent similar events in 
the future.  

F. Industrial users shall review their SDCP’s annually, or sooner if a change is made at an 
industrial user’s facility that may require modifications to the SDCP. Modifications to the SDCP 
shall be submitted to the Control Authority for review and acceptance. 

G. Industrial users subject to this section shall post signs in conspicuous locations on the 
industrial user’s facility notifying employees about the procedures for reporting a slug discharge 
to the Control Authority. 

 
20.30.670 Reports for industrial users. 
If the Control Authority deems it reasonably necessary in order to assure compliance with 
provisions of this chapter, it may require any industrial user to submit an industrial wastewater 
discharge permit application, questionnaire, a report on BMP implementation, or other reports 
and notifications authorized by this chapter in a format and timeframe as specified by the Control 
Authority. 
 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 50 
031522 v2 

20.30.680 Notice of noncompliance. 
If sampling and analysis performed by, or on behalf of, an industrial user indicates a violation of 
this chapter has occurred or is occurring, the industrial user shall notify the Control Authority 
within twenty-four (24) hours of becoming aware of the violation. Unless otherwise directed by 
the Control Authority, the industrial user shall repeat the sampling and analysis within five (5) 
days and submit the results to the Control Authority no later than thirty (30) days after becoming 
aware of the violation. For purposes of this section, an industrial user becomes aware when it 
knows, or reasonably should have known, the facts giving rise to a notification obligation.  
 
20.30.690 Notification of the discharge of hazardous waste.  

A. Any industrial user shall notify the Control Authority, in writing, of any discharge into 
the municipal wastewater system of a substance which, if otherwise disposed of, would be a 
hazardous waste under 40 CFR Part 261 or a dangerous waste under Chapter 173-303 WAC. 
Such notification shall be made within the appropriate time frames specified in FMC 20.30.650 
or within twenty-four (24) hours of becoming aware of the discharge, whichever is shorter. Such 
notification shall include: 

1. The name of the hazardous waste as set forth at 40 CFR Part 261 or the name 
of the dangerous waste in Chapter 173-303 WAC; 
2. The EPA hazardous waste number; 
3. The type of discharge (continuous, batch, or other); 
4. An identification of the hazardous constituents contained in the wastes;  
5. An estimation of the mass and concentration of such constituents in the 
wastestream discharged during that calendar month; 
6. An estimation of the mass of constituents in the wastestream expected to be 
discharged during the following twelve (12) months; 
7. A statement that the industrial user has a program in place to reduce the volume 
and toxicity of hazardous wastes generated to the degree it has determined to be 
economically practical; and 
8. Certification as required by FMC 20.30.350. 

B. Any industrial user shall additionally notify the EPA Regional Waste Management 
Division Manager and the Washington State Department of Ecology, Hazardous Waste & Toxics 
Reduction program, in writing, of any discharge into the municipal wastewater system of a 
substance which, if otherwise disposed of, would be hazardous waste under 40 CFR Part 261 or a 
dangerous waste under Chapter 173-303 WAC and meets the reporting criteria specified at 40 
CFR Section 403.12(p). Notification to the State and EPA is the responsibility of the industrial 
user and shall be made as required under 40 CFR Section 403.12(p). The industrial user shall 
provide the Control Authority with copies of all notifications made to the Washington State 
Department of Ecology and EPA. 

C. In the case of any new regulation under Section 3001 of the Resource Conservation 
and Recovery Act (RCRA) identifying additional characteristics of hazardous waste or listing 
any additional substance as hazardous waste, the industrial user shall notify the Control 
Authority, the EPA Regional Waste Management Waste Division Director and the Washington 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 51 
031522 v2 

State Department of Ecology, Hazardous Waste & Toxics Reduction program of the discharge of 
such substance within ninety (90) days of the effective date of such regulations. 

D. The requirements of this section do not create a right or privilege to discharge any 
substance not otherwise allowed to be discharged by this chapter, a permit issued hereunder, or 
any applicable federal or state regulation. 

 
20.30.700 Requests for information.  

A. Permittees and other persons subject to regulation under this chapter shall timely 
submit the following to the Control Authority upon request: 

1. Information requested by the Control Authority to determine whether an industrial 
wastewater discharge permit or other control mechanism should be issued, modified, 
revoked, reissued, or terminated, or to determine compliance with such permit, 
control mechanism, or this chapter; and  
2. Copies of any records that are required by its industrial wastewater discharge 
permit, or other control mechanism, including but not limited to, information 
regarding industrial processes, the nature and characteristics of wastes and 
wastewaters generated at the industrial facility, and the method of disposal of wastes.  

B. Failure to provide information within the timeframe specified by the Control Authority 
shall be a violation of this chapter. 

 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 52 
031522 v2 

COMPLIANCE MONITORING AND RECORD KEEPING 
 

20.30.800 Analytical and sampling requirements. 
All pollutant sampling and analysis required by this chapter shall be performed in accordance 
with the techniques prescribed in 40 CFR Part 136, unless otherwise specified in an applicable 
categorical pretreatment standard. If 40 CFR Part 136 does not contain sampling or analytical 
techniques for a pollutant subject to sampling under this chapter, sampling and analysis shall be 
performed in accordance with procedures approved by the Control Authority. Unless specified 
below or otherwise specified by the Control Authority, data submitted to the Control Authority 
shall be analyzed by a laboratory registered or accredited under the provisions of Chapter 173-50 
WAC. This requirement shall not apply to the following data submitted to the Control Authority: 
flow; temperature; settleable solids; conductivity; pH; turbidity; and internal process control 
parameters used solely for internal process control. 
 
20.30.810 Specific sampling requirements for industrial users. 

A. Industrial users shall certify that all samples required to be collected under this chapter 
are representative of normal work cycles and the expected pollutant discharges from the 
industrial user’s facility occurring during the reporting period. Industrial users shall also ensure 
that samples are collected during the period(s) specified in their industrial wastewater discharge 
permit, or as otherwise required by the Control Authority. In addition, industrial users shall 
comply with the following sampling protocols: 

1. Use proper sample containers appropriate for sample analysis and sample 
collection and preservation as specified by the protocols in 40 CFR Part 136;  
2. Obtain samples for oil and grease, temperature, pH, cyanide, total phenols, 
sulfides, and volatile organic compounds using grab sample techniques; 
3. For certain pollutants identified in an industrial user’s industrial wastewater 
discharge permit, an industrial user may composite multiple grab samples taken over 
a twenty-four (24) hour period, unless a different time period is specified by the 
Control Authority. Industrial users may composite grab samples for cyanide, total 
phenols, and sulfides either in the laboratory or in the field, and may composite grab 
samples for volatile organics and oil and grease in the laboratory prior to analysis; 
4. For all other pollutants, industrial users shall employ twenty-four (24) hour flow-
proportional composite samplers unless the Control Authority authorizes or requires 
an alternative sample collection method. Time-proportional sampling may be 
approved or used by the Control Authority where time-proportional samples are 
believed representative of the discharge; 
5. The Control Authority may authorize composite samples for parameters unaffected 
by the compositing procedures, as appropriate; 
6. The Control Authority may require grab samples either in lieu of or in addition to 
composite sampling to show compliance with instantaneous discharge limits; 
7. Industrial users conducting sampling activities to complete baseline monitoring and 
ninety (90) day compliance reports required by FMC 20.30.600 and FMC 20.30.620 
shall collect at least four (4) grab samples for pH, cyanide, total phenols, oil and 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 53 
031522 v2 

grease, sulfide and volatile organic compounds. Industrial users may composite 
samples prior to analysis if allowed under subsection A.3 above. When historical 
sampling data exists, the Control Authority may authorize fewer samples if it 
determines that use of such samples will satisfy the requirements of this section; 
8. For industrial users conducting sampling to complete periodic self-monitoring 
reports under FMC 20.30.630, the Control Authority may specify the number of grab 
samples necessary to assess and assure compliance with applicable pretreatment 
standards and requirements; and  
9. Industrial users shall properly operate, clean, and maintain sampling and flow 
metering facilities and devices and ensure they function properly.  

 
20.30.820 Monitoring – Recordkeeping.  
In addition to any recordkeeping requirements set forth in an industrial user’s industrial 
wastewater discharge permit or other control mechanism, all industrial users subject to the 
reporting requirements of this chapter shall retain and make available for inspection and copying 
by the Control Authority at its facility all records the industrial user generates when conducting 
monitoring activities required by this chapter. Such industrial users shall also retain records 
associated with best management practices when such practices are required by the Control 
Authority. Monitoring records shall include chain-of-custody information including, at a 
minimum, the date, time, place, and method of sampling, and the name of the person(s) 
conducting the sampling; the quality control and quality assurance procedures used and the name 
of the person(s) with control of the sample prior to analysis; the place and date where the 
sampling analysis was completed, the analytical technique(s) used, and the name of the person 
conducting the analysis; and the results of the sampling analysis. Industrial users shall retain the 
records described in this section at its permitted facility for inspection and copying by the 
Control Authority for three (3) years, unless a longer retention period is specified in writing by 
the Control Authority. The industrial user’s obligation to maintain records under this section 
shall be automatically extended for the duration of any administrative enforcement or litigation 
action brought by the Control Authority against the industrial user.  
 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 54 
031522 v2 

RIGHT OF ENTRY AND CONFIDENTIALITY 
20.30.900 Right of entry - Inspection and sampling. 

A. Authorized representatives of the Control Authority bearing proper credentials and 
identification shall have the right to enter the facility of any industrial user at reasonable times to 
conduct inspections and gather samples to determine whether an industrial user is complying 
with the requirements of this chapter and any industrial wastewater discharge permit or other 
control mechanism issued thereunder. Reasonable times shall include normal business hours, 
hours during which production, treatment, or discharge occurs, or times when the Control 
Authority has reasonable cause to believe that a violation has occurred or is occurring requiring 
immediate inspection. 

B. Access shall include all parts of the facility for the purpose of inspection, and may 
include, but not be limited to surveillance, sampling discharges or materials likely to be 
discharged, examination and copying of records related to compliance with this chapter, 
evaluating pretreatment facilities, and the performance of additional duties relating to the 
compliance inspection.  

C. Where an industrial user has security measures in force which require proper 
identification and clearance before entry into the facility, the industrial user shall make necessary 
arrangements with its security personnel so that Control Authority representatives bearing proper 
credentials and identification will be permitted to enter without delay for the purpose of 
conducting compliance inspection duties. 

D. The Control Authority may require installation of devices necessary to sample and 
monitor industrial wastewater discharges as required by this chapter. The Control Authority may, 
with the industrial user’s consent, temporarily install devices to sample and monitor discharges 
on an industrial user’s premises when existing sampling and monitoring devices are inadequate 
to determine whether an industrial user’s discharge is complying with the requirements of this 
chapter.  

E. The Control Authority shall have access to and use of all monitoring facilities within 
an industrial user’s facility to evaluate the industrial user’s compliance with this chapter.  

F. Industrial users shall maintain unobstructed, safe, and convenient access to the areas of 
the facility to be inspected or sampled. Upon request by the Control Authority, an industrial user 
shall remove, at its own expense, any obstructions that prevent the Control Authority from 
undertaking its inspection or sampling activity.  

G. Any unreasonable interference with the Control Authority’s access under this section 
shall be a violation of this chapter, and may result in revocation of an industrial wastewater 
discharge permit, suspension or termination of authorization to discharge nondomestic 
wastewater to the municipal wastewater system, or other enforcement authorized by this chapter.  
 
20.30.910 Public disclosure and confidentiality. 
Information submitted to and maintained by the Control Authority pursuant to this chapter is 
subject to public disclosure pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 42.56 RCW. Financial, 
commercial, and proprietary information submitted by an industrial user which it identifies as 
confidential may be exempt from public disclosure pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 42.56 
RCW.  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 55 
031522 v2 

PUBLICATION OF INDUSTRIAL USERS IN SIGNIFICANT NONCOMPLIANCE 
 
20.30.1000 Publication of industrial users in significant noncompliance. 

A. The Control Authority shall publish annually, in a newspaper of general circulation 
that provides meaningful public notice within the jurisdiction served by the POTW, a list of the 
industrial users which, at any time during the previous twelve (12) months, were in significant 
noncompliance with applicable pretreatment standards and met any of the criteria below: 

1. Chronic violations of wastewater discharge limits in which sixty-six percent (66%) 
or more of all the measurements taken for the same pollutant parameter during a six 
(6) month period exceed by any magnitude a numeric pretreatment standard or 
requirement, including instantaneous limits; 
2. Technical review criteria (TRC) violations, defined here as those in which thirty-
three percent (33%) or more of all the measurements taken for the same pollutant 
parameter during a six (6) month period equal or exceed the product of the numeric 
pretreatment standard or requirement, including instantaneous limits multiplied by the 
applicable TRC, which is 1.4 for BOD, TSS, fats, oils, and grease, and 1.2 for all 
other pollutants except pH; 
3. Any other violation(s) of a pretreatment standard or requirement, including daily 
maximum, long-term average, instantaneous limit or narrative standard that the 
Control Authority determines to have caused, alone or in combination with other 
discharges, pass through or interference, including endangering the health of the 
general public or the health of City or Control Authority personnel; 
4. Any discharge of a pollutant that has caused imminent endangerment to human 
health, welfare, or to the environment or has resulted in the Control Authority 
exercising its emergency authority to halt or prevent such discharge; 
5. Failure to meet a compliance schedule milestone contained in an industrial 
wastewater discharge permit or compliance order for starting construction, 
completing construction, or attaining final compliance within ninety (90) days after 
the milestone schedule date; 
6. Failure to provide, within forty-five (45) days after the due date, any required 
report, including a baseline monitoring report, 90-Day compliance report, periodic 
self-monitoring reports, and reports on compliance with compliance schedules; 
7. Failure to accurately report non-compliance; or 
8. Any other violation or group of violations, which may include a violation of best 
management practices, which the Control Authority determines will adversely affect 
the operation or implementation of the local pretreatment program. 

 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 56 
031522 v2 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES TO DISCHARGE VIOLATIONS 
 
20.30.1100 Upsets. 

A. An upset shall constitute an affirmative defense to an enforcement action brought for 
noncompliance with categorical pretreatment standards if the requirements of subsection B 
below are met.  

B. An industrial user who wishes to establish the affirmative defense of an upset shall 
demonstrate, through properly signed, contemporaneous operating logs, or other relevant and 
reliable evidence that: 

1. An upset occurred and the industrial user can identify the cause(s) of the upset; 
2. The facility was at the time being operated in a prudent and workman-like manner 
and in compliance with applicable operation and maintenance procedures; 
3. The industrial user has submitted the following information to the Control 
Authority within twenty-four (24) hours of becoming aware of the upset; for purposes 
of this subsection, an industrial user becomes aware when it knows, or reasonably 
should have known, the facts giving rise to a reporting obligation: 

a. A description of the indirect discharge and cause of noncompliance; 
b. The period of noncompliance, including exact dates and times or, if not 
corrected at the time information is submitted under this subsection, the 
anticipated time the noncompliance is expected to continue, and why;  
c. The steps taken or planned to reduce, eliminate, and prevent recurrence of the 
noncompliance. If the upset was caused by a reduction, loss, or failure of the 
power supply to the treatment facility, an industrial user shall take steps to control 
production of all wastestreams to the extent necessary until the treatment facility 
is restored or an alternative method of treatment is provided, or until such 
wastestreams can be temporarily stored for future treatment, or taken off-site for 
treatment and disposal; and 
d. If an industrial user provides the information required by this subsection orally 
within twenty-four (24) hours, the industrial user shall also provide the same 
information to the Control Authority in writing within five (5) days thereafter. 

C. In any enforcement proceeding, the industrial user seeking to establish the occurrence 
of an upset shall have the burden of proof.  
 
20.30.1110 Bypass. 

A. Causing a bypass by intentionally diverting waste streams from any portion of a 
treatment facility is a violation of this chapter unless such bypass is specifically authorized by 
this section and the industrial user responsible for the bypass complies with all applicable 
requirements in this section.  

B. If approved by the Control Authority, an industrial user may allow a bypass to occur if 
it does not cause a violation of a pretreatment standard or requirement, or local limit, but only if 
the bypass is for essential maintenance to assure efficient operation. Bypasses under this 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 57 
031522 v2 

subsection B are not subject to subsections C or D below, provided the bypass is compliant with 
this subsection. 

C. Any other bypass, whether planned or unanticipated, shall meet the following 
requirements as applicable: 

1. Industrial users knowing in advance of the need for a bypass shall submit written 
notice to the Control Authority, at least ten (10) days before the date of the bypass for 
approval by the Control Authority, if possible. Such notice shall include a description 
of the planned bypass (expected volume, pollutants, etc.), its expected duration, and 
the reason for such bypass. The Control Authority may approve such bypass, after 
considering its adverse effects, if it determines that the bypass will meet all conditions 
set forth in subsection D below.  
2. Industrial users shall notify the Control Authority of any unanticipated bypass that 
exceeds an applicable pretreatment standard or requirement, or a local limit, within 
twenty-four (24) hours of becoming aware of such bypass. For purposes of this 
subsection, an industrial user becomes aware when it knows, or reasonably should 
have known, of the facts giving rise to a notification obligation. Industrial users shall 
provide a written follow-up report within five (5) days of such bypass, unless waived 
by the Control Authority based on its determination that the industrial user’s oral 
report was timely and complete. Unless waived by the Control Authority, written 
bypass reports shall contain the following information: 

a. A description of the bypass (volume, pollutants, etc.) and its cause; 
b. The date(s) and time(s) when the bypass started and ended; 
c. If the bypass has not been corrected, the anticipated time it is expected to 
continue; and 
d. The steps the industrial user has taken or planned to reduce, eliminate, and 
prevent recurrence of the bypass. 

D. The Control Authority may initiate an enforcement action authorized under this 
chapter against an industrial user for any bypass that violates this section; provided that, it shall 
be an affirmative defense to such an enforcement action if the industrial user can demonstrate 
that: 

1. The bypass was unavoidable to prevent loss of life, personal injury, or severe 
property damage; 
2. There were no feasible alternatives to the bypass, such as the use of auxiliary 
treatment facilities, retention of untreated wastes, or maintenance during normal 
periods of equipment downtime. This condition is not satisfied if adequate back up 
equipment should have been installed in the exercise of reasonable engineering 
judgment to prevent a bypass which occurred during normal periods of equipment 
downtime or preventive maintenance, and the industrial user submitted notices as 
required under subsection C above. 

E. In any enforcement proceeding, the industrial user seeking to establish an affirmative 
defense shall have the burden of proof.  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 58 
031522 v2 

F. The Control Authority may approve an anticipated bypass, after considering its 
adverse effects, if the Control Authority determines that it will meet the requirements of this 
section.  
 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 59 
031522 v2 

ENFORCEMENT AND REMEDIES 
 

20.30.1200 Violations, enforcement, and penalties. 
A. The provisions of this chapter together with any standards, requirements, and 

procedures promulgated under authority of this chapter or otherwise made subject to 
enforcement under this chapter, and all terms and conditions of any permit, control mechanism, 
directive, or compliance order issued under authority of this chapter, are subject to enforcement 
pursuant to and under authority of this chapter. The Control Authority is authorized to exercise 
all powers and authority granted pursuant to this chapter, including by way of example and not 
limitation, the power to issue compliance orders, corrective action notices, and notices of 
violation, assess monetary penalties, approve voluntary correction agreements, and develop, 
promulgate, revise, and implement policies and procedures governing enforcement actions under 
this chapter. The City Manager is further empowered to delegate enforcement authority under 
this chapter to such persons as may be determined by the City Manager Any such power and 
authority authorized pursuant to this chapter is in addition to the power and authority granted 
pursuant to the Fircrest municipal code and any other applicable state or federal law or 
regulation.   

B. Except as otherwise provided herein, the maximum monetary penalty that may be 
assessed for each violation per day or portion thereof, and each continuing day or portion 
thereof, shall not exceed $10,000.  Monetary penalties shall be assessed in accordance with the 
most recent version of the Environmental Services Enforcement Response Plan. 

C. Compliance with the requirements of this chapter is mandatory except as may be 
otherwise provided in this chapter.  Except as otherwise provided herein, any act or omission by 
a responsible person in noncompliance with any duty, requirement, or obligation set forth in this 
chapter, set forth in any standard, requirement, or procedure promulgated under authority of this 
chapter or otherwise made subject to enforcement under this chapter, or set forth in a term or 
condition of any permit, authorization, control mechanism, directive, or compliance order issued 
under authority of this chapter, shall constitute a violation of this chapter and is subject to 
enforcement by the Control Authority.  

D. Violations of this chapter may include, by way of example, but are not limited to the 
following acts or omissions: 

1. Failure to accurately report the wastewater constituents and characteristics of a 
discharge; 
2. Failure to submit any report or notices required by this chapter; 
3. Failure to report known or reasonably anticipated changes in wastewater 
constituents or characteristics, including increased flows, prior to the changed 
discharge; 
4. Misrepresenting or intentionally failing to disclose all relevant facts in an industrial 
wastewater discharge permit application, report, or other submittal required under this 
chapter; 
5. Falsifying self-monitoring reports; 
6. Tampering with monitoring equipment; 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 60 
031522 v2 

7. Unreasonably withholding consent for access by authorized Control Authority 
representatives to conduct a compliance inspection and other activities described in 
this chapter;  
8. Violating any applicable pretreatment standard, pretreatment requirement, or local 
limit; and 
9.  Violating any provision of this chapter, including the terms of a permit, order, 
authorization or other control mechanism issued under the authority of this chapter. 

E. Policies and procedures governing enforcement of violations of this chapter and 
assessment of monetary penalties are set forth in the Enforcement Response Plan, a copy of 
which shall be on file with the City and made available to the public. 

F. Any responsible person who willfully violates any provision of this chapter, or any 
permit, order, control mechanism, or other written authorization or directive issued by the 
Control Authority thereunder shall, upon conviction, be guilty of a gross misdemeanor 
punishable by a fine of not more than $10,000, or by imprisonment in jail for up to three hundred 
sixty-five (365) days, or both. Each day upon which a willful violation of this chapter, or any 
permit, order, control mechanism or other written authorization or directive issued by the City 
thereunder occurs may be deemed a separate and additional violation.  

G. Any person who knowingly and falsely makes, completes, or alters a written 
instrument required to be submitted to the Control Authority pursuant to this chapter, or 
requirement or procedure promulgated under this chapter, or a term or condition of any permit, 
control mechanism, directive, or compliance order issued under authority of this chapter, shall be 
guilty of a gross misdemeanor and subject to a fine of not more than $5,000 or by imprisonment 
in jail for up to three hundred sixty-five (365) days, or both. Proof of intent to defraud or injure is 
not required. 

H. Persons, whether inside or outside the City, that discharge substances in violation of 
this chapter to the municipal wastewater system, including but not limited to persons that cause 
pass through or interference, shall be liable to pay any supplemental fees the Control Authority 
incurs to respond to such violation in accordance with the liability for supplemental fees section 
set forth in subsection M below and FMC 20.30.1250.   

I.  Joint and Several Responsibility and Liability. Responsibility for violations subject to 
enforcement under this chapter is joint and several, and the City is not prohibited from taking 
action against a person where other persons may also be potentially responsible persons, nor is 
the City required to take action against all potentially responsible persons. 

J. Presumption. Except as may be otherwise provided by law, proof that a violation exists 
or existed on privately owned (non-governmental) property shall constitute prima facie evidence 
that each owner of the property is a responsible person. However, this presumption shall not 
relieve or prevent enforcement against any other person who may also be a responsible person.  

K. Prohibited Acts Include Causing and Permitting. Whenever any act or omission 
constitutes a violation, such act or omission includes causing, allowing, permitting, aiding, 
abetting, suffering, or concealing the fact of such act or omission. 

L. Separate and Continuing Offense. Every act or omission which constitutes a violation 
shall constitute a separate violation for each and every day during any portion of which the act or 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 61 
031522 v2 

omission constituting the violation is committed, continued, allowed, abetted, suffered, or 
permitted. A violation continues to exist until abated, corrected, or remedied. 

M.  Liability for supplemental fees.   Persons, whether inside or outside the City, that 
discharge substances in violation of this chapter to the POTW including, but not limited to 
persons that cause pass through or interference, shall be liable to pay any supplemental fees the 
control authority incurs to respond to such violation. Liability for supplemental fees under this 
section shall also apply to any person responsible for discharging a substance in violation of this 
chapter to the POTW, regardless whether they own the property from which the prohibited 
discharge originates. Assessment of supplemental fees shall be in addition to:  

1. Any enforcement action to address a violation of this chapter; 

2. Any cost recovery remedy available to the Control Authority under state and federal 
environmental laws and regulations; and  

3. Any other remedy available at law or in equity to address a violation of this chapter. 

Any supplemental fees assessed shall become due and payable to the Control Authority 
within 30 days of receipt of such assessment. If supplemental fees are appealed and affirmed in 
whole or in part, such fees shall become due and payable within 30 calendar days of receipt of a 
final decision by the Hearing Examiner or a court. The control authority may pursue collection of 
non-payment of supplemental fees by any lawful means authorized, including referral to a 
collection agency. 

 

20.30.1210 Methods of service. 

A. Methods of Service. For purposes of this chapter, the methods of service of any 
documents related to enforcement, such as notices of civil violation and compliance orders 
(hereinafter “document”) shall be by mailing, personal service, posting, or publication. 

B. When First-Class Mail Deemed Service. Any correction notice, notice of civil 
violation, notice of hearing, compliance order, or other code enforcement document shall be 
deemed legally served upon a party by mailing, unless another method of service is expressly 
required in a particular subsection of this chapter, state law, or court rule. 

 

20.30.1220 Civil violations. 

A. Civil Violation. The Control Authority may issue a notice of civil violation when there 
is reasonable cause to believe that there is or has been a violation. 

B. Content of Notice of Civil Violation. The notice of civil violation shall set forth and 
contain: 

1. The name and last known address of the responsible person;  

2. The name and business address and telephone number of the Control Authority 
issuing the notice of civil violation;  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 62 
031522 v2 

3. The street address or a description sufficient for identification of the building, 
structure, premises, or land upon or within which the violation has occurred or is 
occurring;  

4. A description of the nature, extent, and time of the violation and a reference to the 
regulation that has been violated;  

5. If a monetary penalty is imposed, a statement setting forth the monetary 
penalty(ies) imposed and each violation or violations that are subject to such 
monetary penalty(ies);  

6. If the notice of civil violation is issued in conjunction or combined with a 
compliance order, and the violation is continuing in nature and will accrue daily 
monetary penalties until the violation is corrected, a statement (a) setting forth the 
amount of the daily monetary penalty for each such continuing violation, (b) that the 
violation is continuing in nature, and (c) that daily monetary penalties will accrue 
until the violation is corrected as set forth in the compliance order;  

7. If the notice of civil violation is combined with a compliance order, the notice of 
violation shall include the content required pursuant to FMC 20.30.1240.B for 
issuance of a compliance order;  

8. A statement that the person to whom the notice of civil violation is issued may 
appeal the notice of civil violation as provided in this chapter;  

9. A statement that a notice of civil violation issued pursuant to this section represents 
a determination that the violation/violations identified in the notice has/have been 
committed and that this determination is final and conclusive unless appealed as 
provided in this chapter; and 

10. Any additional information that may be required under the regulation that is 
alleged to have been violated. 

C. Service. Except as provided herein, service of a notice of civil violation shall be by 
mailing or by personal service. If an address for mailed service cannot be ascertained and if 
personal service is not accomplished after reasonable effort, service shall be accomplished by 
posting a copy of the order conspicuously on the affected building, structure, premises, or land. 
If service by posting is ineffective or cannot be lawfully accomplished, service shall be 
accomplished by publication. 

D. Effect of Notice of Civil Violation. A notice of civil violation issued pursuant to this 
section represents a determination that the violation/violations identified in the notice of civil 
violation has/have been committed. This determination is final and conclusive as to the violation 
or violations set forth in the notice of violation, unless a timely appealed is filed as provided in 
this chapter. Nothing herein is intended to preclude timely appeal of a separate or subsequent 
compliance order, notice of civil violation, notice of infraction, or imposition of criminal 
penalties related to the same or continuing violation or violations, to the extent an appeal may be 
available. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 63 
031522 v2 

E. Continued Duty to Correct. Payment of a monetary penalty imposed pursuant to this 
chapter does not relieve a person of the duty to correct the violation as ordered by the Control 
Authority. 

F. Monetary Penalty. Unless a different monetary penalty is specified in this chapter, the 
maximum monetary penalty for each violation per day or portion thereof, and each continuing 
day or portion thereof, shall be an amount up to $10,000 per day.  

G. Other Action. In addition to the issuance of the notice of civil violation, the City may 
take other enforcement action available at law or in equity, including, by way of example and not 
limitation, issuance of a notice of civil infraction, seeking injunctive or declaratory relief, 
seeking an order of abatement, taking action to seek imposition of criminal penalties, and where 
applicable, rescission as set forth in RCW 90.58.140. The City may also issue a notice of civil 
violation in conjunction with a compliance order. 

H. Collection of Monetary Penalty. The monetary penalty constitutes a personal 
obligation of the person to whom the notice of civil violation is directed. Any monetary penalty 
assessed shall be immediately due and payable and must be paid to the City within ten calendar 
days from the date the notice of civil violation becomes final and non-appealable. Any monetary 
penalties that accrue for ongoing violations after the date the notice of civil violation becomes 
final and non-appealable must be paid within ten calendar days from the date the penalty(ies) 
have accrued. The City Attorney is authorized to take appropriate action to collect the monetary 
penalty when past due and owing.  

I. Application for Remission or Mitigation. When remission or mitigation of the 
monetary penalty is authorized under the state or federal law, any person incurring a monetary 
penalty for a civil violation may, within ten days of service of the notice of violation, apply in 
writing to the Control Authority for remission or mitigation of the monetary penalty. The Control 
Authority shall issue a decision on the application within 15 business days following receipt of 
such application. Upon timely receipt of a complete application for remission or mitigation, the 
responsible public official, or designee, shall consider the application, together with any 
information the responsible public official, or designee, determines is relevant, and may remit or 
mitigate the penalty only upon a finding by a preponderance of the evidence that applicant has 
demonstrated extraordinary circumstances, such as the presence of information or factors not 
considered in setting the original monetary penalty. When a monetary penalty is imposed jointly 
by the Department of Ecology and the City, the penalty may be remitted or mitigated only upon 
such terms as both the Department of Ecology and the City agree. 

J. Appeal. A notice of civil violation may be appealed to the Hearing Examiner pursuant 
to the procedures set forth in this chapter for appeal of a notice of civil violation. In the event that 
a notice of civil violation is combined with a compliance order, the compliance order is subject 
to appeal pursuant to FMC 20.30.1230.L and may be subject to expedited informal review 
pursuant to FMC 20.30.1240.  Accrual and payment of the monetary penalty imposed shall be 
stayed during the pendency of any administrative appeal of the violation for which such 
monetary penalties have been imposed.  

  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 64 
031522 v2 

20.30.1230  Compliance orders. 

A. General. The Control Authority may issue a compliance order when there is 
reasonable cause to believe that there is or has been a violation or that failure to take action or to 
refrain from taking action will result in a violation. The compliance order is remedial in nature 
and intended to prevent future violations, protect persons and property from injury or the 
imminent threat of injury, terminate ongoing violations, and bring the activities, omissions, use, 
property, and structures that are the subject of the order into compliance, as nearly as practicable, 
within applicable standards and requirements of the applicable regulation(s).  

B. Content of Compliance Order. The order shall set forth and contain: 

1. The name and last known address of the responsible person(s);  

2. The name and business address and telephone number of the Control Authority 
issuing the compliance order; 

3. The street address or a description sufficient for identification of the building, 
structure, premises, or land upon or within which the violation will occur, has 
occurred, or is occurring;  

4. A description of the nature, extent, and time of the violation and a reference to the 
regulation that has been or may be violated;  

5. An order that the act or omission or use causing or leading to a violation or a 
potential violation shall immediately cease and desist, and/or, in appropriate cases, an 
order to take specific corrective action in compliance with the FMC immediately or 
within a specific and reasonable time, which corrective action may include, but is not 
limited to, abatement, remediation, correction, and/or mitigation of the site and other 
property damaged;  

6. A statement that any act or omission contrary to a provision of the compliance 
order constitutes a civil violation and is subject to enforcement under this chapter; 

7. A statement that the person to whom the compliance order is issued may appeal the 
compliance order as provided in this chapter; 

8. If a stop-work or stop-use order is issued, a statement that the person to whom the 
compliance order is issued may, in addition to the right to appeal the order, seek 
expedited informal review as provided in this chapter. The statement shall identify the 
public official vested with authority to review the stop-work or stop-use order and the 
phone number, name, and title of the person authorized to initiate the process for 
informal expedited review;  

9. A statement that the compliance order is final and conclusive unless appealed;  

10. If the compliance order is combined with a notice of civil violation, the 
compliance order shall include the content required pursuant to FMC 20.30.1220.B 
for issuance of a notice of violation; and 

11. Any additional information that may be required to be included in the compliance 
order under the regulation that is alleged to have been violated. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 65 
031522 v2 

C. Service. Except as provided herein, service of a compliance order shall be by mailing 
or by personal service. If an address for mailed service cannot be ascertained and if personal 
service is not accomplished after reasonable efforts, service shall be accomplished by posting a 
copy of the order conspicuously on the affected building, structure, premises, or land. If service 
by posting is ineffective or cannot be lawfully accomplished, service shall be accomplished by 
publication. 

D. Effective Date. A compliance order issued under this section shall become effective 
immediately upon service of the order upon the person to whom it is directed. 

E. Effect of Compliance Order. A compliance order represents notice to the responsible 
person of a determination that the violation/violations identified in the compliance order 
has/have been committed, or that there is reasonable cause to believe that a violation will occur, 
and represents a determination that corrective action as described in the compliance order, or 
cessation of certain action identified in the order, is required to abate, correct, mitigate, remedy, 
or prevent the violation. These determinations are final and conclusive unless appealed as 
provided in this chapter; provided that, nothing herein is intended to preclude timely appeal of a 
separate or subsequent order, notice of civil violation, notice of infraction, or imposition of 
criminal penalties related to the same or continuing violation or violations, to the extent an 
appeal may be available. 

F. Extension. Upon written request received prior to the expiration of the correction date 
or time, the Control Authority may extend the date set for correction for good cause or in order 
to accommodate a voluntary correction agreement. The Control Authority may consider 
substantial completion of the necessary correction or unforeseeable circumstances which render 
completion impossible or impracticable by the completion date established as a good cause. 

G. Stop-work order; Stop-use order. Whenever the Control Authority finds reasonable 
cause to believe that a violation would, if the violation continued, (1) result in irreparable harm, 
(2) exacerbate injury already caused to any person or property, (3) result in damage or injury to 
wetlands or critical areas, (4) materially impair the code enforcement officer’s ability to secure 
compliance, (5) materially impair the responsible persons’ ability to correct the violation, or (6) 
cause or contribute to an emergency, the Control Authority may issue a stop-work or stop-use 
order, or issue a compliance order that includes a stop-work or stop-use order. The stop-work 
and stop-use order shall be deemed served and effective upon posting of the order; provided that, 
nothing herein shall preclude service in person, by mail, or by publication.  

H. Violation – Unlawful. When a compliance order has been issued, posted, and/or 
served pursuant to this section, it is unlawful for any person to whom the order is directed or any 
person with actual or constructive knowledge of the order to conduct any activity or perform any 
work prohibited by the terms of the order, even if the order has been appealed, until the 
enforcement officer has removed the copy of the order, if posted, and issued written 
authorization for the activity or work to be resumed. 

I. Removal of Compliance Order – Violation. It shall be unlawful to remove a 
compliance order posted in conformity with the requirements of this chapter without the prior 
authorization of a Control Authority, responsible public official of the City, the City Hearing 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 66 
031522 v2 

Examiner, or an order of a court with jurisdiction. A violation of the provisions of this subsection 
shall constitute a misdemeanor. 

J. Compliance – Violation. It is unlawful to fail to comply with the terms and conditions 
of the compliance order. Failure to comply with a compliance order can result in enforcement 
actions, including, but not limited to, the issuance of a notice of civil violation, issuance of a civil 
infraction, and imposition of criminal penalties. 

K. Other Action. In addition to the issuance of the compliance order, the City may take 
other enforcement action available at law or in equity including, by way of example and not 
limitation, issuance of a notice of civil violation and penalties, issuance of a civil infraction, 
seeking injunctive or declaratory relief, imposition of criminal penalties, modification or 
revocation of the project permit or approval, seeking an order of abatement, and rescission as set 
forth in RCW 90.58.140. The City may also issue a notice of civil violation concurrent with a 
compliance order. 

L. Appeal; Exhaustion. A compliance order may be appealed to the Hearing Examiner 
pursuant to the procedures set forth this chapter for appeal of a compliance order. In the event 
that the FMC provides that the applicant may request administrative review, remission, or 
mitigation of the compliance order by a public official, applicant shall exhaust such 
administrative remedies prior to filing an appeal to the Hearing Examiner; provided that, 
expedited informal review pursuant to FMC 20.30.1240 is not considered an administrative 
remedy for purposes of this exhaustion requirement. In the event that a notice of civil violation is 
combined with the compliance order, payment of the monetary penalty imposed shall be stayed 
during the pendency of any administrative appeal. In the event of a notice of appeal of an order 
revoking or rescinding a project permit or approval, the order shall be stayed during the 
pendency of any administrative appeal. 
 
20.30.1240 Expedited informal review.  

A. Purpose. Expedited informal review is an informal process that is intended to provide 
an opportunity for the person to whom the stop-work or stop-use order is issued to seek 
immediate review to address any claimed errors in the determination by the Control Authority to 
issue such an order.  

B. Who May Seek Review. The person to whom the stop-work or stop-use order is 
directed, or an authorized representative of that person, may seek expedited informal review of 
the order by a public official vested with authority to review and uphold or terminate the stop-
work or stop-use order.  

C. Request For Review. The person seeking expedited informal review may request 
review within ten days of service of the order by contacting, during normal City business hours, 
the person identified in the order as the person authorized to initiate the review, requesting 
initiation of expedited informal review and providing a phone number at which the requesting 
person can be reached during business hours.  

D. Review. The public official of the Control Authority designated to conduct the review, 
or designee, shall provide a reasonable opportunity for the person requesting review to submit in 
writing or orally, or both, a statement describing the error(s) of law and error(s) of fact, and any 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 67 
031522 v2 

other supporting records or documents or information in any form, establishing why the stop-
work or stop-use order was issued in error. The public official may consult with any person(s) 
who the public official determines may have relevant information, and take into consideration 
any relevant records or documents or information in any form. 

E. Decision. The public official shall, within three business days following the date of the 
request for review, notify the person requesting review of the public official’s decision to either 
terminate or uphold the issuance of the order; provided that, the public official may extend this 
time period for good cause. 

F. Decision Not Subject to Administrative Appeal. The decision of the public official 
shall not be subject to appeal to the Hearing Examiner. 

G. Effect of Filing an Appeal. Submitting a request for expedited informal review will 
not impair the right to appeal the stop-work or stop-use order pursuant to this chapter, and will 
not operate to toll the time period for filing such an appeal. A person appealing a stop-work or 
stop-use order is not required to request expedited informal review as a condition of filing an 
appeal. The filing of an appeal shall not operate to deprive the public official of jurisdiction to 
conduct an expedited informal review that has been timely requested.  

 
20.30.1250   Liability for supplemental fees.  

A. Persons, whether inside or outside the City, that discharge substances in violation of 
this chapter to the municipal wastewater system including, but not limited to, persons that cause 
pass through or interference, shall be liable to pay any supplemental fees the City or Control 
Authority incurs to respond to such violation. Liability for supplemental fees under this section 
shall also apply to any person responsible for discharging a substance in violation of this chapter 
to the municipal wastewater system, regardless whether they own the property from which the 
prohibited discharge originates. Assessment of supplemental fees shall be in addition to:  

1. Any enforcement action authorized by this chapter; 
2. Any cost recovery remedy available to the control authority under state and federal 
environmental laws and regulations; and  
3. Any other remedy available at law or in equity to address a violation of this chapter. 
B. Any supplemental fees assessed shall become due and payable to the City, or the 

Control Authority, within 30 days of receipt of such assessment. If supplemental fees are 
appealed and affirmed in whole or in part, such fees shall become due and payable within 
30 calendar days of receipt of a final decision by the Hearing Examiner or a court. The City or 
Control Authority may pursue collection of non-payment of supplemental fees by any lawful 
means authorized, including referral to a collection agency.  

 

20.30.1260   Corporate and personal liability. 
A. As used in this section: 

“Agent” means any director, officer, or employee of a corporation, or any other 
person who is authorized to act on behalf of the corporation. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 68 
031522 v2 

“High managerial agent” means an officer or director of a corporation or any other 
agent in a position of comparable authority with respect to the formulation of 
corporate policy or the supervision in a managerial capacity of subordinate 
employees. 

B. A corporation is strictly liable for the acts or omissions of its agents that constitute a 
civil violation. 

C. A corporation is guilty of a criminal offense when: 

1. The act or omission constituting the offense consists of an omission to discharge a 
specific duty of performance imposed on corporations by law; or 

2. The act or omission constituting the offense is engaged in, authorized, solicited, 
requested, commanded, or tolerated by the board of directors or by a high managerial 
agent acting within the scope of the agent’s employment and on behalf of the 
corporation; or 

3. The act or omission constituting the offense is engaged in by an agent of the 
corporation, other than a high managerial agent, while acting within the scope of the 
agent’s employment and in behalf of the corporation and (i) the offense is a gross 
misdemeanor or misdemeanor, or (ii) the offense is one defined by the this chapter 
which clearly indicates an intent to impose such criminal liability on a corporation. 

D. A person is civilly liable for an act or omission constituting a violation which the 
person performs or causes to be performed in the name of or on behalf of a corporation to the 
same extent as if such conduct were performed in the person’s own name or behalf. 

E. A person is criminally liable for an act or omission constituting a criminal offense 
which the person performs or causes to be performed in the name of or on behalf of a corporation 
to the same extent as if such conduct were performed in the person’s own name or behalf. 

F. Whenever a duty to act is imposed by law upon a corporation, any agent of the 
corporation who knows the agent has or shares primary responsibility for the discharge of the 
duty is criminally liable for a reckless or, if a high managerial agent, criminally negligent 
omission to perform the required act to the same extent as if the duty were by law imposed 
directly upon such agent. 

20.30.1270 Suspension of service.  
A. Suspension of Service - Emergency.  In addition to any other authority set forth in this 

chapter, the Control Authority may, pursuant to a stop-use order, immediately suspend an 
industrial user’s actual or threatened discharge to the municipal wastewater system whenever the 
Control Authority has reasonable cause to believe that, an actual or threatened discharge, or other 
violation of this chapter, either: 

1.  Presents an imminent threat or substantial danger to the health and welfare of 
persons or the environment, or  
2.  Presents an imminent threat to, or does cause, pass through or interference.  

Depending on the emergent circumstances, the Control Authority may provide either verbal or 
written notice to suspend an industrial user’s actual or threatened discharge.  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 69 
031522 v2 

B. Suspension of Service – Other Violations. The Control Authority may, pursuant to a 
stop-use order, suspend wastewater services at a premises where a connection to the municipal 
wastewater system has been made in violation of this chapter, the Control Authority’s NPDES 
permit, or any authorization, control mechanism, directive or compliance order issued under 
authority of this chapter.  

C.  Suspension of Service – Access. Unreasonable refusal to allow Control Authority 
representatives to access a premises pursuant to FMC 20.30.900 (Right of Entry) to determine 
compliance with this Chapter may, pursuant to a stop-use order, result in the suspension of 
discharges to the municipal wastewater system.   

D.  Any industrial user receiving a notice to suspend its discharge shall suspend 
discharging to the municipal wastewater system in accordance with the requirements contained 
in the notice. If an industrial user fails to immediately comply with the terms of a notice to 
suspend an actual or threatened discharge, the Control Authority may take steps it deems 
reasonably necessary to protect the health and welfare of persons, the environment or the POTW, 
which may include, but is not limited to, severing the industrial user’s sanitary sewer connection 
at any accessible location. As a condition of allowing the industrial user to recommence its 
discharge, the Control Authority may require the industrial user to submit a written statement 
describing the corrective action it has implemented to prevent discharges that presented an 
imminent danger or threat to the health and welfare of persons, the environment, or threatened to 
interfere with the operation of the POTW.     

E.  Nothing in this section prevents the Control Authority from taking any other 
enforcement action authorized by this chapter or otherwise available at law.  

FMC 20.30.1280   Appeal – Request for hearing. 
A. Appeal – Request for Hearing.  

1. Review of Civil Violation. A person to whom a notice of civil violation is 
issued pursuant to this chapter (“appellant”) may appeal such notice to the 
Hearing Examiner within ten calendar days after the date the notice of civil 
violation is served as determined in accordance with this chapter. 
2. Review of Compliance Order. A person to whom a compliance order is issued 
pursuant to this chapter (“appellant”) may appeal such order to the Hearing 
Examiner within ten calendar days after the date the notice of compliance order is 
served as determined in accordance with this chapter.  A request for expedited 
informal review shall not operate to toll the time period for filing an appeal of a 
stop-work or stop-use order. 

B. Appeal – Filing. 
1. Filing; Where. A notice of appeal shall be filed in writing with the Hearing 
Examiner during regular business hours by the appellant, or, in the case of a 
corporation, a duly authorized agent of the appellant. The Hearing Examiner may 
adopt rules consistent with this chapter allowing electronic filing of a notice of 
appeal. 
2. Weekends; Holidays. If the final day to file a notice of appeal is on a weekend 
or holiday, the appeal will be timely if filed before the close of business on the 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 70 
031522 v2 

next business day following the holiday or weekend. For purposes of this section, 
holiday shall mean those weekdays during which the City offices are closed for 
established holidays.  
3. Jurisdiction of Hearing Examiner. The Hearing Examiner shall not have 
jurisdiction to hear an appeal for which the notice of appeal is not filed within the 
time periods set forth in this chapter. 
4. Remission; Mitigation. A person to whom a notice of civil violation or 
compliance order has been issued, which civil violation or compliance order is 
subject to an application for mitigation or remission which application has been 
timely filed under the applicable provisions of the FMC, may appeal the 
underlying notice of violation and/or compliance order, and the decision on the 
application for mitigation or remission, by filing an appeal within ten calendar 
days after the date of service of the decision on the application for mitigation or 
remission.  

C. Content of Notice – Filing. 
1. Notice of Appeal of Civil Violation. The written notice of appeal of a civil 
violation and request for hearing shall identify with specificity, (a) the name of 
the appellant, (b) the mailing address at which the appellant may receive notices 
related to the hearing, (c) the notice of civil violation sought to be appealed, 
(d) the violation or violations being appealed, and (e) a statement identifying the 
relief the appellant is seeking from the Hearing Examiner. If the notice of civil 
violation is issued in conjunction with a compliance order and the appellant 
intends to appeal the compliance order, the notice of appeal and request for 
hearing must also comply with FMC 20.30.1280.C.2 below. The notice of appeal 
shall be signed by the appellant or a duly authorized representative of the 
appellant, and in the case of a corporation, a duly authorized agent of the 
appellant.  
2. Compliance Order. The written notice of appeal of a compliance order and 
request for hearing shall identify with specificity, (a) the name of the appellant, 
(b) the mailing address at which the appellant may receive notices related to the 
hearing, (c) the compliance order sought to be appealed, (d) the parts of the order 
that the appellant alleges are in error, (e) a concise statement of each alleged 
error(s) of law and/or error(s) of fact that form the basis for the appeal, (f) a 
concise statement of facts upon which the appellant relies to sustain the statement 
of error, and (g) a statement identifying the relief the appellant is seeking from the 
Hearing Examiner. If the compliance order is issued in conjunction with a notice 
of civil violation and the appellant intends to appeal the notice of violation, the 
notice of appeal and request for hearing must also comply with FMC 
20.30.1280.C.1 above. The notice of appeal shall be signed by the appellant, or a 
duly authorized representative of the appellant, and in the case of a corporation, a 
duly authorized agent of the appellant. The filing of such an appeal shall not alter 
the time for compliance with the compliance order unless modified by the 
Hearing Examiner following a hearing. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 71 
031522 v2 

D. Hearing To Be Scheduled. The Office of the Hearing Examiner will determine and 
schedule the time and date for a hearing before the Hearing Examiner. Extensions may be 
granted by the Hearing Examiner for good cause shown or when there is mutual agreement of the 
parties or to accommodate the schedule of the Hearing Examiner.  

E. Hearing – Procedure. The Hearing Examiner shall conduct an adjudicative hearing on 
the appeal pursuant to the rules of procedure of the Hearing Examiner. The City and the 
appellant shall be the parties in the hearing and each party may call witnesses and may be 
represented by legal counsel, may present testimony, confront and cross-examine adverse 
witnesses, and submit evidence and information in accordance with procedures prescribed by the 
Hearing Examiner. The Hearing Examiner shall give substantial weight to any discretionary 
decision, or any construction of the FMC or related regulation, rendered by the compliance 
officer or responsible public official. The written administrative record underlying the contested 
action or determination may be submitted to the Hearing Examiner and made a part of the record 
on appeal.   

F. Burden of Proof. The City shall have the burden of proof to demonstrate by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the violation or violations that are the subject of the appeal 
was or were committed and that the appellant is the responsible person. In the case of an appeal 
of a compliance order, the appellant shall have the burden of proof to demonstrate by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the compliance order was imposed, issued, or determined in 
error.  

G. Proceedings. 
1. Prehearing Conference. A prehearing conference may be required by the 
Hearing Examiner. 
2. Conduct of proceedings. All hearings shall be conducted in accordance with 
rules promulgated by the Hearing Examiner.  The Hearing Examiner shall have 
the authority to issue subpoenas compelling the appearance of witnesses and the 
production of documents and shall, further, have full authority to rule on all 
procedural matters, objections, and motions. 

H. Stay of Action Pending Appeal. An appellant may request the Hearing Examiner to 
stay or suspend an action by the City to implement the decision under review pending the 
outcome of the administrative appeal. The request must set forth a statement of grounds for the 
stay and the factual basis for the request. The Hearing Examiner may grant a stay only if the 
Hearing Examiner finds that: 

1. The party requesting the stay is likely to prevail on the merits; 
2. Without the stay, the party requesting it will suffer irreparable harm; 
3. The grant of a stay will not substantially harm other parties to the proceedings; 
4. The grant of a stay will not cause or contribute to an imminent threat of harm to 
persons or property; and 
5. The request for the stay is timely in light of the circumstances of the case. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 72 
031522 v2 

The Hearing Examiner may grant the request for a stay upon such terms and 
conditions, including the filing of security, as are necessary to prevent harm to 
other parties by the stay. 

I. Determination. The Hearing Examiner shall, as to each violation subject to appeal, 
determine whether the City has established by a preponderance of the evidence that the violation 
was committed and that the appellant is the responsible person, and shall affirm or vacate the 
City’s decision regarding such violation or violations.  
The Hearing Examiner shall, as to each compliance order subject to appeal, determine whether 
the appellant has established by a preponderance of the evidence that the order was imposed, 
issued, or determined in error based upon one or more of the following: 

1. The order was imposed, issued, or determined in excess of the authority or 
jurisdiction of the City or Control Authority; or 
2. The order was imposed, issued, or determined upon unlawful procedure; or 
3. The order was affected by material error of law or fact; or 
4. The order was clearly erroneous in view of the entire record as submitted; or 
5. The order was arbitrary or capricious. 

The Hearing Examiner may, as to each compliance order subject to appeal, (a) affirm the 
decision of the City, (b) remand the matter back to the City for further action consistent with the 
decision of the Hearing Examiner, (c) reverse the order or determination if the substantial rights 
of the appellant may have been prejudiced because the order or determination was in violation of 
one or more factors set forth above, or (d) modify the order or decision to the extent necessary to 
correct the error.  

J. Issue Order. The Hearing Examiner shall issue an order to the parties, which order shall 
contain the following information: 

1. The decision regarding the matter being appealed, including findings of fact 
and conclusions based thereon in support of the decision; and/or 
2. The required corrective action; and/or 
3. The date and time by which the correction must be completed; and/or 
4. The monetary penalties assessed; and/or 
5. A remand and order for further action.  

K. Notice of Decision. The Hearing Examiner shall give notice of the decision to the 
appellant and the City within a reasonable period of time following the hearing. This decision 
shall be considered the final decision in the absence of a motion for reconsideration. 

L. Failure to Appear. If the appellant fails to appear at the scheduled hearing, the Hearing 
Examiner shall enter an order of dismissal of the appeal, unless good cause is found to extend the 
hearing date or the City agrees to extend the hearing date, or the Hearing Examiner finds that 
notice of the hearing was not provided to the appellant. 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 73 
031522 v2 

M. Failure to Comply. It shall be unlawful to fail to comply with a final non-appealable 
decision of the Hearing Examiner. For purposes of this section, non-appealable means that all 
administrative and judicial appeals have been exhausted. Violations of a final non-appealable 
decision of the Hearing Examiner are subject to enforcement pursuant to this chapter. Willful 
noncompliance with a final non-appealable decision of the Hearing Examiner shall constitute a 
misdemeanor and shall be punished by a fine of up to $1,000 or 90 days in jail, or by both such 
fine and imprisonment. Each day that a violation continues shall constitute a separate and 
continuing offense. 

N. Reconsideration. An appellant may seek reconsideration of the decision of the Hearing 
Examiner by filing a motion with the office of the Hearing Examiner requesting reconsideration 
of a decision entered by the Examiner. A motion for reconsideration must be in writing and must 
set forth the alleged errors of procedure, fact, or law and must be filed in the Office of the 
Hearing Examiner within 14 calendar days of the issuance of the Examiner’s 
decision/recommendation, not counting the day of issuance of the decision/recommendation. If 
the last day for filing the motion for reconsideration falls on a weekend day or a holiday, the last 
day for filing shall be the next working day. The requirements set forth herein regarding the time 
limits for filing of motions for reconsideration and contents of such motions are jurisdictional. 
Accordingly, motions for reconsideration that are not timely filed with the Office of the Hearing 
Examiner or do not set forth the alleged errors shall be dismissed by the Examiner. It shall be 
within the sole discretion of the Examiner to determine whether an opportunity shall be given to 
other parties for response to a motion for reconsideration. The Examiner, after a review of the 
matter, shall take such further action as the Hearing Examiner deems appropriate, which may 
include the issuance of a revised decision/recommendation.  If a timely motion is filed meeting 
the jurisdictional requirements for reconsideration of the decision of the Hearing Examiner, the 
decision of the Hearing Examiner shall not be final until the decision of the Hearing Examiner 
upon the motion for reconsideration is served personally or by mailing.  

O. Final Decision. A party aggrieved by a final decision of the Hearing Examiner may 
appeal or seek review of the decision in accordance with applicable law. Unless another period 
of time applies under applicable law or court rule, any appeal of the decision of the Hearing 
Examiner must be filed within 21 calendar days from the date the Hearing Examiner’s final 
decision was served, personally or by mailing. 

P. Subsequent Repeat Violation – Failure to Abate – Misdemeanor. The commission of a 
subsequent violation or the failure or refusal to take corrective action pursuant to a decision of 
the Hearing Examiner after receipt of written notice of such decision shall constitute a 
misdemeanor. The City Attorney, or designee, shall have discretionary authority to file a 
subsequent violation as either a civil violation pursuant to this chapter, or a civil infraction, or a 
misdemeanor.  
 
20.30.1290 Remedies non-exclusive. 
The enforcement provisions in this chapter are not exclusive remedies. The City may take any, 
all, or any combination of the enforcement actions described in this chapter against an industrial 
user in violation of this chapter. Furthermore, the City may pursue any other available remedies 
that exist in law or equity, including but not limited to, injunctive relief against an industrial user 



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 74 
031522 v2 

in violation of this chapter.  Enforcement of violations will generally be in accordance with 
Chapter 20.30 of the Fircrest Municipal Code and the Enforcement Response Plan. 
 
  



 

 
Exhibit A – Industrial Wastewater 
Pretreatment Program 75 
031522 v2 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
20.30.1300 Severability. 
If any portion of this chapter, as now or hereafter amended, or its application to any person or 
circumstances, is held invalid, unenforceable, or unconstitutional, such adjudication shall not 
affect the validity of this chapter, as now or hereafter amended, or any section, provision or part 
hereof or thereof not adjudicated to be invalid, unenforceable, or unconstitutional, and its 
application to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected. 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 1 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
 

THE CITY OF TACOMA AND 
 

THE CITY OF FIRCREST 
 

REGARDING INDUSTRIAL PRETREATMENT  
 

 
 This interlocal agreement (the “Agreement”) for Industrial Pretreatment is 
entered into this   day of   , 2022, by and between the City of Tacoma, a 
municipal corporation, operating under the laws of the state of Washington as a first 
class city (hereafter "Tacoma") and the City of Fircrest, a Washington municipal 
corporation (hereafter "City"); Tacoma and City may be individually referred to as 
“Party” and collectively referred to as the “Parties”. 
 

RECITALS: 
 
A. Pursuant to Chapter 39.34 RCW (Interlocal Cooperation Act), one or more public 
entities may contract with one another to perform government functions or provide 
services, which each is by law authorized to perform.  Pursuant to RCW 35A.11.040 
non-charter code cities are authorized to exercise any of its powers, or perform any of 
its functions, jointly or in cooperation with other public agencies.   
 
B. Pursuant to RCW 35.67.300 any city or town owning or operating its own sewer 
system, whenever topographic conditions shall make it feasible and whenever such 
existing sewer system shall be adequate therefor in view of the sewerage and drainage 
requirements of the property in such city or town to be served by such system, may 
contract with any other city or town, for the discharge into its sewer system of sewage 
from all or any part or parts of such other city or town, upon such terms and conditions 
and for such periods of time as may be deemed reasonable. 
 
C. Tacoma is a first class charter city and owns and operates a POTW (publicly 
owned treatment works) under authority of RCW 35.21.210, 35.21.215, 35.67.020, and 
35.92.020, Article XI, § 11 of the Washington State Constitution, and Section 4.1 of the 
Tacoma City Charter. 
 
D. City is a non-charter code city and owns and operates a municipal wastewater 
system under authority of RCW 35A.11.020, 35A.21.150, and 35.67.020 and Article XI, 
§ 11 of the Washington State Constitution, but does not own or operate a wastewater 
treatment facility. 
 
E. Tacoma and City have previously entered into an agreement (the “Wastewater 
Treatment and Disposal Agreement”) dated February 1, 2021, whereby Tacoma and 
City established the quantity of allowable discharge of domestic and non-domestic 
wastewater from the City municipal wastewater system to the Tacoma POTW, charges 
for treatment services; and, further agreed to coordinate and plan cooperatively their 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 2 
 

services and facilities. 
 
F. Federal and State laws and implementing regulations regulate the collection and 
conveyance of wastewater to a POTW that discharges into the navigable waters of the 
United States and the public waters of the state of Washington under authority of the 
Federal Clean Water Act ,codified at 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq. (the “CWA”), and 
implementing regulations, and RCW Ch. 90.48. 
 
G. The Environmental Protection Agency has enacted regulations that establish 
Pretreatment Standards (See, 40 C.F.R. 403) which require that all discharges of 
pollutants into the waters of the United States from a POTW be prohibited in the 
absence of an NPDES (National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System) Permit. See, 
33 U.S.C. 1311 (Section 301).    
 
H. NPDES permits may be issued by the Federal Government, or they may be 
issued by state agencies that have been delegated the authority to administer their own 
permit programs.  33 U.S.C. §1342 (a) & (b).  The State of Washington has been 
delegated such authority by the Environmental Protection Agency and has issued 
NPDES Permits to Tacoma for discharges into waters of the United States and waters 
of the State. 
 
I. The State Department of Ecology (“Ecology”) manages a waste disposal permit 
(industrial wastewater discharge permit) program authorized pursuant to RCW 
90.48.160 - 200.  These statutes require any person who conducts a commercial or 
industrial operation of any type resulting in disposal of wastewater into a POTW 
discharging into waters of the state to obtain an industrial wastewater permit, unless a 
permit exemption applies (See WAC 173-216-050).   
 
J. Ecology has adopted regulations codified at WAC Ch. 173-208 that establish the 
program requirements applicable to cities, like Tacoma, that seek authorization to issue 
industrial wastewater discharge permits.  The program requirements include the 
obligation that the permit program adheres to the state or federal pretreatment 
standards and requirements.    
 
K. Tacoma has been delegated the authority to permit and accept 
commercial/industrial wastewater discharges from all contributing sources, users and 
facilities pursuant to Washington State Department of Ecology Order No. DE 94WQ-
S358. 
 
L. Tacoma is required to implement and enforce a POTW pretreatment program to 
regulate and control wastewater discharges from commercial/industrial sources, users 
and facilities that discharge directly or indirectly to such POTW, pursuant to the 
requirements of the CWA and the regulations promulgated thereunder (40 CFR Part 
403) and Chapter 90.48 RCW and the regulations promulgated thereunder.  Such 
authority may be contained within statutes, ordinances, or a series of contracts or joint 
powers agreements, which Tacoma is authorized to enact, enter into or implement, and 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 3 
 

which are authorized by state law.     
 
M. Commercial/industrial sources, users and facilities located in City either currently 
contribute, or may in the future contribute, process wastewater discharges to the City 
municipal wastewater system which are discharged to Tacoma’s POTW. At the time of 
the execution of this Agreement, there are no known industrial users in the City. 
 
N. Food service establishments have the potential to discharge floatable or 
settleable material to Tacoma’s POTW which may be harmful to, or cause obstruction 
in, the POTW or cause or contribute to pass through or interference. 
 
O. In order to continue to provide services to City, Tacoma must ensure that 
processed wastewater contributed from industrial sources, users or facilities located in 
City and food service establishments located in City meet or exceed the standards and 
requirements prescribed in Tacoma’s pretreatment ordinance, Tacoma Municipal Code 
Chapter 12.08C (hereafter "TMC 12.08C"), Tacoma’s pretreatment program approved 
pursuant to Department of Ecology Order No. DE 94WQ-S358, and the NPDES Permit 
No. WA0037087, condition S6, and such same or similar condition as may be required 
in a future NPDES permit issued to Tacoma. 
 
P. NPDES Permit No. WA0037087 and Permit No. WA0037214, condition S6 
requires, among other things, that Tacoma establish, where necessary, contracts or 
legally binding agreements with contributing jurisdictions to ensure compliance with 
applicable pretreatment requirements by commercial or industrial users within these 
jurisdictions.  Condition S6 requires that these contracts or agreements shall identify the 
agency responsible for the various implementation and enforcement activities to be 
performed in the contributing jurisdiction, and the specific roles, responsibilities, and 
pretreatment activities of each jurisdiction. 
 
Q. The Parties acknowledge and agree that it is necessary to enter into this 
Agreement to conform to the foregoing requirements and authorities, and that, in 
particular in this Agreement, City agrees to adopt a pretreatment ordinance and related 
enforcement ordinance that subjects the commercial/industrial users within its 
boundaries to the necessary pretreatment controls, and by this Agreement, delegates to 
Tacoma as lead agency, the authority of the City, to implement and enforce that 
pretreatment ordinance.   
 
R. It is in the best interests of the Parties of this Agreement and in the interest of the 
public health, safety and welfare of the area served by the Parties that this Agreement 
be executed. 
 
 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 4 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
Pursuant to RCW Ch. 39.34 and RCW 35.67.020, and in consideration of the terms, 
conditions, covenants and performances contained herein, as well as the attached 
exhibits, which are incorporated and made a part, hereof, the Parties agree as follows: 
 
SECTION 1.  RECITALS ADOPTED 

 
The recitals set forth above are hereby adopted as the factual and legal basis for this 
Agreement.  
 
SECTION 2.  INTENT; PURPOSE 
 
A. City desires to continue to discharge Wastewater to the Tacoma POTW as set 
forth in the Wastewater Treatment and Disposal Agreement, as may be amended, or 
any successor agreement that may be agreed to by the Parties.  The Parties 
acknowledge and agree that City, as a condition of discharging to the Tacoma POTW, 
must establish, implement and enforce a pretreatment program for industrial users that 
conforms to applicable federal and state laws and regulations and to Tacoma’s 
pretreatment standards and requirements, as amended from time to time.  City further 
desires that the City of Tacoma be and remain the control authority for issuance and 
enforcement of all industrial wastewater discharge permits within the corporate 
boundaries of the City and that Tacoma take responsibility as lead agency for 
implementation and enforcement of the pretreatment program in the City.  City 
acknowledges and understands that Tacoma has adopted a pretreatment program 
codified at Chapter 12.08C of the Tacoma Municipal Code.  Chapter 12.08C contains 
substantive requirements intended to conform to requirements under applicable laws 
and regulations made applicable to all permittees under the industrial wastewater 
discharge permits issued by Tacoma as control authority.  City acknowledges and 
understands that City shall adopt pretreatment standards and requirements that are 
substantively the same as those adopted by Tacoma. 
 
B. The Parties intend that this Agreement will operate to meet and satisfy Tacoma’s 
obligations, pursuant to the requirements of the CWA (33 U.S.C. §1251 et seq) and the 
regulations promulgated thereunder (40 CFR Part 403) and Chapter 90.48 RCW and 
the regulations promulgated thereunder, to implement and enforce a POTW 
pretreatment program to regulate and control wastewater discharges from 
commercial/industrial sources, users and facilities that contribute process wastewater 
discharges to the City municipal wastewater system which are then discharged to the 
Tacoma POTW or that contribute non-domestic wastewater that has the potential to be 
harmful to, or cause obstruction in, the POTW or cause or contribute to pass through or 
interference. 
 
C. The Parties intend that this Agreement will establish the roles and responsibilities 
of Tacoma and City for adoption, maintenance and enforcement of commercial/industrial 
pretreatment standards; for the user identification and permitting process; and for 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 5 
 

inspection, sampling, records management, enforcement and other aspects of 
implementation and delivery of Tacoma’s pretreatment program.   
 
D. The Parties intend that City and Tacoma shall jointly exercise certain regulatory 
powers as set forth herein, with Tacoma acting on behalf of City as lead agency for 
implementation and enforcement of pretreatment regulations and as control authority for 
issuance of industrial wastewater discharge permits, within the corporate boundaries of 
City.  This Agreement shall therefore operate to delegate to Tacoma, as lead agency 
and on behalf of the City, all lawful power and authority necessary to enforce 
compliance with City ordinances and regulations governing pretreatment standards and 
requirements and discharges into the City municipal wastewater system which are then 
discharged to the Tacoma POTW and establish Tacoma as the control authority for 
purposes of issuance of industrial wastewater discharge permits.  

 
SECTION 3.  DEFINITIONS 

 
In construing all provisions of this Agreement, when not inconsistent with the context, 
the following terms, phrases, words and their derivations where capitalized shall have 
the meanings given herein.   When not inconsistent with the context, words used in the 
present tense include the future, words in the plural include the singular, and words in 
the singular include the plural.  If specific provisions of law, code, regulation or rule 
referred to herein be renumbered or amended, then the reference shall be read to refer 
to the renumbered and/or amended provision.  References to governmental entities 
(whether persons or entities) refer to those entities or their successors in authority.  Any 
terms not defined in this Agreement shall have the definitions as given in the most 
current version of Tacoma’s Municipal Code Chapter 12.08C (TMC Ch. 12.08C).  Any 
terms not defined in this Agreement or TMC Ch. 12.08C, shall have the same meaning 
as those terms are given in the most current version of WAC 173-208-040.  Any terms 
not defined in this Agreement or TMC Ch. 12.08C, or WAC 173-208-040 (Definitions), 
shall have the same meaning as those terms are given in the most current version of 40 
C.F.R. 403.3 (Definitions).  Words not otherwise defined, shall be given their common 
and ordinary meaning.   
 
A. Control Document.  An industrial wastewater discharge permit or any other formal 
written discharge authorization or prohibition issued by Tacoma, City or Washington 
State Department of Ecology. 
 
B. Effective Date.  The effective date of this Agreement shall be the date set forth 
above, and if no date is set forth above, the last date entered below by the executive 
signatories hereto. 
 
C. City municipal wastewater system.  The devices and systems owned or operated 
by City and used in the collection, storage and conveyance of wastewater.   
 
D. Service Area. Property within the corporate boundaries of the City which 
discharges wastewater to the Municipal Sanitary Sewer System. 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 6 
 

 
E. TMC.  The Tacoma Municipal Code. 
 
SECTION 4.  PRETREATMENT PROGRAM AUTHORITY AND STANDARDS 
 
A. Tacoma’s Delegated POTW Pretreatment Program Authority. Tacoma  owns and 
operates a POTW and has been delegated the authority to permit and accept industrial 
wastewater discharges from all industrial sources, users and facilities, pursuant to 
Washington State Department of Ecology Order No. DE 94-WQ-S358. Tacoma is 
currently the control authority over the POTW pretreatment program governing direct 
and indirect discharges to its POTW pursuant to this delegation from the Department of 
Ecology.   
 
B. Tacoma's Adopted Pretreatment Ordinance. Tacoma has adopted an ordinance 
codified at TMC Ch. 12.08C which establishes a POTW pretreatment program for the 
regulation and permitting of users and the enforcement of pretreatment standards and 
requirements which meet federal, state and local water quality standards for users. 
 
C. City's Adopted Pretreatment Ordinance.  
 

1. City shall adopt an ordinance (the “Pretreatment Ordinance”) establishing 
and implementing wastewater pretreatment standards and pretreatment 
requirements that are no less stringent and are as broad in scope as Tacoma’s 
applicable pretreatment standards and pretreatment requirements as set forth in 
TMC Ch. 12.08C.  The pretreatment ordinance will be enforceable as to all 
commercial/industrial users located in City’s service area and shall include 
provisions for enforcement of industrial wastewater discharge permits issued by 
Tacoma to commercial/industrial users within the service area.  The pretreatment 
ordinance shall include enforcement provisions consistent with the authority 
granted to Tacoma pursuant to TMC Ch. 1.82 and TMC Ch. 1.84.  
 
2. City shall forward to Tacoma for review a draft of its proposed pretreatment 
ordinance within ninety (90) days of the effective date of this Agreement. Tacoma 
shall review the pretreatment ordinance for conformance with applicable 
requirements of this Agreement and approve the pretreatment ordinance, or 
disapprove the draft pretreatment ordinance and provide comments to City 
explaining the deficiencies resulting in disapproval. The Parties will act diligently 
to review and revise the draft pretreatment ordinance, and seek regulatory review 
and approval by other public agencies to the extent required.  Upon review and 
final approval by Tacoma of the pretreatment ordinance, City will seek approval 
of the same by its City Council.    
 

D. Amendment of City’s Adopted Pretreatment Ordinance.  Upon notification of 
adoption of any amendments made to TMC Ch. 12.08C, or any related enforcement 
provisions of the TMC, City shall, within 120 days, incorporate such revisions, 
modifications or amendments into the pretreatment ordinance and any other City sewer 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 7 
 

use/pretreatment resolution, to the extent that the TMC Ch. 12.08C revision, 
modification or amendment significantly revises, modifies or amends City’s pretreatment 
ordinance.  City agrees that any amendments made to the pretreatment ordinance shall 
first be submitted to Tacoma for its review for compliance with this Agreement and that it 
shall not adopt any amendments to its pretreatment ordinance that would violate the 
provisions of this Agreement.   
 
E.  Pollutant Specific Local Limits.  Contemporaneous with the adoption of the 
pretreatment ordinance, City will adopt pollutant specific local limits, which address at 
least the same pollutant parameters and are at least as stringent as the local limits 
enacted by Tacoma.  If Tacoma makes any revisions or additions to its local limits, 
Tacoma will forward to City a copy of such revisions or additions within thirty (30) days 
of enactment thereof. City will adopt any such revisions or additions within 120 days of 
receipt thereof 
 
SECTION 5. LEAD AGENCY AUTHORIZATION; DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY 
 
A. Delegation of Authority.  City designates Tacoma as its agent and delegates to 
Tacoma the full power and authority of City to implement and enforce the pretreatment 
ordinance, and related enforcement provisions, for and on behalf of City.  Under such 
delegation of authority, Tacoma may take any action under the pretreatment ordinance, 
and related enforcement authority, that could have been taken by City, including the 
enforcement of the pretreatment ordinance in courts of law.  Pursuant to such 
delegation of authority, and Tacoma’s delegation of permitting authority pursuant to 
Ecology Order No. DE 94WQ-S358, all industrial wastewater discharge permits issued 
to commercial/industrial users located in the Service Area shall be issued by Tacoma as 
the control authority.  City understands that it may be considered as an implied co-
permittee under Ecology Order No. DE 94WQ-S358, or successor order. 
 
B. Technical and Administrative Duties.  Tacoma, on behalf of and as agent for City, 
will perform technical and administrative duties necessary to implement and enforce the 
pretreatment ordinance. Tacoma will: (1) update the industrial user survey; (2) issue 
industrial wastewater discharge permits to all industrial users in the service area 
required to obtain a permit; (3) conduct inspections, take enforcement action, perform 
sampling and analysis; (4) take all appropriate enforcement responses planned and 
provided for in the pretreatment ordinance and any adopted policies and procedures, 
including Tacoma’s pretreatment enforcement response plan; and (5) perform any other 
technical or administrative duties the Parties deem appropriate, including those 
specified in Section 6 of this Agreement. In addition, Tacoma may, as agent of City, 
take emergency action to stop or prevent any discharge, which presents or may present 
an imminent danger to the health or welfare of humans, which reasonably appears to 
threaten the environment, or which threatens to cause interference, pass through, or 
sludge contamination. 
 
C. Contributing Jurisdictions.  Intentionally Omitted.   
 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 8 
 

D.  Cost Allocation.  Tacoma agrees that is will be responsible for all costs incurred 
by Tacoma in implementing and enforcing City’s pretreatment ordinance; provided that 
the costs of such enforcement may be recovered by Tacoma within rates and charges 
assessed to City pursuant to the Wastewater Treatment and Disposal Agreement, as 
may be amended, or a successor agreement, and such fees assessed to applicants and 
industrial users pursuant to the pretreatment ordinance.  City agrees to adopt a rate and 
fee schedule consistent with the rate and fee schedule applicable to TMC 12.08C.  Any 
fees directly assessed to applicants and users pursuant to such fee schedule shall be 
retained by Tacoma to recover its administrative costs.  Monetary penalties assessed 
pursuant to administrative enforcement action taken by Tacoma on behalf of City 
pursuant to this Agreement, shall be collected and retained by City.  Rates and fees 
assessed pursuant to a special approved discharge authorization or other control 
mechanism for a short-term discharge to the City municipal wastewater system shall be 
paid to and retained by Tacoma.  Supplemental fees assessed and collected shall be 
allocated between City and Tacoma based proportionally upon each Party’s response 
costs included in the assessment. 
 
E. Duty of Cooperation.  City agrees that it will cooperate in good faith with Tacoma 
in carrying outs its delegated authority to implement and enforce the pretreatment 
ordinance.    
 
F. Penalties; Enforcement. In the event that a criminal complaint or civil infraction 
notice is filed to enforce the pretreatment ordinance, City will facilitate prosecution of 
such criminal or civil action in a court or other hearing body with jurisdiction over such 
criminal complaint or civil infraction notice, and upon request of Tacoma, agree to 
appointment of a special prosecutor to prosecute the civil infraction or criminal 
complaint.  In the event administrative enforcement action is taken and/or administrative 
penalties are assessed to enforce compliance with the pretreatment ordinance, City 
agrees that, after notification to the City Manager, any contested hearings shall be 
conducted before the Tacoma Hearing Examiner, or designee, acting as the Hearing 
Examiner for the City.  City agrees that in any criminal, civil or administrative 
enforcement action, Tacoma may act as an agency representative of City.     
 
SECTION 6. USER IDENTIFICATION 
 
A. Categorization of Industrial Users.  To identify and categorize users, City will work 
with Tacoma to ensure all significant industrial users are identified and tracked. This 
shall include methods for periodic and ongoing surveys of all commercial/industrial 
users, which will be processed in conformance with the pretreatment ordinance. At the 
time this Agreement is executed, there are no known industrial users in the City. 
 
B. Notice to New Users. Prior to connection to the City municipal wastewater 
system, all new commercial/industrial users shall be informed of their responsibility to 
provide survey information. 
 
C. Changes in Discharge Flow or Pollutants.  When an existing significant industrial 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 9 
 

user alters or increases its discharge in flow or pollutants characteristics by twenty 
percent (20%) or more, or any time it is requested by Tacoma, City will immediately 
require that such significant industrial user respond to a user pretreatment survey. City 
will forward a copy of the completed survey to Tacoma within five (5) days of receipt of 
the survey. 
 
SECTION 7.  PERMITTING 
 
A.  After determining that an industrial wastewater discharge permit is required, and 
upon receipt of a completed industrial wastewater discharge permit application, City 
shall consult with Tacoma’s pretreatment coordinator, who will process the application in 
accordance with the pretreatment ordinance. Tacoma will provide copy of the draft 
industrial wastewater discharge permit to City for review and comments. Tacoma will be 
responsible for issuance of the industrial wastewater discharge permit to the significant 
industrial user.  Representatives of City may attend any permit issuance meeting. 
 
B. Tacoma shall forward a copy of any industrial wastewater discharge permit or 
industrial wastewater discharge permit renewal to City within 30 days of its issuance by 
Tacoma. 
 
SECTION 8.  SAMPLING 
 
A. Tacoma shall be responsible for coordination of the discharge monitoring, sample 
collection and laboratory analysis for parameters with effluent limits in an industrial 
user's industrial wastewater discharge permit. 
 

1. All sampling procedures will conform to procedures set out in the 
pretreatment ordinance. 
 
2.  No permitted industrial user shall be allowed by City to discharge industrial 
wastewater containing concentrations in excess of the daily or  instantaneous 
maximum allowable discharge limits, "local limits", as stated in the pretreatment 
ordinance, unless authorized in writing from Tacoma’s Director of Environmental 
Services. These limits shall apply at the point where the wastewater is 
discharged at end of process before mixing with domestic wastewater. 
 
3.  All concentrations for metallic substances are for "total" metal unless 
indicated otherwise. 

 
SECTION 9.  INSPECTIONS 
 
A. Tacoma will perform inspections, surveillance and oversight on industrial users to 
determine and/or confirm compliance with applicable pretreatment standards and 
requirements. Tacoma will thoroughly inspect each industrial user in accordance with its 
approved program document and document findings and efforts to resolve deficiencies. 
 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 10 
 

B. City will notify Tacoma of any pretreatment related issues discovered during 
normal operation and maintenance of City’s municipal wastewater system. 
 
SECTION 10.  ENFORCEMENT 

 
A. City agrees to adopt Tacoma’s Pretreatment Enforcement Response Plan (ERP) 
as it now exists, and as may from time to time be amended, as the enforcement 
response plan of City applicable to enforcement of the pretreatment ordinance. Tacoma 
will enforce the effluent limits and conditions of an industrial wastewater discharge 
permit issued to an industrial user in City’s Service Area and will enforce the 
pretreatment ordinance, in accordance with the ERP adopted by City. Responsibility for 
other administrative and judicial enforcement actions may be allocated between the 
Parties as set forth herein, and as may be further negotiated and agreed to by City and 
Tacoma. 
 
B. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as prohibiting City’s ability to take 
any other action or enforcement, beyond those stated in this Agreement, to the extent 
authorized by law. 
 
SECTION 11.  RECORDS MANAGEMENT 
 
A. Consistent with the Public Records Act, and any other applicable public records 
statutes, City will allow Tacoma to inspect and copy records that are relevant to the 
obligations and duties of City under this Agreement for any user. 
 
B. Tacoma will submit annually a report to Ecology specifying the 
commercial/industrial users surveyed in City and include a list in its annual pretreatment 
report. Tacoma shall make a copy of the report available to City. 
 
SECTION 12.  INTERAGENCY COMMUNICATIONS 
 
All communications and reports in connection with this Agreement, unless otherwise 
noted, shall be directed to the following staff, in writing by email, facsimile, regular U.S. 
mail or certified mail, return-receipt requested.  All notices required or permitted to be 
given hereunder shall be in writing, and shall be deemed effective either, (i) upon hand 
delivery to the person then holding the office shown on the attention line of the address 
below, or, if such office is vacant or no longer exists, to a person holding a comparable 
office, or (ii) or when delivered by a nationally recognized overnight mail delivery 
service, to the Party and at the address specified below, or (iii) on the third business day 
following its deposit with the United States Postal Service, first class and certified or 
registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, properly sealed and 
addressed as follows: 
 
 
 
 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 11 
 

The City of Tacoma      City of Fircrest  
Environmental Services Director    City Clerk 
2201 Portland Avenue     115 Ramsdell Street 
Tacoma, WA 98421      Fircrest, WA 98466 
 

EMERGENCY  SPILL REPORTING 
City of Tacoma 
 Pretreatment  Coordinator 
(253)502-2162 

 
24HR Response (253) 502-2222 

City of Fircrest 
Utility Billing Clerk 
(253) 564-8900 
 
24HR Response (253) 564-8900 
 

 WA State Department of 
Ecology Water Quality 
Engineer Southwest 
Regional Office 
PO Box 47775 
Olympia, WA 98504 

 
     

 
 
SECTION 13.   INDEMNIFICATION. 
 
A. To the maximum extent permitted by law, Tacoma and City shall defend, 
indemnify and hold harmless the other party, and its officers, officials, employees, 
contractors and agents, from any and  all  claims,  demands, suits, actions, fines, 
penalties and liability of any kind (collectively “Liabilities”), including injuries to persons 
or damages to property, which arise out of or are related to any negligent acts, errors, 
omissions of the indemnifying party and its officers, officials, employees, contractors 
and agents in performing obligations under this Agreement, including by way of example 
and not limitation, wastewater or domestic wastewater discharged from users, disruption 
of treatment processes or operations, harmful degradation of sludge quality, NPDES 
permit violations, and other air, water and sludge quality violations caused by harmful 
wastes discharged from users in the service area. However, if any such damages and 
injuries to persons or property are caused by or result from the concurrent negligence of 
Tacoma or its officers, officials, employees, contractors and agents, and City or its 
officers, officials, employees, contractors, and agents, each Party's obligation hereunder 
applies only to the extent of the negligence of such party or its officers, officials, 
employees, contractors or agents. 
 
B. The foregoing indemnity is specifically and expressly intended to constitute a 
waiver of each party's immunity under Industrial Insurance, Title 51 RCW, as respects 
the other party only, and only to the extent necessary to provide the indemnified party 
with a full and complete indemnity of claims made by the indemnitor's employees. This 
waiver has been mutually negotiated. 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 12 
 

 
C. In the event that any suit based on such a claim, demand, suit, action, fine, 
penalty or liability is brought against either party, each party retains the right to 
participate in said suit if any principle of public law is involved. 

 
SECTION 14.  OTHER PROVISIONS 
 
A. Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire written Agreement and 
constitutes the final Agreement between the Parties concerning the adoption and 
enforcement of pretreatment standards and requirements for industrial users. This 
Agreement supersedes all prior discussions and previous agreements concerning such 
industrial discharges or pretreatment; with the exception that, this Agreement is not 
intended to supersede or replace the Wastewater Treatment and Disposal Agreement, 
as may be amended or any successor agreement. This Agreement may be amended 
only in writing, signed by both Parties. 
 
B. Severability.  If any word, article, section, subsection, paragraph, provision, 
condition, clause, sentence, or its application to any person or circumstance (collectively 
referred to as “Term”), shall be held to be illegal, invalid, or unconstitutional for any 
reason by any court or agency of competent jurisdiction, such term declared illegal, 
invalid or unconstitutional shall be severable and the remaining terms of the Agreement 
shall remain in full force and effect.  In the event that such term shall be held or 
otherwise mutually agreed to by the Parties to be illegal, invalid, or unconstitutional, the 
Parties shall reform the Agreement pursuant to Subsection C of this Section 14.  
 
C. Subsequent Action; Review and Amendment.  The Parties will review this 
Agreement periodically to ensure compliance with the CWA, RCW Chapter 90.48, and 
the rules and regulations issued thereunder, Tacoma’s NPDES permits, and Tacoma’s 
approved pretreatment program.  In the event that after this Agreement becomes 
effective, (a) there is a change in or clarification of the law, a regulation or Tacoma’s 
Pretreatment Program which changes, narrows, broadens or clarifies the authority or 
obligations of the Parties with respect to any act permitted or authorized under this 
Agreement, or (b) the State of Washington or any agency thereof or any agency of the 
Federal government require the Parties  to act in a manner which is inconsistent with 
any provisions of this Agreement, or (c) any term, article, section, subsection, 
paragraph, provision, condition, clause, sentence, or other portion of this Agreement, or 
its application to any person or circumstance, shall be held to be illegal, invalid or 
unconstitutional for any reason by any court or agency of competent jurisdiction, or (d) 
City is authorized by the United States Environmental Protection Agency and Ecology to 
develop and implement a delegated POTW pretreatment program, or (e) because of a 
change in circumstances, the Parties believe that amendments to this Agreement are 
necessary or appropriate, then the Parties agree to enter into good faith negotiations to 
amend this Agreement so as to enable the Parties to address, in a manner reasonably 
acceptable to Tacoma and City, such change or other development which formed the 
basis for the negotiations.  The Parties recognize that the purpose of the negotiations 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 13 
 

would be to preserve, to the maximum extent consistent with the law, the intent, scope 
and purpose of this Agreement. 
 
D. Challenge to Delegated Authority.  If a court, hearing body, or regulatory agency 
with authority over the City’s pretreatment program, determines that the Tacoma lacks 
authority to enforce the City’s pretreatment ordinance, the City will take whatever action 
is reasonably necessary to ensure the implementation and enforcement of its 
pretreatment ordinance against its industrial users, including, but not limited to, 
implementing and enforcing its pretreatment ordinance on its own behalf, and agreeing 
to amend this Agreement to the extent necessary and reasonable to remedy the lack of 
authority. 
 
E. Further Documents.  The City of Tacoma’s Environmental Services Director and 
the City’s City Manager, or their designees, are authorized to execute or furnish such 
documents as may be necessary to implement and consummate this Agreement and 
the actions, duties or responsibilities of this Agreement. 
 
F. Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement shall be ten (10) years, which 
shall renew automatically for successive one-year terms so long as the Wastewater 
Treatment and Disposal Agreement, as may be amended, or any successor agreement, 
remains effective. Upon termination of such service agreement and cessation of 
discharge of wastewater from any source from the City municipal wastewater system to 
the Tacoma POTW, this Agreement shall automatically terminate without further action 
by Tacoma or City. 
 
G. Termination. Because the Agreement is necessary to ensure compliance with 
Tacoma’s POTW pretreatment enforcement obligations under federal law, this 
Agreement may be terminated only if the Wastewater Treatment and Disposal 
Agreement, as may be amended, or any successor agreement, that obligates Tacoma 
to accept wastewater from City has been terminated, and only upon cessation of 
discharge of wastewater from the City municipal wastewater system to the Tacoma 
POTW. 
 
H. Dispute Resolution.  Tacoma and City shall attempt to resolve a dispute 
regarding this Agreement by informal negotiation, pursuant to an informal process 
agreed to by both Parties. If the Parties  fail  to  agree  upon  an  informal process within 
ten (10) business days of notice of a dispute, or fail to resolve the dispute through an 
agreed upon informal process, the Parties shall submit the dispute to mediation. 
Thereafter, either party may seek legal or equitable relief in the courts.   

 
I. Jurisdiction and Venue. This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Washington and relevant federal requirements. The 
Superior Court of Pierce County, Washington and/or the Federal District Court for 
Western Washington, shall have exclusive jurisdiction and venue over any legal 
action arising under this Agreement. 
 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 14 
 

J.  No Third Party Rights. No term or provision of this Agreement is intended to 
be, or shall be, for the benefit of any person not a party hereto, and no such person 
shall have any right or cause of action hereunder, except as may be otherwise 
provided herein.  The Parties intend that the rights, obligations, and covenants in this 
Agreement and the collateral instruments shall be exclusively enforceable by City 
and Tacoma, their successors, and assigns.   
 
K.  No Joint Venture. No joint venture or partnership is formed as a result of this 
Agreement. No employees or agents of one party or any of its contractors or 
subcontractors shall be deemed, or represent themselves to be, employees of the 
other party. 
 
L. Attorneys’ Fees and Costs. If either party incurs attorney fees, costs or other 
legal expenses to enforce the provisions of this Agreement against the other party, all 
such fees, costs and expenses shall be recoverable by the substantially prevailing 
party. 
 
M.   Waiver. Wavier of any default shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any 
subsequent default. Waiver of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not 
be deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach and shall not be 
construed to be a modification of the terms of this Agreement, unless stated to be 
such through written approval of the non-breaching party and attachment of such 
written approval to this Agreement. 
 
N. Interlocal Cooperation Act Compliance.  This is an Agreement entered into 
pursuant to Chapter 39.34 RCW. Its purpose is as set forth in Section 2. Its duration 
is as specified in Section 14.F. Its method of termination is set forth in Section 14.G.  
Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, each party shall bear its own costs 
and control its own manner of financing and of establishing and maintaining a budget 
therefore.  No separate entity is created and no real or personal property shall be 
acquired pursuant to this Agreement, which will need to be disposed of upon partial 
or complete termination of this Agreement. 
 
O. Calculation of Time.  All periods of time referred to herein shall include 
Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays in the State of Washington, except that if the 
last day of any period falls on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the State of 
Washington, the period shall be extended to include the next day which is not a 
Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the State of Washington 
 
P. Document Execution and Filing.  City and Tacoma agree that there shall be 
three (3) duplicate originals of this Agreement procured and distributed for signature 
by the necessary officials of Tacoma and City. Upon execution, one executed original 
of this Agreement shall be retained by the Tacoma City Clerk, one shall be retained 
by the Tacoma Environmental Services Department, and one shall be retained by 
City. The Tacoma City Clerk shall cause a  copy  of  this  Agreement  to  be  posted  
on  the  City  website  pursuant  to  RCW 39.34.040. Upon execution of the originals 



Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 15 
 

and posting of a copy on Tacoma’s website, each such duplicate original shall 
constitute an Agreement binding upon all Parties.  
 
This Agreement may be executed in identical counterparts, all of which shall be 
considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when 
counterparts, have been signed by each party and delivered to the other party.  In the 
event that any signature is delivered by facsimile transmission or by an e-mail which 
contains an electronic file of an executed signature page, such signature page shall 
be deemed to constitute an original instrument, with the same force and effect as 
execution and delivery of an original, and shall create a valid and binding obligation of 
the party executing the Agreement. 
 
One each of the duplicate originals shall be distributed to the designated agents of 
the Parties, named as follows: 
 

City of Tacoma  
Director of Environmental Services 
2201 Portland Avenue 
Tacoma, WA 98421 

 
 
 
        City of Fircrest  

City Clerk  
115 Ramsdell Street 
Fircrest, WA 98466 
 



 

Interlocal Pretreatment Agreement    
Between Tacoma and City of Fircrest - 16 
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement 
to be executed by their authorized representatives. 
 
CITY OF TACOMA:   CITY OF FIRCREST: 
 
 
   
By: _______________________  By: _______________________ 
City Manager               Title: City Manager                
 
Date:   Date:   
   
 
Attest:  Attest:  
 
 
    
City Clerk  Jayne Westman, City Clerk 
 
Approved:  
   
   
   
   
By:    
Environmental Services Director  
  
 
  Approved as to form: 
   
By:   
Finance Director   
    
Approved as to form:  Hillary J. Evans, City Attorney 
   
 
   
Chief Deputy City Attorney   
 
 
    
By:  
Risk Manager   

 
 


	1. 072622 Agenda
	4A. 2022 NNO
	10A. AP Report 07-26-22
	10A. PR Report  07-15-22
	10C. 071222 Minutes
	13A. 2022 Six-year TIP AS
	13A1. 2022 Six-year TIP Resolution
	13A2. Six-Year TIP Final 2022
	PREFACE
	NON-DISCRIMINATION
	GRANT APPLICATIONS AND LEVERAGING LOCAL DOLLARS
	ABOUT THE CITY OF FIRCREST
	FUNDING SOURCES
	Motor Vehicle Fuel Tax Funds
	Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act (FAST Act)
	Transportation Improvement Board
	City Funding Sources
	Real Estate Excise Taxes
	Washington State Department of Transportation
	Surface Water Management Program

	CONSISTENCY WITH LAND USE MANAGEMENT PLAN
	Grind and Overlay
	Roadway Improvements
	Pedestrian, Non-Motorized

	ADP691C.tmp
	Sheet1



	13B. AS 2022 NNO - Fireworks
	13B1. Res NNO Fireworks
	13B2. Fireworks Agreement & Insurance 2022

	13C. WAWARN Agenda Summary
	13C1. WAWARN Resolution
	13C2. Exhibit A warn-mutual-aid-agreement

	13D. AS Flag Policy
	13D. RES Flag Policy

	13E. AS - Tacoma Wastewater ILA
	13E1. ORD - Tacoma Wastewater Pretreatment ILA
	13E2. Ex. A Ch. 20.30 Wastewater Pretreatment Program
	“Biochemical Oxygen Demand, 5-Day” or “BOD5.” The quantity of oxygen used in the biochemical oxidation of organic matter under standard laboratory procedure in five (5) days at 20 degrees (20º) Celsius, expressed in parts per million or milligrams per...
	FMC 20.30.1280   Appeal – Request for hearing.
	A. Appeal – Request for Hearing.
	B. Appeal – Filing.
	C. Content of Notice – Filing.
	D. Hearing To Be Scheduled. The Office of the Hearing Examiner will determine and schedule the time and date for a hearing before the Hearing Examiner. Extensions may be granted by the Hearing Examiner for good cause shown or when there is mutual agre...
	E. Hearing – Procedure. The Hearing Examiner shall conduct an adjudicative hearing on the appeal pursuant to the rules of procedure of the Hearing Examiner. The City and the appellant shall be the parties in the hearing and each party may call witness...
	F. Burden of Proof. The City shall have the burden of proof to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that the violation or violations that are the subject of the appeal was or were committed and that the appellant is the responsible person. I...
	G. Proceedings.
	H. Stay of Action Pending Appeal. An appellant may request the Hearing Examiner to stay or suspend an action by the City to implement the decision under review pending the outcome of the administrative appeal. The request must set forth a statement of...
	I. Determination. The Hearing Examiner shall, as to each violation subject to appeal, determine whether the City has established by a preponderance of the evidence that the violation was committed and that the appellant is the responsible person, and ...
	J. Issue Order. The Hearing Examiner shall issue an order to the parties, which order shall contain the following information:
	K. Notice of Decision. The Hearing Examiner shall give notice of the decision to the appellant and the City within a reasonable period of time following the hearing. This decision shall be considered the final decision in the absence of a motion for r...
	L. Failure to Appear. If the appellant fails to appear at the scheduled hearing, the Hearing Examiner shall enter an order of dismissal of the appeal, unless good cause is found to extend the hearing date or the City agrees to extend the hearing date,...
	M. Failure to Comply. It shall be unlawful to fail to comply with a final non-appealable decision of the Hearing Examiner. For purposes of this section, non-appealable means that all administrative and judicial appeals have been exhausted. Violations ...
	N. Reconsideration. An appellant may seek reconsideration of the decision of the Hearing Examiner by filing a motion with the office of the Hearing Examiner requesting reconsideration of a decision entered by the Examiner. A motion for reconsideration...
	O. Final Decision. A party aggrieved by a final decision of the Hearing Examiner may appeal or seek review of the decision in accordance with applicable law. Unless another period of time applies under applicable law or court rule, any appeal of the d...
	P. Subsequent Repeat Violation – Failure to Abate – Misdemeanor. The commission of a subsequent violation or the failure or refusal to take corrective action pursuant to a decision of the Hearing Examiner after receipt of written notice of such decisi...


	13E3. ILA Tacoma Wastewater Pretreatment
	INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN
	RECITALS:
	SECTION 1.  RECITALS ADOPTED
	The recitals set forth above are hereby adopted as the factual and legal basis for this Agreement.
	SECTION 2.  INTENT; PURPOSE
	SECTION 3.  DEFINITIONS
	SECTION 4.  PRETREATMENT PROGRAM AUTHORITY AND STANDARDS
	SECTION 5. LEAD AGENCY AUTHORIZATION; DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY
	SECTION 6. USER IDENTIFICATION
	SECTION 7.  PERMITTING
	SECTION 8.  SAMPLING
	SECTION 9.  INSPECTIONS
	SECTION 10.  ENFORCEMENT
	SECTION 11.  RECORDS MANAGEMENT
	SECTION 12.  INTERAGENCY COMMUNICATIONS
	SECTION 14.  OTHER PROVISIONS



	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page


Sheet1

		TABLE 1: 2023-2028 TRANSPORTATION FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS

				City of Fircrest Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvement Program (2023 to 2028)

				Transportation Facility Improvements				2023		2024		2025		2026		2027		2028		TOTAL

				Capital Appropriations

				1		Major Pavement Patching: Citywide		$   100,000		$   100,000		$   100,000		$   100,000		$   100,000		$   100,000		$   600,000.00

				Grind and Overlays

				2		Regents Blvd: Arondale Dr to 67th Ave		$   82,000		$   760,000										$   842,000.00

				3		1/2 Street Orchard St/Regents Blvd to end of Right-of Way						$   250,000								$   250,000.00

				4		1/2 Street Orchard St/Stanford to Regents Blvd								$   180,000						$   180,000.00

				Roadway Improvements

				5		Buena Vista Ave: 1300 block										$   75,000				$   75,000.00

				6		Berkeley Ave: 1300 block										$   75,000				$   75,000.00

						(curb/gutter and overlay)

				Pedestrian, Non-Motorized / Active Transportation Program

				7		Alameda Ave: 44th to Emerson St		$   255,000												$   255,000.00

						(curb/gutter, sidewalk - west side)

				8		44th St: 67th Ave to 60th Ave		$   1,129,000												$   1,129,000.00

						(curb/gutter, sidewalk - north side)

				9		Alameda Ave: Emerson St to Rosewood Ln												$   500,000		$   500,000.00

						(curb/gutter, sidewalk - east side)

				10		Emerson St: Woodside Dr to 67th St		$   53,000		$   400,000										$   453,000.00

						(sidewalks, retaining walls)



						Total Capital Appropriations		$   1,619,000		$   1,260,000		$   350,000		$   280,000		$   250,000		$   600,000		$   3,759,000.00





																				June 2, 2022| Page 5 of 6



&"-,Bold"City of Fircrest | 2023-2028 Six-Year Comprehensive Transportation Improvement Program






